

AGREEMENT BETWEEN

THE OXNARD FEDERATION OF TEACHERS AND SCHOOL EMPLOYEES

AND

THE OXNARD UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT

July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1. AGREEMENT AND RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 3. FEDERATION RIGHTS	6
ARTICLE 4. DISTRICT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 5. NON-DISCRIMINATION	9
ARTICLE 6. PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE 7. GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES	13
ARTICLE 8. CLASS SIZE	
ARTICLE 9. EVALUATION PROCEDURES	
ARTICLE 10. PUBLIC CHARGES	
ARTICLE 11. LEAVES	
ARTICLE 12. TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT	
ARTICLE 13. PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW PROGRAM	
ARTICLE 14. SUMMER SCHOOL SELECTION PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 15. EMPLOYEE SAFETY	
ARTICLE 16. SALARIES	
ARTICLE 17. FRINGE BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 18. WORKDAY AND WORK YEAR	
ARTICLE 19. WORKING CONDITIONS	
ARTICLE 20. PROFESSIONAL DUES OR FEES AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	
ARTICLE 21. GAINFUL EMPLOYMENT AND EXTRA DUTY ASSIGNMENTS	
ARTICLE 22. ACADEMIC FREEDOM	
ARTICLE 23. EFFECTS OF LAYOFF	
ARTICLE 24. CONCERTED ACTIVITIES	
ARTICLE 25. EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 26. SAVINGS	
ARTICLE 27. THIS ARTICLE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK	
ARTICLE 28. DEPARTMENT CHAIRPERSON AND SELECTION PROCESS	
ARTICLE 29. SUPPORT OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 30. CONSULTATION	
ARTICLE 31. COMPLETION OF MEET AND NEGOTIATIONS	
ARTICLE 32. TERM AND RENEGOTIATIONS	
ARTICLE 33. ADULT AND CONTINUING EDUCATION	
SIGNATURES	
APPENDIX A. CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX B. PSYCHOLOGIST SALARY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX C. COUNSELOR SALARY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX D. EXTRA DUTY PAY ASSIGNMENTS	
APPENDIX E. EXTRA HELP & HOURLY RATES	
APPENDIX F. JUNIOR RESERVE OFFICERS' TRAINING CORPS SALARY SCHEDULE.	
APPENDIX G. ADULT EDUCATION TEACHER SALARY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX H. UNIT SHARE FTE	
APPENDIX I. UNIT SHARE LIFE CYCLE	
AFFFINITY TO LA LICHE PER AICH TO VIOLE	כוו

ARTICLE 1. AGREEMENT AND RECOGNITION

- 1.1 This is an Agreement made and entered into this eighteenth day of January 2023, between the Oxnard Union High School District Board of Trustees, hereinafter referred to as "District", and the Oxnard Federation of Teachers and School Employees, Local 1273, hereinafter referred to as "Federation."
- 1.2 The District confirms its recognition of the Federation as the exclusive representative for that unit of employees defined as all full-time or part-time Teachers, Nurses, Psychologists, Counselors, Speech & Language Pathologists, Student Wellness Specialists, Teacher Librarians, Behavior Intervention Specialists, Program Specialists, Instructional Specialists, Teachers on Special Assignment (TOSA's), and Adult Education Teachers.

ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS

- 2.1 "Teacher", "employee", "bargaining unit member", "unit member", shall mean an employee who is included in the appropriate unit as defined in Article 1 and therefore covered by the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
- 2.2 "Day" shall mean a day on which the District Office is open for business.
- 2.3 "Immediate administrator", "immediate supervisor", "principal" shall mean the administrative or supervisory employee who is the immediate supervisor of the employee, or the supervisor's designee.
- 2.4 "Workday" shall mean a day on which employees are required to render service to the District.
- 2.5 Pay
 - 2.5.1 "Daily Rate of Pay" means the unit member's annual salary taken from the salary schedule (with any retroactive increases added) divided by the number of days the unit member is required by the Board to provide service.
 - 2.5.2 "Per Diem Pay" means the annual salary taken from the salary schedule with the COLA added for that particular year (based on 184 days) divided by 184.
 - 2.5.3 "Partial Day Rate of Pay" means the daily rate of pay divided by the number of daily instructional periods to which a unit member is assigned.
- 2.6 "Student Contact Rate" shall be the rate of pay for certificated members when working with students. "Non-student Contact Rate" shall be the rate of pay for certificated members for an activity that does not include any contact with students.
- 2.7 "Board" shall mean the Board of Trustees or its designated representative(s).
- 2.8 "District" shall mean the Oxnard Union High School District.
- 2.9 "Superintendent" shall mean the chief administrative officer of the District, or designee.
- 2.10 "Federation" shall mean the Oxnard Federation of Teachers and School Employees.
- 2.11 "Consultation" shall be defined as an alternative to meeting and negotiating to include meetings between the District and the Federation on items of mutual or individual interest.
- 2.12 Restructuring" shall be defined as any modification in the delivery of services to students, which requires a revision in a contractual term to implement.
- 2.13 "Assault" is defined to include a reasonable fear of harm on the part of the unit member.
- 2.14 "Immediate Family" for the purpose of Bereavement Leave includes mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild of the employee or spouse of the employee, spouse or the registered domestic partner of the employee, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, brother-in-law, or sister, sister-in-law of the employee, or any relative living in the immediate household of the employee. Any state or federal law applicable to the Oxnard Union High School District which expands this definition will supersede this definition.

- 2.15 "Year Round" refers to a program having a greater number of workdays than those normally allocated in the regular school calendar. This definition refers specifically to the Adult Education nursing and jail service programs.
- 2.16 "Site Confidential File" refers to the file kept at the school site.
- 2.17 "Personnel File" is the employee's permanent file kept at the District Office.
- 2.18 "P2 Figure" is the ADA number determined as a percentage of enrollment in March according to the Education Code.
- 2.19 "CBEDS" is the actual enrollment count on the first Wednesday in October.
- 2.20 "Traveling Teacher" is a unit member assigned to more than one (1) work site.
- 2.21 "Consultation Meetings" shall be meetings held between Human Resources and the Federation for the purpose of maintaining open communication between the District and OFTSE. Meetings shall be held in order to cooperatively discuss and address problems of mutual concern to the parties. Meetings are considered advisory in nature and shall not be considered a substitute for the grievance procedure or contract negotiations.

ARTICLE 3. FEDERATION RIGHTS

- 3.1 Facilities. The Federation and its members shall have the right to use school facilities and equipment at reasonable times when not otherwise in use for the purpose of meetings concerned with the exercise of rights incorporated in the Agreement and other concerns, provided that when equipment is used the Federation will reimburse the District for its reasonable cost.
- 3.2 Communications and Notices of Activities. The Federation shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of concern on a designated bulletin board at each of the schools; a copy of all materials to be filed with the principal within a reasonable period of posting. The Federation may use staff mailboxes for general communications with members of the bargaining unit; a copy of all materials to be filed with the principal within a reasonable period of distribution. A Federation representative shall be allowed to make brief announcements at unit member staff meetings.
 - 3.2.1 The District will provide the Federation with the name, job title, department, work location, work and personal email addresses on file with the District and home addresses of newly hired employees within 30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire. The District will provide the Federation with this information for all employees in the bargaining unit at least every 120 days or upon written request by the Federation. Information provided by the District pursuant to this provision shall be sent to the Federation electronically.

The District shall provide to the Federation an electronic copy of a regularly published list of names, job titles and work locations of all those individuals who leave the Federation-represented bargaining unit (including the date they left and the reason they are leaving). This information shall be provided to the Federation within 30 days of the employee's separation.

- 3.3 Federation Business. The authorized representative of the Federation shall be permitted to transact official Federation business on school property at reasonable times not interfering with the educational process or District duties of the employee. The representative shall notify the school principal of the representative's campus presence.
- 3.4 Public Information. The Board agrees to furnish, upon written request of the Federation, all public information required by the Federation that is reasonably necessary for the Federation to fulfill its role as the exclusive bargaining representative.
- 3.5 Membership List. The District will provide to the Federation no later than the third week of each semester a membership list of all employees in the unit. The list will include names, home addresses, work location, classification, non-work email addresses (if provided to the District), phone numbers (if any), and whether the employee has elected to be a member of the Federation.
- 3.6 Board Meeting Notices. The District shall electronically provide the Federation with the Board agenda, less the confidential items and those materials that relate to negotiations; said agenda shall be made available to the Federation at least five (5) calendar days in advance of regular Board meetings and at least forty eight (48) hours in advance of special Board Meetings. The determination of confidential items and materials that relate to negotiations will be left to the judgment and discretion of the District.
- 3.7 Within 45 days of ratification of this Agreement by the Board of Trustees, the District shall

provide each unit member with an electronic copy of said Agreement, plus 200 printed copies to the Federation for its use. If the District cannot meet this time frame the Federation will have the agreement printed and the District will pay the reasonable cost of printing. The District and the Federation shall finalize language and renumbering issues within 15 days of Board ratification and post the ratified Agreement on the District's website. All side letters of agreement shall be posted within 30 days of enactment on the District's website and staff will be notified of the posting via a global email. All side letters of agreement that are intended to be effective during any term of the Agreement shall be incorporated into this Agreement. Within 45 days of ratification of this Agreement by the Board of Trustees, the District shall upload the new Agreement to the District's website where it may be accessed by any unit member and the Federation.

- 3.8 The Federation shall have the right to consult with the District pursuant to the consultation provisions of Government Code section 3543.2; said consultation rights shall not be subject to Article 7, Grievance and Arbitration Procedure, of this agreement.
- 3.9 The Federation President shall be permitted full-time release. Cost will be borne by Unit Share. If the Federation Executive Director is a unit member, they will be granted a personal leave of absence during any academic year in which they are Executive Director.
- 3.10 The Human Resource office shall provide Federation with the names and addresses of all teachers, including adult education teachers, when requested by the Federation up to once per quarter.
- 3.11 Federation reserves the right to hold a faculty/staff meeting for unit members following monthly faculty meetings or whenever convenient to staff for the purpose of conducting Federation business outside of the regular instructional day.
- 3.12 The establishment of a Site Concerns Committee is encouraged at each campus. If the Committee is established, it may include management, certificated, classified and paraprofessional representatives and establish its own meeting schedules to deal with specific site problems. A report is encouraged at each monthly faculty/staff meeting of those issues addressed by the committee.
- 3.13 Orientation. The District shall inform all new hires and all employees promoted or who otherwise enter in the Federation-represented bargaining unit, at the time of hire or promotion entering into the bargaining unit, of the existence of this Agreement. Federation representatives will receive at least ten (10) calendar days advance notice of any new employee orientations, or as soon as practicable, and will be afforded mandatory access up to 60 minutes to meet with any employee entering the bargaining unit for Federation orientation. Only employees and Federation representatives may attend the portion of the meeting presentation reserved for Federation representatives. Such time may be scheduled in a meeting room or other space provided by the District. Should the District not schedule an employee orientation within thirty (30) calendar days of the date any employee is newly hired, promoted or assigned to the Federation bargaining unit, the Federation, upon request, will be provided an opportunity for a Federation orientation within thirty (30) calendar days. The District shall make available a space for the Federation to meet with the employees specific to this Article.

ARTICLE 4. DISTRICT RIGHTS

- It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control to the fullest extent of the law. Included in but not limited to those duties and powers are the exclusive right to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the times and hours of its operation; determine kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; ensure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of raising revenue; contract out work; and take action on any matter in the event of an emergency. In addition, the Board retains the right to hire, classify, assign, reassign, transfer, evaluate, promote, terminate, and discipline employees.
- 4.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, or any other written agreement reached between the Federation and the Board, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law.
- 4.3 The District retains its right to temporarily amend, modify or rescind policies and practices referred to in this Agreement in cases of emergency. Emergency shall be defined as an actual or threatened natural disaster, national emergency, act of God, epidemic, or concerted activity, as contemplated in Article 24.

ARTICLE 5. NON-DISCRIMINATION

The District and Federation agree to follow policy not to unlawfully discriminate against any unit employee on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, gender, age, politics, disability, sexual orientation, military status, veteran status, membership or participation in an employee organization. Alleged violations of this Article may be processed under the provisions of the Grievance and Arbitration Procedure.

ARTICLE 6. PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE

- 6.1 The District has the right and responsibility to take disciplinary action where there are instances of unprofessional conduct, or refusal to obey the school laws of the State or reasonable regulations prescribed for the government of public schools by the State Board of Education, the Credentialing Commission, or by the Governing Board of the Oxnard Union High School District, or by reasonable school-level administrative rules, or by the requirements of the negotiated agreement. However, the Federation and the District believe that the appropriate mechanism for the discipline of professionals is one that includes other professionals in the decisions. Toward that end, the Federation and the District want a procedure which matches the conduct and the discipline, and involves unit members in the disciplinary process as outlined below. The Federation recognizes its duty of fair representation to unit members which may include at the complete discretion of the Federation advice and counsel concerning the potential disciplinary action. Federation and the District agree not to influence the panel members outside of any hearing and to work cooperatively in the training of individual unit members appointed to the disciplinary panels.
- In exercising this responsibility, the District agrees to progressively discipline, except where the severity of the offense requires otherwise. In all instances, the discipline applied must relate to the severity of the offense, be for just cause, and include the following due process procedure.
- 6.3 Progressive discipline shall include the following:
 - 6.3.1 Level I. A verbal warning from site and/or District Administrators at a meeting where a Federation representative may attend should the unit member so request. The site or District administrator may have a witness to document the warning. A verbal warning shall have the intent of helping an employee improve performance and no record of the warning shall be placed in the personnel file or remain in a site file past one year.
 - 6.3.2 Level 2. Written warnings shall not be placed in the unit member's official personnel file or be subject to the hearing process contained below. Written warnings shall be signed and dated by the unit member receiving them, and preserved in a confidential file for no longer than one (1) calendar year from the date of the incident. If the employee does not engage in the same conduct within that one year period, the written warning shall be expunged from all District and site files. It the employee reengages in the same offense within the one year period, the District may attach the written warning to any subsequent discipline of the unit member for inclusion in the unit member's personnel file to be used for support of disciplinary actions. A unit member may attach a rebuttal to the written warning and have both the warning and the rebuttal placed in the personnel file should the unit member elect. It is not intended that this provision prevent the placement of material related to the Evaluation process in the personnel file.
 - 6.3.3 Level 3. A written reprimand may be issued for a severe or repeated infraction or violation. In that event, the unit member may respond in writing and have that writing attached to the reprimand and placed in the personnel file.
 - 6.3.4 Level 4. A unit member may be suspended without pay, for up to fifteen (15) days, or have other corrective disciplinary action(s) consistent and appropriate for the type and severity of the offense. The unit member is entitled to a hearing upon written request.

- 6.3.4.1 If a unit member requests a hearing, a panel of three (3) Oxnard Union High School District certificated unit members shall be appointed to review the evidence and determine whether discipline is appropriate. It shall be within the authority of the panel after having reviewed the evidence to recommend private or public reproval, to determine whether suspension is appropriate, or to shorten the length of the recommended suspension.
- 6.3.4.2 The panel shall be composed of one (1) certificated unit member appointed by the District, one (1) certificated unit member appointed by the Federation, and one (1) unit member selected from a list of six (6) names, three (3) submitted simultaneously by the District and three (3) by the Federation. If a name appears on both lists, a coin will be flipped to see which party gets to add a name so that the list is comprised of 6 names. The order of striking shall be determined by coin toss with the winning side choosing whether to strike first or defer.
- 6.3.4.3 All of the unit members shall be taken from a list of trained disciplinary panel members appointed bi-annually by Federation and the District. The training for panel members shall include but not be limited to rules of conduct for panel members, topics of importance such as ex parte contact, burden of proof, questioning strategy, credibility determinations, rules of evidence, and other concepts of elemental fairness. If this disciplinary procedure is required prior to the training, the selected employees shall be trained prior to the hearing.
- 6.3.4.4 Unit members shall be entitled to a hearing at which no attorneys would be present. The District and the Federation intend to balance the possible deprivation of unit member interests with the hearing process. Hearings are not intended to be courtroom dramas. The formal rules of evidence don't apply, and only key witnesses will be allowed to testify in front of the panel. All others will have their testimony conveyed to the panel by oath or affirmation given under penalty of perjury. In the event of a dispute over whether a witness may testify, the panel's determination shall be final. The total time for the hearing is restricted to four (4) hours (unless the panel specifically determines additional time is necessary for findings and recommendations for discipline).

6.3.4.5 Order of Case

- District presentation of witnesses and evidence (including questions of witnesses by each side).
- Panel questions.
- Questions by accused or representative (Limited to ten (10) minutes without panel approval for extension.)
- Accused presentation of witnesses and evidence (including questions of witness by each side).
- Panel questions.
- Questions by District (Limited to ten (10) minutes without panel approval for extension.)
- District final statement.
- Accused final statement.
- Panel questions on any topic (optional).
- 6.3.4.6 The panel shall provide a written recommendation for discipline which contains findings of fact on key issues.

- 6.3.4.7 The District has the burden of proof.
- 6.3.4.8 If the panel determines that the discipline is not warranted, no record of the incident leading to the proposed discipline shall be contained in the unit member's personnel file. If the panel determines discipline is justified, a record of the findings shall be forwarded to the school principal for incorporation, if appropriate, in the evaluation process. It is intended that the decision of the panel is final and binding.
- 6.3.4.9 Prior to the presentation of the case, at the request of either the District, the Federation, or the accused unit member, a mandatory settlement conference shall be held to explore a possible compromise. Settlements shall be in writing.
- 6.3.5 Except as disciplinary actions may be introduced in support of actions taken under Education Code Article 44932, this article shall not be construed as modifying those provisions or dismissal for cause. The parties intend that even the maximum penalty which can be imposed through this process is not intended to constitute a substantial deprivation of a unit member's property interest in their employment.

ARTICLE 7. GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

7.1 General Provisions.

- 7.1.1 A grievance is defined as an allegation by a unit member or the Federation that the District has violated, misapplied or misinterpreted a specific term of this Agreement. All other matters and disputes of any nature are beyond the scope of these procedures. Also excluded from these procedures are those matters so indicated elsewhere in this Agreement.
- 7.1.2 The respondent in all cases shall be the District itself rather than any individual. The filing or pendency of a grievance shall not delay or interfere with implementation of any District action during the processing thereof.
- 7.1.3 If the District makes an error which results in a cost to the Unit Share, and the Unit Share would not have incurred the cost had the error not been made, then the District will be financially responsible. Revenue projections, enrollment projections, or other Formula-related decisions do not constitute errors by the District subject to this provision.

7.2 Informal Level.

- 7.2.1 Individual Grievances. Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall make a reasonable attempt to resolve it by means of an informal conference with grievant's immediate administrator. Either the grievant or immediate administrator may have a witness present at said informal conference providing 24 hours advance notice is given to the other party.
- 7.2.2 Grievances filed by the Federation. Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall make a reasonable attempt to resolve it by means of an informal conference with the Assistant Superintendent of HR or other appropriate personnel.

7.3 Formal Level.

7.3.1 Level I.

- 7.3.1.1 If an employee or the Federation wishes to initiate a formal grievance, the employee or Federation must do so within ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the act or omission giving rise to the grievance by presenting such grievance in writing to the immediate administrator. If neither the grievant nor the Federation had actual or constructive knowledge of the occurrence of the grievable act or omission, then the ten (10) business day time limit shall begin to run on the date upon which either the grievant or Federation knew or could have known of the occurrence.
- 7.3.1.2 The written statement shall be a clear and concise statement of the grievance, including the specific provisions of the Agreement alleged to have been violated, misapplied or misinterpreted; the circumstances involved; and the specific remedy sought. The written statement described herein shall be submitted on a jointly-developed Grievance Form provided by the District. The grieving party shall not add new alleged violations at later levels of the grievance procedure. If the written statement is from a unit member and not from the Federation, a copy shall be provided to the Federation.

7.3.1.3 Either party may request a personal conference with the other party. The administration shall communicate a decision to the employee in writing within ten (10) business days after receiving the grievance and such action will terminate Level I. If the grievance is from a unit member and not from the Federation, a copy shall be provided to the Federation.

7.3.2 Level II.

- 7.3.2.1 In the event the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level I, the grievant may appeal the decision in writing to the Superintendent, or designee, within ten (10) business days after the termination of Level I. A copy shall be provided to the Federation.
- 7.3.2.2 This written appeal described herein shall be submitted on a Level II Grievance Form provided by the District, and shall include a copy of the original grievance, the decision rendered at Level I, and a clear, concise statement of the reasons for the appeal. Either the grievant or the Superintendent, or designee, may request a personal conference. A copy shall be provided to the Federation.
- 7.3.2.3 The Superintendent, or designee, shall communicate a written decision within ten (10) business days after receiving the appeal and such a decision will terminate Level II. A copy shall be provided to the Federation.

7.4 Level III Mediation.

- 7.4.1 If the Federation or District elects, the grievance may be referred to a mediator from the State Mediation and Conciliation Service (SMCS). Both the Federation and the District agree to participate in the process in good faith in an attempt to reach an equitable resolution. Any election of mediation must be made in writing by the requesting party within ten (10) business days of the date of the Level II written decision.
- 7.4.2 Either the District or the Federation may contact SMCS for the assignment of the mediator. A meeting will be scheduled as soon as calendars can be arranged.
- 7.4.3 If the Federation and the District agree, they may use an alternative to the SMCS.
- 7.4.4 The costs of mediation are to be borne equally.
- 7.4.5 If neither party elects mediation within the time limit, the grievance shall move to Level IV.

7.5 Level IV Arbitration.

7.5.1 A grievance which is not settled at Level III, or at Level II if the parties do not elect to mediate, and which the Federation desires to contest further, shall be submitted to arbitration as provided herein, but only if the Federation gives written notice to the District of its desire to arbitrate the Grievance within ten (10) workdays after the termination of Level III or at Level II if the parties do not elect to mediate. It is expressly understood that the only matters, which are

subject to arbitration, are grievances as defined above which were processed and handled in accordance with the limitations and procedures of this Article. Processing and discussing the merits of an alleged grievance by the District prior to Level II shall not constitute a waiver by the District of a defense that the dispute is not grievable. However, District failure to raise such an arbitrability or grievability issue at Level I shall constitute a waiver of non-arbitrability or non-grievability at subsequent levels of this procedure.

- 7.5.1.1 Upon the mutual and written agreement of the District and the Federation, the parties may elect to utilize the expedited arbitration procedures of the American Arbitration Association.
- 7.5.2 Selection of Arbitrator. The District and the Federation agree to request from the State Mediation and Conciliation Service an odd numbered panel of arbitrators qualified to render a decision in the public schools of California. The order of striking shall be determined by coin toss with the winning side choosing whether to strike first or defer. The last name remaining shall serve in accordance with the procedures of SMCS. If either the District or the Federation wants to reject the entire list before striking, a request for another panel will be forwarded to SMCS. If for some reason that arbitrator cannot serve, a new list shall be requested from SMCS and the above process begun again.
- 7.5.3 Motion to Dismiss. The District may claim that a grievance should be dismissed because, for example, it falls outside the scope of the procedure, or was filed in violation of the time limits provided for herein, or that the dispute has become moot, or that a party has breached the confidentiality provisions.
- 7.5.4 Limitations Upon Arbitrator. The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, amend, change, add too, or subtract from any of the terms of this Agreement, but shall determine only whether or not there has been a violation, misapplication, misinterpretation of this Agreement in the respect alleged in the Grievance. In determining whether the District has violated an express term of this Agreement, the standard of review for an arbitrator is to be whether there has been a violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be based solely upon the evidence and arguments presented to them by the respective parties in the presence of each other, and upon arguments presented in briefs or orally at the close of the arbitration.
 - This Agreement constitutes a contract between the parties which 7.5.4.1 shall be interpreted and applied by the parties and by the arbitrator in the same manner as any other contract under the laws of the State of California. The function and purpose of the arbitrator is to determine disputed interpretation of terms actually found in the Agreement, or to determine disputed facts upon which the application of the Agreement depends. The arbitrator shall therefore not have authority, nor shall they consider it their function, to decide any issue not submitted or to so interpret or apply the Agreement as to change that which can fairly be said to have been the intent of the parties as determined by generally accepted rules of contract construction. Past practice of the parties in interpreting or applying terms of this Agreement may be considered relevant evidence. The arbitrator shall not render any decision or award, or fail to render any decision or award, merely because in their opinion such decision or awards is fair or equitable.

7.5.4.2 The arbitrator may hear and determine only one (1) grievance at a time unless the parties expressly agree otherwise. Both parties will in good faith endeavor to handle in an expeditious and convenient manner cases which involve the same or similar facts and issues.

7.6 Arbitrator's Decision

- 7.6.1 The decision of the arbitrator within the limits herein prescribed shall be final and binding on all parties.
- 7.7 Expenses. All fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Federation and District. Each party shall bear the expenses of the presentation of its own case.
- 7.8 Failure to Meet Time Limits. Time limits hereunder may be lengthened or shortened in any particular case only by mutual written agreement. The parties will attempt in good faith to adjust time limit problems which occur above Level I as a result of the summer recess. Should the District fail to meet its time limits, the grievance shall be granted, and should the Federation fail to meet its time limits, the grievance is terminated and the Federation forfeits its right to move the grievance to the next level.
- 7.9 Federation Representation. In situations where the Federation has been requested in writing not to represent the grievant, the District shall not agree to a final resolution of the grievance until the Federation has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and has been given the opportunity to state its view on the matter. If the Federation disagrees, the resolution shall not be binding on the Federation and it cannot be used as precedent or evidence of a past practice.
- 7.10 Reasonable Released Time. Grievance meetings normally will be scheduled by the District so as not to conflict with assigned duties. However, if the meeting is expected to be of such duration that it would extend beyond the normal business hours of the District's Central Office, the District shall provide released time with no loss of pay to one (1) authorized representative of the Federation so that the session can be accommodated within such business hours.
- 7.11 Confidentiality. In order to encourage a professional disposition of an individual unit member's complaints, it is agreed that from the time a grievance is filed until it is processed through arbitration, the Federation and the District shall endeavor to maintain confidentiality regarding the member's grievance, the evidence regarding the grievance and the existence of such a grievance to the extent that such confidentiality does not impede the ability of both parties to investigate and resolve the issues alleged.
- 7.12 No Reprisal. There shall be no reprisal against a unit member for filing a grievance or assisting a grievant in the above procedure.
- 7.13 Grievance Files. The District's records dealing with the filing and processing of a grievance shall be maintained separately from the grievant's personnel file and the name of the grievant struck from uses of the materials/records.

ARTICLE 8. CLASS SIZE

- 8.1 The District staffing allocation formula shall be one-to-thirty (1-30) and except upon the mutual agreement of an individual teacher and the teacher's immediate supervisor, shall be applied in such a manner that:
 - 8.1.1 In a semester schedule. Maximum single period class size and total per five (5) period teaching day, student contact maximums are as follows: (a) Classes, other than those noted, shall have a maximum single period class size of 38 students and a maximum total per five (5) period teaching day of 175 students; (b) Classes in Music and Student Government shall not exceed 55; and (c) Classes in Drama and Physical Education shall not exceed 54 without individual teacher waiver.
 - 8.1.1.1 Maximum student contact calculations shall not be made later than the first 15 school days of each semester.
 - 8.1.1.2 Each individual site will determine the appropriate method to conduct registration activities.
 - 8.1.1.3 At comprehensive sites, minimum single period class size shall be 20 students, with the exception of Special Education as described in 8.7, Special Day Class (SDC), Resource Specialist (RSP), and English Language Development (ELD), and with an exception of 0.2 FTE per site. Any other FTE serving courses below 20 students will be paid by the District outside of the Unit Share including actual salary and benefits.
 - 8.1.1.4 Class size waivers may be offered to individual teachers who are willing to exceed the applicable class size. Teachers may refuse. Waivers shall occur on a District waiver form mutually designed and approved by the District and the Federation. A waiver agreement shall be valid when a teacher has completed and signed the District approved waiver form.
 - 8.1.2 In a trimester schedule. Maximum single period class size and total per four (4) period teaching day, student contact maximums are as follows: (a) Classes other than those noted shall have a maximum single period class size of 38 students and a maximum total per (4) period teaching day of 152 students; (b) Classes in Music and Student Government shall not exceed 55; and (c) Classes in Drama and Physical Education shall not exceed 54 with individual teacher waiver.
 - 8.1.2.1 Maximum student contact calculations shall be made in the first 10 school days of each trimester.
 - 8.1.2.2 Each individual site will determine the appropriate method to conduct registration activities.
 - 8.1.2.3 At a comprehensive site, minimum single period class size shall be 20 students, with the exception of Special Education as described in 8.7, English Language Development (ELD), and with an exception of 0.2 FTE per site. Any other FTE serving courses below 20 students will be paid by the District outside of the Unit Share including actual

salary and benefits.

- 8.1.2.4 Class size waivers may be offered to individual teachers who are willing to exceed the applicable class size. Teachers may refuse. Waivers shall occur on a District waiver form mutually designed and approved by the District and the Federation. A waiver agreement shall be valid when a teacher has completed and signed the District approved waiver form.
- 8.1.3 In a quarter schedule, maximum single period class size and total per three (3) period teaching day, student contact maximums are as follows: (a) Classes other than those noted shall have a maximum single period class size of 38 students and a maximum total of 105 students; (b) Classes in Music and Student Government shall not exceed 55; and (c) classes in Drama and Physical Education shall not exceed 54 without individual teacher waiver.
 - 8.1.3.1 Maximum student contact calculations shall be made in the first 10 school days of each quarter.
 - 8.1.3.2 Each individual site will determine the appropriate method to conduct registration activities.
 - 8.1.3.3 At a comprehensive site, minimum single period class size shall be 20 students, with the exception of Special Education as described in 8.7, English Language Development (ELD), and with an exception of 0.2 FTE per site. Any other FTE serving courses below 20 students will be paid by the District outside of the Unit Share including actual salary and benefits.
 - 8.1.3.4 Class size waivers may be offered to individual teachers who are willing to exceed the applicable class size. Teachers may refuse. Waivers shall occur on a District waiver form mutually designed and approved by the District and the Federation. A waiver agreement shall be valid when a teacher has completed and signed the District approved waiver form.
- 8.1.4 Maximum student contact calculations shall not be made later than the first 15 school days of each term at any school site. Teachers teaching six (6) periods in a six-period day shall have a maximum total of 210 students enrolled. Teachers teaching five (5) periods in a five period Trimester schedule shall have a maximum total of 190 students enrolled. Teachers teaching four (4) periods a day in a quarter schedule shall have a maximum total of 140 students enrolled.
- 8.2 Class size caps in 8.1.1, 8.1.2, and 8.1.3 will exist as maximums unless waived.
- 8.3 The District shall make a good faith effort to balance/adjust classes within a school department. At the alternative sites balancing will be done to the degree possible as students are scheduled.
 - 8.3.1 The District will provide the Federation with 175 and current 1/5ths reports upon request.

- 8.4 The District shall make a good faith effort to balance classes within an individual teacher's assignment.
 - 8.4.1 The District shall make a good faith effort to balance counseling caseloads at each school and across the District.
- 8.5 By the fifteenth day of each term, the site Administrator will provide the Federation Site Representative a Master Schedule which includes class size and student/teacher ratios.
- 8.6 Work Experience teachers will have a maximum class size of 25 for work experience classes.
- 8.7 For special education, the staffing allocation will be student maximums of
 - (a) 28 caseload for Resource Specialist Teachers M/M
 - (b) 12-to-1 class size/caseload for teachers of M/M Autism
 - (c) 12-to-1 class size/caseload for teachers of emotionally disturbed/enhanced M/M ED
 - (d) 18-to-1 caseload for Special Day Class teachers M/S
 - (e) 8-to-1 class size/ 12 to 1 caseload for teachers of M/S Autism
 - (f) 12-to-1 class size/caseload for teachers of severely handicapped
 - (g) 12-to-1 class size for teachers of Adaptive Physical Education
 - (h) 200:1 SPED caseload for School Psychologists
 - (i) 55:1 caseload for Speech and Language Pathologists

Classes may be modified upon mutual agreement of the District and the Federation. Changes to the existing program ratios will be made as required by State and Federal law following consultation with the Federation.

- 8.7.1 General education classes with large numbers of students with disabilities will be supported through the co-teaching model.
- In a semester schedule, the Activity Director will be released two (2) periods and teach three (3) classes including Student Government, with no fewer than 85 students in the three (3) classes with no cap in the Student Government. In a trimester schedule, the Activity Director will be released for two (2) periods and teach two (2) classes, including Student Government, with no fewer than 60 students in the two (2) classes. In a Quarter schedule, the Activity Director will be released for two (2) periods and teach two (2) classes, including Student Government, with no fewer than 60 students in the two (2) classes.
- 8.9 In a semester schedule, the Athletic Director will be released for three (3) periods and teach two (2) periods. In a trimester schedule, the Athletic Director will be released for two (2) periods, and teach two (2) periods. In a quarter schedule, the Athletic Director will be released for two (2) periods, and teach one (1) period. The Activity Director and the Athletic Director may not be the same unit member.
- 8.10 At any site with more than 220 students with disabilities, as defined by section 1401(3)(A) of Title 20 of the U.S. Code, the Special Education Department Chair will have a single period release (2.0 FTE funded out of Unit Share, the remaining funded by sources outside of the Unit Share).
 - 8.10.1 The District will pay, at the non-student contact rate, from a source outside the Unit Share for SPED teachers to have up to 40 hours to prepare for and conduct IEP meetings with no more than 20 of those hours occurring after the first calendared work day of the school year.

ARTICLE 9. EVALUATION PROCEDURES

- 9.1 Evaluation. The Teacher Assessment and Support Program will serve as the evaluation procedure for the District's certificated teaching employees. The School Counselor Assessment and Support will serve as the evaluation tool for the District's counselor employees.
- 9.2 Any change to this program shall be made by mutual agreement of Federation and the District.
- 9.3 The District and Federation agree to a set of Standards for the Teaching Profession that establish satisfactory performance for certificated employees.
 - 9.3.1 Standards for regular classroom teachers shall be in six (6) domains, currently outlined in the OUHSD Standards for the Teaching Profession documents.
 - 9.3.2 Additional Standards for the Teaching Profession shall apply to Special Education Teachers in two (2) domains.
 - 9.3.3 Psychologists, Counselors, Nurses, and Library Media Teachers have established standards, to define satisfactory levels of performance in the same format as the Standards for the Teaching Profession.
- 9.4 All certificated staff (including administration) shall be responsible for maintaining the Professional Standards at all times.
 - 9.4.1 As administrators observe in classrooms or work settings, they have the responsibility to identify any concerns related to the Professional Standards.
- 9.5 Self-Assessment. Each year, all certificated employees shall conduct a Self-Assessment. The Self-Assessment shall be in each domain and sub domain of the Continuum of Teacher Abilities. Using this Continuum, each teacher shall establish goals and objectives focusing on their own performance for the year.
 - 9.5.1 Certificated employees shall not be obligated to share their Self-Assessment with anyone.
 - 9.5.2 Employees shall sign the Self-Assessment completion form each year, stating they have completed the self-assessment and their goals and objectives for the year.
 - 9.5.3 It is the responsibility of administrators to provide support to teachers with respect to their goals and objectives.
- 9.6 Once an employee has reached permanent status their next evaluations will be their fifth year of employment with the District. After the fifth year of employment with the District, the employee shall be on a three-year evaluation cycle. For all certificated unit members with permanent status, who are in their 11th year of employment with the District, and whose previous evaluation rated the employee as meeting or exceeding standards, the evaluation cycle shall be five years, if the evaluator and certificated employee being evaluated agree in writing. The certificated employee or the evaluator may withdraw consent at any time. These changes encourage focused evaluation of beginning teachers and are not intended to limit the principal's ability to observe classroom instruction and assure quality teaching and maintenance of the Professional Standards. The options for evaluation are the following: Administrative, Partner or Portfolio. Additionally, the District will discuss an alteration of the evaluation cycle for an employee who obtains/maintains a

certification from the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards during the effective term of this Agreement.

- 9.6.1 Probationary, temporary, emergency, or categorical (non-permanent) employees will be evaluated annually on the Administrative Option for their first two (2) years. Administrators shall be responsible, by March of the second year, for certifying that the employee has met the Professional Standards in each domain applicable to them. Employees unable to meet each of the Professional Standards shall not be granted tenure. When a certificated employee is notified that they will not be rehired, the District will simultaneously notify the Federation.
 - 9.6.1.1 The evaluation process shall be completed in sufficient time so that each teacher shall receive their evaluation no later than March 15.
 - 9.6.1.2 The evaluator shall make formal observations of not less than 30 minutes.
- 9.7 Assistance. Any permanent teacher identified as performing below the Professional Standards shall be placed on pre-assistance or assistance. The primary purpose of this program is to improve the quality of classroom instruction and promote higher student achievement. Article 13: Peer Assistance and Review (PAR) program will be utilized to implement the assistance phase of this process.
 - 9.7.1 Placement on Pre-Assistance shall occur prior to placement on Assistance.
 - 9.7.1.1 Phase I. Pre-Assistance. Before a permanent certificated employee may be placed on Pre-Assistance, two (2) consecutive observations by the principal or designee of at least 30 minutes in duration shall occur. To be placed on Pre-Assistance, the principal or designee must find both observations "unsatisfactory." Placement on pre-assistance will coincide with placement in TASP (the administrative mandate referenced in this Evaluation Article), CASP or other agreed upon evaluative procedure.
 - 9.7.1.1.1 After the first "unsatisfactory" observation, a written notice will be given to the certificated employee which will include the following information:
 - A statement of the problem, including the Professional Standard the problem encompasses.
 - A statement of the desired behavior.
 - Date(s) the problem occurred.
 - Date by which the problem is to be resolved. Unless egregious, or a violation of Education Code, State and/or Federal law, or Board Policy, the teacher will have a minimum of 10 school days to resolve any instructional deficiency prior to the second observation.
 - 9.7.1.1.2 Phase II—When a certificated employee is placed in Pre-Assistance, two (2) formal observations, including a pre and post-conference between the certificated employee and the principal or designee will take place. Pre-Assistance shall be at least ten (10) weeks in length. During this time, the Evaluating Employee will be asked to provide input and assistance. After the Pre-Assistance period, the certificated employee will either be placed on Assistance (PAR) if the "unsatisfactory" area has

not been corrected as shown by an "unsatisfactory" evaluation; or returned to the former evaluation option. If the problem is resolved, then no written record of the Pre-Assistance shall be placed in the employee's permanent Personnel File (although one may be preserved and filed if the certificated employee is placed on a Pre-Assistance Plan for the second time for the same or substantially similar problem area).

- 9.7.1.2 Phase III. Assistance. The duration of Assistance shall be a minimum of 20 weeks. Certificated employees on assistance are not eligible for transfer. Assistance includes intensified observations and conferences between evaluatee and the Evaluating Employee, along with specific guidance and support, and a written Assistance Plan. The Assistance Plan shall include the following and shall become a part of the employee's permanent Personnel File.
 - A statement of the problem and existing conditions.
 - Specific objectives for the evaluatee.
 - Specific methods and resources which the evaluatee will use to remedy the problem.
 - Specific guidance that will be offered to the evaluatee.
 - 9.7.1.2.1 Formal assistance is generally assigned for the entire school year. If, however, a teacher has corrected noted problems, they could be taken off Assistance.
 - 9.7.1.2.2 If a unit member does not agree with placement on an Assistance Plan, the unit member may request that PAR Panel (Article 13.1.5) review documentation and make a recommendation for the Superintendent's consideration.
- 9.7.1.3 An employee who transfers shall take their evaluation option and cycle with them.

9.8 Personnel Files

- 9.8.1 Personnel File Contents and Inspection
 - 9.8.1.1 Materials in personnel files of employees that may serve as a basis for affecting the status of their employment are to be made available for the inspection of the person involved.
 - 9.8.1.2 Such material is not to include ratings, reports or records which (1) were obtained prior to the employment of the person involved, (2) were prepared by identifiable examination committee members, or (3) were obtained in connection with a promotional examination.
 - 9.8.1.3 Every employee shall have the right to inspect these materials upon request, provided that the request is made at a time when the person is not actually required to render services to the employing district.
 - 9.8.1.4 Information of a derogatory nature, except material mentioned in 9.8.1.2 shall not be entered or filed unless and until the employee is given notice and an opportunity to review and comment thereon. An employee shall have the right to enter, and have attached to any derogatory

statement, their own comments thereon. The review shall take place during normal business hours, and the employee shall be released from duty for this purpose without salary reduction.

9.8.1.5 Upon written authorization by an employee, a representative of the Federation shall be permitted to examine materials in said employee's personnel file. This provision does not waive or limit the Federation's rights under the law to access and/or to copies of personnel files.

9.9 Evaluation Documentation Files

- 9.9.1 An immediate administrator may maintain an Evaluation Documentation File for an employee assigned to the administrator's supervision.
- 9.9.2 That Evaluation Documentation File shall include any official observations of an employee, and any other pertinent information that may be considered for inclusion in the subsequent evaluation of the employee. If said observation and other pertinent information are not included in the subsequent evaluation of the employee, it shall be removed from the Evaluation Documentation File not later than the end of the school year in which the evaluation takes place, unless the process set out above in 9.7.1.1.2 has been utilized.
- 9.9.3 Information of a derogatory nature that is placed in the Evaluation Documentation File shall be done pursuant to the provisions of section 9.8.1.4 above.
- 9.9.4 An employee shall have access to the information contained in the employee's Evaluation Documentation File pursuant to the provisions of Sections 9.8.1.3, 9.8.1.4 and 9.8.1.5.
- 9.9.5 Upon written authorization by an employee, a representative of the Federation shall be permitted to examine materials in said employee's Evaluation Documentation File. This provision does not waive or limit the Federation's rights under the law to access and/or to copies of documentation files.

9.10 PROCEDURE FOR INSPECTING PERSONNEL/EVALUATION DOCUMENTATION FILES:

1. The Personnel/Evaluation Documentation Files in the District office are in the custody of the Superintendent or designee. The contents of all Personnel and Evaluation Documentation Files shall be kept in the strictest confidence by the District.

Access to personnel files shall be limited to the members of the District's management and Human Resources at the time they need to know them for District business and nothing more.

- 2. Unit members or unit members' representative may review their files by the following procedure:
 - a) Call the Human Resources Office at least 24 hours prior to the time for viewing the files. This will allow time to make the files available.

- b) The files may not be removed from the office by the unit member or the representative as they are the property of the school district.
- c) Upon submission of the Personnel File Request Form by the unit member or the unit member's representative, material in the file will be copied by the District. Within four (4) business days of the request, the material will be available electronically or for pickup at the office.

ARTICLE 10. PUBLIC CHARGES

- 10.1 Before material from public complaints which the District has determined should lead to discipline is entered into a unit member's file, the unit member shall be afforded the opportunity for a hearing before the Superintendent, or their designee.
- Provided that the allegations of unit members misconduct do not raise issues of possible criminal conduct, the unit member shall have a written explanation of the public complaint within ten (10) days of receipt by the District.
- 10.3 If the unit member requests a joint meeting, one shall be arranged between the complainant and/or their representative and the unit member and/or their representative. The District and the Federation may be present at this meeting.
 - 10.3.1 The administrator responsible for the unit member will examine the available evidence, interview the unit member, and determine whether discipline is warranted.
 - 10.3.2 If the administrator determines that discipline is warranted, a hearing will be scheduled at which the unit member is entitled to representation and to present evidence on their behalf. The unit member shall be presented written charges and the name of the complainant(s) is in sufficient time such that the unit member has an opportunity to prepare a response. The burden of proof is on the District to prove misconduct.
- 10.4 If the Superintendent determines that discipline is not warranted, no record of any complaint on the matter will be contained in the unit member's personnel file.
- Nothing in this article is intended to interfere with the District's responsibility to comply with the Child Abuse Reporting laws.
- 10.6 Except as otherwise required by law, complaints concerning unit members made publicly at the Board Meetings will be referred to this process procedure.

ARTICLE 11. LEAVES

11.1 Bereavement Leave

- Purpose. The purpose of Bereavement Leave utilization shall be for the death of a member of the employee's immediate family, domestic partner, or the death of a relative living in the immediate household of the employee. Immediate family shall mean: mother, father, grandmother, grandfather or grandchild of the employee or spouse of the employee, and the spouse, domestic partner, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, brother-in-law, sister, sister-in-law, mother-in-law or father-in-law of the employee, or any relative living in the immediate household of the employee. Any State or Federal law applicable to the Oxnard Union High School District, which expands this definition, will supersede this definition.
- 11.1.2 Procedure. Employees exercising this leave of absence provision shall notify their immediate administrators as soon as possible as to expected duration of the absence.
- 11.1.3 Provision. An employee shall be granted one (1) day of fully paid leave to attend the funeral of a relative, other than a member of the employee's immediate family or household. An employee shall be granted up to five (5) consecutive or non-consecutive days of fully paid leave for a death in the employee's immediate family. It is understood that an employee may use personal necessity leave for the death of other than immediate family members as listed in 11.1.1 without prior approval. In addition, the District shall grant the following bereavement leave benefits for a death in the employee's immediate family: for the sixth through the tenth consecutive day, fully paid leave shall be granted, minus either the cost of the substitute teacher's salary, or minus the absent teacher's daily rate of pay, whichever is less; for the eleventh consecutive day or more, the teacher will receive no compensation.
- 11.1.4 Compensation. Compensation for bereavement leave shall be made pursuant to section 11.1.3 above. Days one through five of Bereavement Leave are not deducted from employee's sick leave.

11.1.5 Return to Service

- 11.1.5.1 Upon return to active service, the employee shall promptly complete the appropriate absence form and submit it to the employee's immediate administrator.
- 11.1.5.2 Employees shall provide, upon District request, additional verification of the use of this leave provision.

11.2 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave

- Purpose. An employee who suffers an industrial accident, illness or injury incurred within the course and scope of employment, shall be entitled to a leave of absence with pay, as specified in this Article.
- 11.2.2 Procedure. An employee who has sustained a job-related injury shall, when physically able, report the injury within one (1) workday to the employee's immediate or an appropriate administrator. An employee shall, when physically able, report any illness to the employee's immediate or an appropriate administrator within one (1) workday of knowledge that the illness is an alleged

industrial accident.

11.2.3 Requirements

- 11.2.3.1 Allowable leave shall be for not more than 60 days during which the schools of the District are required to be in session or when the employee would otherwise have been performing work for the District in any one fiscal year for the same illness or accident.
- 11.2.3.2 Allowable leave shall not be accumulated from year-to-year.
- 11.2.3.3 Industrial Accident or Illness Leave shall commence on the first day of absence.
- 11.2.3.4 Industrial Accident or Illness Leave shall be reduced by one (1) day for each day of authorized absence regardless of a temporary disability indemnity award.
- 11.2.3.5 When an Industrial Accident or Illness Leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due for the same illness or injury.
- 11.2.3.6 During any industrial paid leave of absence, workers' compensation checks are payable directly to the District. The District, in turn, shall issue the employee appropriate salary checks for payment of the employee's salary and shall deduct normal retirement and other authorized contributions. Upon conclusion of this industrial paid leave, an employee may utilize any available Sick Leave benefits providing that any Sick Leave utilization, when combined with any temporary disability indemnity shall not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the employee's normal compensation.
- 11.2.3.7 The governing board may, by rule or regulation, provide for such additional leave of absence for Industrial Accident or Illness, as it deems appropriate. Requests for additional leave shall be submitted through the Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources of the District. District approval or denial of additional leave of absence for Industrial Accident or Illness shall not be subject to the Grievance and Arbitration Procedures Article of this Agreement (Article 7).
- Return to Service. An employee shall be permitted to return to service after an industrial accident or illness leave involving a temporary disability award only upon the presentation of a release form from the authorized Ventura County Self Insurance Workers' Compensation Authority physician certifying the employee's ability to perform essential job functions with or without reasonable accommodations.
 - 11.2.4.1 Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.3 Jury Duty Leave.

Purpose. Judicial and official appearance leave shall be granted for purposes of regularly called jury duty, appearance as a witness in court other than as a

litigant, or to respond to an official order from another government jurisdiction for reasons not brought about through the connivance or misconduct of the employee.

- 11.3.1.1 Certificated employees will not receive time off for participation on a Grand Jury.
- Procedure. Upon receiving notification of a judicial or official appearance request, the employee shall inform the employee's immediate administrator of said notification. The employee seeking an official Jury Duty Leave shall submit a request accompanied by a copy of the notification for an approved absence to the immediate administrator. Such request shall be submitted not less than ten (10) days prior to the beginning date of the leave, unless such official notification was received less than ten (10) days prior to the appearance date. All unit members are encouraged to exercise their responsibilities to the judicial system as jurors and the District supports its responsibility to provide jury duty leave. However, the Superintendent, or designee, may elect to exercise his responsibilities pursuant to the Education Code when he determines that service would be inimical to the education of students.
- 11.3.3 Provision. An employee shall be granted a leave of absence not to exceed the duration of the requirements for participation and appearance.
- 11.3.4 Compensation. An employee granted a Jury Duty Leave under these provisions shall be granted full District compensation. Fees received by the employee, excluding travel and subsistence expenses, shall be remitted to the District.
- 11.3.5 Return to Service. Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.4 Elected Office Leave

- Purpose. A leave of absence shall be granted to employees who are elected to any full-time elected governmental office (such as the CA State legislature, statewide elected office, or County Supervisor).
- 11.4.2 Eligibility. An employee covered by this Agreement who has achieved permanent status within the District is eligible.
- 11.4.3 Procedure. An employee elected to office may request a leave of absence to fill the term of office. Said requests shall be submitted not later than 15 days after being elected to office. The employee will retain return rights and seniority rights, but the District will not hold a specific position on their books for the employee.
- 11.4.4 Requirements. During the terms of Elected Office Leave of Absence, the employee may be employed by the District to perform less than full-time service requiring certification qualifications, for such compensation and upon such terms and conditions, as may be mutually agreed upon between the District and the employee on leave.
- 11.4.5 Compensation. Except as provided above, an employee shall receive no District compensation while on Elected Office Leave of Absence.

- 11.4.6 Return to Service. The employee shall, within six (6) months of the expiration of the term of office, be entitled to return to the position held at the time of election. Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred. Reinstatement shall be made at the salary to which the employee would have been entitled had Elected Office Leave of Absence not been utilized.
- 11.5 Personal Leave of Absence (unpaid)
 - 11.5.1 Purpose. An employee may request a Personal Leave of Absence for reasons of study, family hardship, extended health rehabilitation, or other reasons.
 - 11.5.2 Eligibility. Any employee covered by this Agreement is eligible.
 - 11.5.3 Procedure. An employee seeking an approved Personal Leave of Absence shall submit a request, including the reasons and any supporting information related thereto, and the duration of the requested leave.
 - 11.5.3.1 For personal absences of five (5) working days or less, the employee shall submit the request described herein to the Superintendent not less than ten (10) working days prior to the beginning date of the leave unless knowledge of the need for leave occurred less than ten (10) days prior to the beginning leave date. The decision of the Superintendent for approval or denial of these requests shall be final.
 - 11.5.3.2 In instances of requests for personal absences in excess of five (5) days, but not more than 20 days, the procedures described above shall be followed, but authorization must involve prior Board approval.
 - 11.5.3.3 For personal absence in excess of 20 working days, leave requests shall be limited to the balance of the current school semester or current school year, or a full school year if said leave begins prior to the start of that year. The employee shall submit the request described herein to the Superintendent for recommendation and presentation to the Board of Trustees for approval or denial. An employee requesting such an extended Personal Leave of Absence shall submit the request in sufficient time for the Superintendent's consideration and presentation to the Board of Trustees. The decision of the Board for approval or denial of these requests shall be final.
 - Provisions. This provision applies solely to the employee who accepts gainful employment when on Personal Leave of Absence from the District, provided that the employee meets the following conditions: (1) the leave may only be taken for up to one (1) year (two semesters) and may not be repeated for at least five (5) years following the expiration of the leave; (2) the leave must begin with the beginning of a semester and end with the end of a semester; (3) the leave may not be used for employment as a teacher or administrator for either private or public K-14 education within the USA; (4) the employee must provide notice of return no fewer than 90 days from the scheduled date of return for the spring semester and on or before March 1 for the fall semester; and (5) an employee may return early from the leave only with the mutual agreement of the District and the employee.
 - 11.5.5 Compensation. Any Personal Leave of Absence that may be granted under these

provisions shall be without compensation and the District decision to approve or deny the request shall not be subject to the Grievance and Arbitration Procedures.

- 11.5.6 Return to Service. If at the time of reinstatement an employee no longer has the non-permanent credential authorization utilized at the time the leave was granted, the employee may be terminated by the District, unless an appropriate alternative vacancy exists for which the employee is qualified. If the Personal Leave of Absence was granted for personal health reasons, the employee shall be required to submit, prior to return to active duty, a medical statement regarding the particular health condition that caused the employee's need for leave, indicating an ability to perform essential job functions with or without reasonable accommodations.
 - 11.5.6.1 Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred. If the employee has been granted an unpaid Personal Leave of Absence, the employee shall have these return rights only upon return from the first unpaid Personal Leave of Absence. When returning from subsequent unpaid Personal Leaves of Absence, the employee may be reinstated to any certificated position in the District for which the employee is credentialed to hold.

11.6 Personal Necessity Leave

- Purpose. Personal Necessity Leave may be utilized for compelling personal circumstances or business which cannot be expected to be disregarded, which cannot be dealt with during off-duty hours, which represent a hardship to the employee's immediate family/personal property, and which are not directly or indirectly related to any individual employee or Federation concerted activity (as referred to in Article 24) in this District or any other governmental or private agency.
- 11.6.2 Eligibility. An employee of this unit who has sufficient unused Sick Leave credit is eligible. Personal Necessity Leave will be deducted from the unused sick leave credit.
- Procedure. Employees shall submit for Personal Necessity Leave (PNL) approval on a District-approved form to the immediate Administrator normally not less than five (5) work days prior to the beginning date of the leave, and the immediate Administrator shall advise the employee in writing of the approval or denial of the request normally one (I) working day prior to the requested beginning date of the leave. A unit member may use personal necessity leave at their own discretion, without providing written or verbal justification for said leave. However, personal necessity leave cannot be used to seek or engage in remunerative employment. In the event that the number of unit members at a school/program requesting PNL will interfere (due to excessive absenteeism, or other circumstances) with the normal functioning of the school/program, and would result in severe hardship for the school/program, the PNL may be denied. The prior approval required for Personal Necessity Leave shall not apply to the following reasons:
 - 11.6.3.1 Death or serious illness of a member of the employee's immediate family or household.
 - 11.6.3.2 Accident involving person or property, or the person or property of the employee's immediate family or household.

- 11.6.3.3 Discretionary Personal Necessity Leave: Discretionary Personal Necessity Leave days (DPNL) are days a unit member may use at their own discretion, without providing written or verbal justification for said leave. Unit members will earn Discretionary Personal Necessity days based on the number of sick leave days accumulated and recorded on the September pay check. The following scale will be used to determine Discretionary Personal Necessity Leave days:
 - a. Three (3) to 30 days accumulated sick leave = three (3) DPNL day.
 - b. Thirty-one (31) to 60 days accumulated sick leave = four (4) DPNL days.
 - c. Sixty-one (61) or more days accumulated sick leave = five (5) DPNL days.

In the event that the number of unit members at a school/program requesting DPNL leave will interfere, due to excessive absenteeism or other circumstances, with the normal functioning of the school/program and would result in severe hardship for the school/program, the DPNL leave may be denied. DPNL cannot be used to seek or engage in remunerative employment or for concerted activities.

- 11.6.4 Requirements. An employee may not use more than seven (7) days per year (based on a 184 day work year) of accumulated Sick Leave for purposes of approved Personal Necessity Leave. PNL shall be computed in hourly increments at the election of the employee. Personal necessity leave time will be approved provided the employee gives a notice of at least one week. Approval might not be automatically granted for the day before Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, February Break, Spring Recess, and any calendared holiday weekend, depending on the needs of the site.
- 11.6.5 Compensation. An employee shall receive full compensation for not more than seven (7) days per year of approved Personal Necessity Leave.
- 11.6.6 The employer shall provide, upon District request, additional verification of the use of these leave provisions.
- 11.7 Sick, Injury, Maternity, Paternity or Quarantine Leave
 - 11.7.1 Purpose. The purpose of Sick Leave utilization shall be for physical and mental disability absences which are caused by illness, injury, maternity, paternity, quarantine, or for diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or preventive care for the employee.
 - 11.7.2 Procedure. An employee, covered by this Agreement, working five (5) days per week for a full contract year, shall be annually entitled to ten (10) days of leave of absence for the purpose of Sick Leave utilization. An employee shall be able to use half of annual sick leave allocation (i.e., five (5) days if 10 month, six (6) days if 12 months) for the following purposes:
 - (a) Diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition, or preventive care for an employee's family member (as defined in California Labor Code Section 245.5).
 - (b) For an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or

- stalking, for the purposes as described in subdivision (c) of labor Code Section 230 and subdivision (a) of Labor Code Section 230.1.
- 11.7.2.1 Unused Sick Leave shall accrue from school-year to school-year without limit.
- 11.7.2.2 At the beginning of each school year, every unit member shall be credited in advance for that school year all Sick Leave entitlement and any accrued Sick Leave.
- 11.7.2.3 On a monthly basis, the District shall notify in writing, all unit members of the total number of hours accumulated Sick Leave including those hours they are entitled to for the current school year.
- 11.7.2.4 An employee exercising this leave of absence provision, shall notify the immediate administrator of the employee's need to be absent from service as soon as known, and shall make every effort to provide such notice in time to secure substitute service. The notification described herein shall also include an estimate of the expected duration of the absence.
- 11.7.2.5 An employee becoming aware of the need for absence due to surgery, maternity, paternity or other predictable or previously scheduled cause, shall submit a statement from the employee's attending physician as far in advance of the initial disability date as possible. The physician's statement shall include the beginning date of disability, the cause of the disability, and the anticipated date of return to active service.
- 11.7.2.6 Upon retirement from District service, a certificated unit member's accumulated sick leave hours for final CalSTRS compensation shall include those accrued both within adult education and the regular program.
- 11.7.2.7 Paid Pregnancy Leave and Parental Leave. An employee may use Sick Leave if the employee is unable to work due to pregnancy. Following exhaustion of Sick Leave hours, an employee absent due to being unable to work due to pregnancy is entitled to differential pay pursuant to Article 11.7.4.2 for the remainder of the period of disability up to 100 days.
- 11.7.2.8 Following the birth or adoption of a child of an employee, an employee shall be entitled to use their Sick Leave allocation for up to 12 work weeks of Parental Leave in a 12 month pursuant to Government Code section 12945.2. After exhaustion of Sick Leave, unit members shall be entitled to differential pay for the reminder of the 12 work week period under the conditions outlined in Education Code section 44977.5. In accordance with Education Code section 44977.5, Parental Leave means leave for the reason of the birth of a child of the employee, or placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or foster care of the child by the employee. This leave shall run concurrently with any unpaid Child Rearing Leave taken pursuant to section 11.9 of this Article. The above terms shall not affect any rights an employee may have to apply for Paid Family Leave for employees who are covered through their work with a different employer.
- 11.7.2.9 Upon return from such leave, the employee shall report the

- relationship requiring the absence so that the District may accumulate the total for mandated costs.
- 11.7.2.10 An employee covered by this Agreement, working less than full-time, shall be entitled to Sick Leave in the same ratio that the employee's employment bears to full-time employment. Sick Leave credit shall not be earned during any period of Summer School service.
- 11.7.3 Provision. Days of Sick Leave absence shall be computed in hourly increments.

11.7.4 Compensation

- 11.7.4.1 All unused Sick Leave credit may be used by the employee for Sick Leave purposes during the work year (Article 18) without loss of compensation.
- 11.7.4.2 During each school year, when an employee has exhausted all available Sick Leave, including all accumulated Sick Leave, and continues to be absent from their duties on account of illness, accident, or pregnancy for an additional period of up to 100 days, the employee shall be entitled to the difference between their pay and the amount either paid or which would have been paid a substitute. An employee shall not be provided more than an additional 100 days per illness or accident. The Sick Leave, including accumulated Sick Leave, and the five-month period shall run consecutively. However, if a school year terminates before the 100 days is exhausted, the employee may take the balance of the 100 days in a subsequent school year (Education Code 44977).
- 11.7.4.3 When an employee has exhausted all available Sick Leave, including accumulated Sick Leave, and continues to be absent on account of illness or accident for a period beyond 100 days provided pursuant to 11.7.4.2, and the employee is not medically able to return to work, they shall be placed on a re-employment list for 24 months if probationary and 39 months if permanent. If during that time, the employee shall be medically able to return to work, he or she shall be returned to employment in a position for which he or she is credentialed and qualified. The 24-month or 39-month period shall begin with the expiration of the 100 days leave (Education Code 44978.1).

11.7.5 Return to Service

- 11.7.5.1 Upon return to active service, the employee shall promptly complete the District absences form and submit it to the immediate or appropriate administrator.
- 11.7.5.2 The employee shall provide, upon District request, additional verification of the use of these leave provisions. In instances of Sick Leave absence of six (6) consecutive days or more, an employee shall, upon completion of the District absence form, attach a statement/verification from their attending physician that the employee was medically unable to return to work.
- 11.7.5.3 An employee who experiences an extended disability absence requiring surgery, hospitalization, or extended medical treatment, shall be required to submit, prior to return to active duty, a medical statement regarding the particular health condition that caused the employee's need for leave indicating an ability to return to the employee's position classification and to perform essential job functions with or without reasonable

accommodations.

11.7.5.4 Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.8 Health Rehabilitation Leave

- Purpose. Subject to the conditions specified in this section, the purpose of Health Rehabilitation Leave of Absence shall be to provide an employee with an unpaid leave of absence for a period not to exceed one (1) year, for reasons of health rehabilitation, as certified by the employee's attending physician.
- 11.8.2 Procedure. A permanent employee covered by this Agreement who has exhausted all accumulated sick leave, including the 100 day differential pay period described in section 11.7.4.2 of this Agreement, shall be granted upon request, a Health Rehabilitation Leave of Absence from District service. An employee shall submit a request for a Health Rehabilitation Leave to the Superintendent as far in advance of the beginning date of the leave as possible.
- 11.8.3 Provision. A Health Rehabilitation Leave of Absence shall be limited to one (1) full school year. An employee shall not accept gainful employment while on Health Rehabilitation Leave of Absence from the District except with prior District-approval. District-approval shall be granted when an employee's attending physician states that an employee is not able to perform District duties without physical or emotional detriment, but may perform specified gainful employment outside the District.
- 11.8.4 Compensation. Health Rehabilitation Leave of Absence shall be granted without compensation.
- 11.8.5 Return to Service. If at the time of reinstatement an employee no longer has the non-permanent credential authorization utilized at the time the leave was granted, the employee may be terminated by the District, unless an appropriate alternative vacancy exists for which the employee is qualified. The employee shall be required to submit, prior to return to active duty, a medical statement regarding the particular health condition that caused the employee's need for leave, indicating an ability to assume assigned duties and to perform essential job functions with or without reasonable accommodations.
 - 11.8.5.1 Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.9 Child Rearing Leave

- 11.9.1 Purpose. An unpaid leave of absence shall be granted to an employee following the birth or adoption of a child. This leave shall be in addition to any paid or differentially paid maternity or paternity leave taken pursuant to Government Code Section 12945.2 and Education Code Section 44977.5.
 - 11.9.2 Procedure. After the birth or adoption of an infant child, an employee may submit

- a request for an unpaid leave of absence for the purpose of child rearing. Said request shall be submitted in writing to the Superintendent, or designee, as far in advance of the requested commencement of the leave as possible.
- 11.9.3 Provision. The unpaid Child Rearing Leave shall be limited to the remainder of the semester in which birth or adoption of the child occurs, plus the following school semester. The District will cooperate with all employees, to the extent they are eligible, who wish to buy back retirement credits from STRS or PERS for unpaid leaves.
- 11.9.4 Compensation. A Child Rearing Leave of Absence shall be without compensation.
- 11.9.5 Requirement. An employee shall not accept gainful employment while on Child Rearing Leave of Absence from the District.
- 11.9.6 Return to Service. The employee shall return to District service in accordance with the conditions of the approved Child Rearing Leave. If at the time of reinstatement the employee no longer holds the non-permanent credential authorization utilized at the time the leave was granted, the employee may be terminated by the District, unless an appropriate alternative vacancy exists for which the employee is qualified.
 - 11.9.6.1 Return to service after leave, except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.10 Family and Medical Leave

11.10.1 The District shall comply with the requirements of State and Federal law dealing with Family and Medical Leave, including but not limited to the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act and the California Family Rights Act.

11.11 Pregnancy Leave (Non-Disability)

- 11.11.1 Purpose. An unpaid leave of absence shall be granted to an employee prior to the onset of the period of disability related to birth.
- 11.11.2 Procedure. A pregnant employee desiring a Pregnancy Leave of Absence, as provided for herein, shall submit a request for an unpaid Pregnancy Leave of Absence. Said request shall be submitted in writing to the Superintendent as far in advance of the requested commencement of the leave as possible. Said request shall be accompanied by the attending physician's statement indicating the probable date of delivery.
- 11.11.3 Provision. The duration of the unpaid Pregnancy Leave shall be limited to that portion of the semester in which delivery is expected, plus the preceding semester. The actual commencement date of the leave shall be dependent upon the availability of a suitable replacement, and shall usually begin at normal breaks in the school year.
- 11.11.4 Compensation. A Pregnancy Leave of Absence shall be without compensation.
- 11.11.5 Requirement. An employee shall not accept gainful employment outside the

District while on a Pregnancy Leave of Absence.

- 11.11.6 Return to Service. The employee shall return to District service in accordance with the conditions of the approved Pregnancy Leave. If at the time of reinstatement the employee no longer holds the on-permanent credential authorization utilized at the time the leave was granted, the employee may be terminated by the District, unless an appropriate alternative vacancy exists for which the employee is qualified.
 - 11.11.6.1 Return to service after leave except as otherwise noted in this agreement will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.12 Federation Leave of Absence

- 11.12.1 As defined and limited herein, up to 20 days per year of paid leave of absence shall be granted to the Federation President, or designee, for legitimate Federation purposes. Said leave may not be used for matters contemplated in Article 24 of this Agreement that involve the Oxnard Union High School District or any other public agency. If at all possible, advance notice to utilize Federation Leave shall be submitted to the Superintendent.
- 11.12.2 In addition to the provisions in 11.12.1 above, the Federation may request eight (8) additional days of leave of absence per year for legitimate Federation business. Said leave may not be used for matters contemplated in Article 24 of this Agreement that involve the District or any other public agency. For days of leave granted pursuant to this subsection, the Federation shall promptly reimburse the District for substitute salary costs.
- 11.12.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of sections 11.12.1 and 11.12.2 above, no one individual shall use more than 20 days per year for Federation Leave.

11.13 Sabbatical Leave Policy

- 11.13.1 Sabbatical leave may be granted in order that an employee may engage in professional study or travel. The District can deny Sabbatical requests based on the criteria listed in section 11.13.5.1. It is understood that such leave is not granted as a reward for work already performed, but rather as an opportunity to prepare for improved services in the unit member's subject area or assignment within the Oxnard Union High School District.
- 11.13.2 Sabbatical Leave for Travel. Requests for leave under this provision will be considered only if the proposed travel (1) relates in a clearly demonstrable manner to the applicant's subject area or assignment, and (2) can be clearly demonstrated to make an outstanding contribution in the applicant's subject area or assignment within the Oxnard Union High School District.
- 11.13.3 Sabbatical Leave for Professional Study. Leaves will be granted under this provision only if the proposed program of study (1) relates to the subject area of the unit member's primary assignment; (2) makes an outstanding improvement to the applicant's service to the District; and/or (3) prepares an applicant for teaching in areas of identified District need. Professional study is enrollment in a recognized institution of higher learning in the classification of a full- or part-time student.

- 11.13.4 Sabbatical Leave, Method of Payment
 - 11.13.4.1 Salary for a full year of Sabbatical Leave may be paid in two (2) equal annual installments during the first two (2) years following the return from Sabbatical Leave, unless the employee furnishes a suitable bond indemnifying the District against loss in the event that the employee fails to render at least five (5) years of service to the District following return from Sabbatical Leave.
 - 11.13.4.2 The salary for one (1) semester of Sabbatical Leave will be paid in two (2) equal semester installments during the first two (2) semesters following the return from Sabbatical Leave, unless the employee furnishes a suitable bond indemnifying the District against loss in the event that the employee fails to render at least five (5) semesters of service to the District following return from Sabbatical Leave.
 - 11.13.4.3 If the employee furnishes a suitable bond, then the employee shall be paid while on Sabbatical Leave in the same manner as if the employee were working in the District, including fringe benefits.
- 11.13.5 Sabbatical Leave, Number of Employees. The number of employees on Sabbatical Leave during any one (1) semester shall not exceed seven (7). In case more than seven (7) of the eligible employees apply for Sabbatical Leave during any one (1) semester, the granting of such leave shall be governed by the priority of the date of application, reasonable distribution of applicants by departments, seniority, relative merits or reasons for leave, and whether applicant has been granted previous leave.
 - 11.13.5.1 The District and the Federation retain the right to deny Sabbatical Leave requests should: 1) the requesting party not be eligible; 2) should an excessive number of Sabbatical Leave requests be made (7 certificated members), or 3) for financial reasons.
- 11.13.6 Sabbatical Leave, Accident or Illness. If an accident or serious illness occurs during a Sabbatical Leave, thus interrupting the program of study or travel, the absence shall be considered as absence on account of illness, provided the Superintendent has been promptly notified of such accident or illness. Notification shall be made by registered letter, mailed within ten (10) days after the accident or illness. A medical report, by a practicing physician acceptable to the District, must be filed with the Superintendent, or immediately following, the notification of accident or illness. The District reserves the right to request additional information before classifying the accident or illness as coming under the terms of the District's absence on account of illness policy.
- 11.13.7 Return to Service. Return to service after leave, except as otherwise noted in this agreement, will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.
- 11.13.8 Sabbatical Leave Report. Each employee who has been on a Sabbatical Leave shall file with the Superintendent a written report not later than 30 days after return to active duty. Such report shall contain detailed data as to the professional value of the experience gained while on leave, the manner in which such experience or knowledge gained may be used for the benefit of the students or school, and any other data necessary for a report satisfactory to the District. If any

compensation has been received for any employment or appointment accepted during Sabbatical Leave, the employee's report shall include the nature and extent of, the name and address of the employer or employers for whom the unit member may have performed, and the total amount of income received for such employment.

- 11.13.9 Sabbatical Leave Eligibility. All unit members will be eligible for Sabbatical Leave and service as an employee will be criterion considered, as well as the other criteria. Any employee who has satisfactorily completed seven (7) full years of service in the Oxnard Union High School District shall be eligible to apply for Sabbatical Leave once in each eight (8) years. A full year of service shall consist of 75% of the teaching days in a school year, without absence for illness or other cause.
- 11.13.10 Sabbatical Leave Application. Applications for Sabbatical Leave shall be made to the Board of Trustees through the office of Human Resources who will forward all applications to the Federation. The application shall give evidence of satisfactory service, reasons for desiring leave, length of leave, signatures of approval, and any other data necessary to provide an adequate basis for granting such a leave. Any employee eligible for Sabbatical Leave shall submit their application by close of business on the last Friday in January in the school year preceding the school year requested for Sabbatical Leave. A panel of certificated unit members shall be appointed by the Federation to meet and review all applications. This panel shall have the power to deny applications or may forward recommendations of approval to the Superintendent. Applicants shall be notified no later than 45 days before the end of the school year. Members can withdraw an application at any time prior to the start of the Sabbatical Leave without penalty.
- 11.13.11 Sabbatical Leave Physical Examination. A part of the application papers shall include a physical examination by a physician or physicians approved in advance by the Oxnard Union High School District, ascertaining the applicant's physical fitness to pursue the graduate study or travel as proposed in the request for leave. The cost of this examination shall be borne by the applicant.
- 11.13.12 Sabbatical Leave Length. Sabbatical Leave shall be granted for not less than one (1) full semester nor more than two (2) full consecutive semesters. Leave for fractional part of a semester is not permitted. Any employee who requests such leave for the second semester of any school year must have completed a minimum of 68 days of service during the first semester of that same school year.
- 11.13.13 Sabbatical Leave, Amount of Compensation. Any employee on Sabbatical Leave, who has complied with the provisions under which such leave was granted, shall receive as compensation one-half of the salary the employee would have received, according to the District's salary schedule in force, had the employee remained in this position. The sum of the amount the employee received from the District while on Sabbatical Leave and payment received from any outside position shall not exceed what the employee would have earned if the employee had not been on leave. Sabbatical Leave shall count as a regular period of service, and shall not interrupt the unit member's progress on the salary schedule.
 - 11.13.13.1 The employee shall receive fringe benefit coverage in the same manner as a full-time employee providing suitable bond has been posted.
- 11.13.14 Sabbatical Leave, District Liability. The Oxnard Union High School District shall not

be held liable for the payment of any compensation or damage arising from the death or injury of any employee on Sabbatical Leave.

- 11.13.15 Certificated employees on Sabbatical Leave shall receive 50% STRS credit. Employees will accumulate 50% of their Sick Leave for the year on Sabbatical Leave.
- Exchange Leave of Absence. Leaves of absence may be granted to unit members upon their acceptance under the terms of the International Education Exchange Program. Employees shall be eligible for leave under this section after completion of three (3) consecutive years of successful certificated service in the District. Payment by the District for an Exchange Leave of Absence shall be in accordance with the terms of the International Education Exchange Program. These terms are filed in the District Office.
 - 11.14.1 Return to Service. Return to service after leave, except as otherwise noted in this agreement, will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.
 - 11.15 Military Leave of Absence. A Military Leave of Absence shall be arranged between the individual unit member and the Board of Trustees through the Superintendent in compliance with federal and state regulations. Upon return to his position in the District, the employee shall have all the rights and privileges which the employee would have enjoyed had the employee not been absent from the District. The employee will advance on the salary schedule as if the employee had been employed in the District.
 - 11.15.1 Return to Service. Return to service after leave, except as otherwise noted in this agreement, will entitle the employee to placement at the site and in the department from which the employee left, provided that a position exists at the site and in the department. If no position exists, then the involuntary transfer language will be used to determine who must be transferred.

11.16 Part-Time Service Leave

- 11.16.1 Purpose. An unpaid leave of absence for that portion of the assignment the employee wishes to be on leave will be granted for those employees desiring part-time service, provided that an adequate replacement may be timely obtained.
- 11.16.2 The leave will be granted for one (1) year.
- 11.16.3 Employees should submit their leave applications no less than 90 days prior to the beginning of the semester in which the leave is desired.
- 11.16.4 Part-Time Employee Fringe Benefits Schedule

Semester Schedule

4/5 assignment - 80% District/20% Employee

3/5 assignment - 60% District/40% Employee

2/5 assignment - 40% District/60% Employee

1/5 assignment - 20% District/80% Employee

<u>Trimester Schedule</u>

3/4 assignment – 75% District/25% Employee

1/2 assignment – 50% District/50% Employee

All full-time certificated bargaining unit members shall receive fringe benefits as per the existing contract.

11.16.4.1 Part-Time Teachers. The District agrees to make a good faith effort to have the assignment of part-timers continuous beginning with the first period. If that schedule is not feasible, the principal shall meet and explain the assignment to the part-time teacher.

11.17 Catastrophic Leave

- 11.17.1 An employee who is suffering from a catastrophic illness or injury may request that eligible leave credits be donated for their use.
 - 11.17.1.1 "Catastrophic illness" or "injury" means an illness or injury that is expected to incapacitate the employee for an extended period of time, or that incapacitates a member of the employee's family, which incapacity requires the employee to take time off from work for an extended period of time to care for that family member, and taking extended time off work creates a financial hardship for the employee because they have exhausted all of their Sick Leave and other paid time off.
 - 11.17.1.2 An employee who is suffering from a catastrophic illness or injury must request the donation of eligible leave credits in writing.
 - 11.17.1.3 An employee suffering from a catastrophic illness or injury shall provide verification by means of letter, dated and signed by the ill or injured person's physician, indicating the incapacitating nature and probable duration of illness or injury.
 - 11.17.1.4 A committee composed of three (3) teachers and two (2) administrators shall determine that the employee is unable to work due to catastrophic illness or injury or has exhausted all accrued paid leave credits. When verification and determination have been made, the committee may then approve the transfer of Sick Leave credits.
 - 11.17.1.5 The maximum benefit to be received by an employee for any single catastrophic illness or injury is two (2) consecutive semesters.
 - 11.17.1.6 Any employee who receives paid leave pursuant to this program shall use any Sick Leave credits that they continue to accrue on a monthly basis before receiving paid leave pursuant to the Catastrophic Leave Program.
- 11.17.2 Catastrophic illness or injury is also defined as an illness or injury which incapacitates a member of the employee's immediate family as defined in Education Code Section 44985.
 - 11.17.2.1 The catastrophic illness or injury must require that the employee take time off from work for an extended period of time to care for the immediate family member.
 - 11.17.2.2 The employee must exhaust all accrued paid leave credits before using donated leave credits.

- 11.17.2.3 An employee, whose immediate family member is suffering from a catastrophic illness or injury, must request the donation of eligible leave credits in writing.
- 11.17.2.4 The employee shall provide verification of catastrophic illness or injury for their immediate family member by means of a letter, dated and signed by the ill or injured person's physician, indicating the incapacitating nature and probable duration of the illness or injury.
- 11.17.2.5 The Superintendent, or designee, shall determine that the employee is required to take time off work for an extended period of time to care for the immediate family member and has exhausted all accrued paid leave credits. When verification and determination have been made, the committee may then approve the transfer of accrued Sick Leave credits.
- 11.17.2.6 The maximum benefit to be received by any employee for any single catastrophic illness or injury of an immediate family member is two (2) consecutive semesters.
- 11.17.2.7 Any employee who receives paid leave pursuant to this program shall use any Sick Leave credits that they continue to accrue on a monthly basis before receiving paid leave pursuant to the Catastrophic Leave Program.
- 11.17.3 Employees may donate leave credits to a specific employee when that employee or a member of their immediate family, suffers from a catastrophic illness or injury, the employee is unable to work, and the employee has exhausted all accrued paid Sick Leave credits.
 - 11.17.3.1 Eligible leave credits are defined as accumulated days of Sick Leave donated to the said employee. Donated credits will be deducted from the donor's Sick Leave balance.
 - 11.17.3.2 Eligible leave credits are to be donated in period increments.
 - 11.17.3.3 Five (5) periods of credit will equal one (1) day.
 - 11.17.3.4 All certificated employees will be eligible to donate period substitution.
 - 11.17.3.5 An employee wishing to donate accrued leave credits to a specific employee under this agreement shall complete, sign, and deliver a form designating the number of leave credits to be donated, acknowledging that their transfer of used leave credits is irrevocable.
 - 11.17.3.6 The committee shall inform employees of the means by which donations may be made in response to the employee's request.
 - 11.17.3.7 Credit donations will be time and date stamped as received by the Human Resource office. All Sick Leave donations will be used in order of receipt. In the event that more leave is donated than is needed, the Sick Leave will be returned to donors in reverse order of receipt of donation.
 - 11.17.3.8 The maximum leave credits cannot exceed two (2) consecutive

semesters.

11.17.3.9 An employee on Catastrophic Leave shall receive the difference between the employee's regular salary and that of the long-term substitute rate. In order to qualify for differential pay, an employee shall first utilize all accumulated Sick Leave credit.

11.18 Miscellaneous leaves

- 11.18.1 The District shall comply with all applicable State and Federal laws regarding leaves and absences, including but not limited to:
 - (a) Military-related leave
 - (b) Paid military-related disability leave
 - (c) Subpoena/court order leave
 - (d) Crime/abuse/domestic violence victim-related leave
 - (e) School activities leave
 - (f) School discipline leave
 - (g) Leave for service with certain public education groups

ARTICLE 12. TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT

- 12.1 Reassignment is defined as a change of assignment between departments within a school or job site.
 - 12.1.1 Involuntary reassignment shall not be made in an arbitrary fashion.
 - 12.1.2 Voluntary reassignments shall consider the recommendation of the receiving department chair, the needs of the job site for teachers within the subject matter area the teacher wishes to leave, and the criteria in Article 12.3.5. Teachers with five (5) or more years of service in a SPED assignment shall not be denied a transfer request when a vacancy exists subject to the following: A qualified replacement has been hired prior to the District's annual transfer meeting; and a maximum of three (3) teachers based on District-wide seniority are eligible for this exemption and must apply prior to March 1.
- 12.2 Transfer is defined as a change from one work site, to another work site within the District.
- 12.3 Voluntary Transfers and Reassignments
 - 12.3.1 A listing of tentative vacancies for which the District will interview shall be posted annually in each school on or about March 30 and April 15. The transfer or reassignment closing date will be April 30. Those employees applying within this window shall receive placement prior to consideration of outside applicants.
 - 12.3.2 Vacancies occurring after April 15 but prior to August 1 shall be posted to the District's internet home page, school sites, and emailed to any employee who has requested a transfer to the site where the vacancy has occurred. Employees who have not applied for transfer or reassignment prior to April 30 will receive no priority consideration.
 - 12.3.3 Any vacancies that occur between August 1 and the first day of school year will be offered to properly credentialed unit members who are on the existing transfer list.
 - 12.3.4 Vacancy postings will set time deadlines for submitting applications. Postings will include screening procedures, approximate dates, the needs of the school for adjunct and extracurricular responsibilities for that school year, specific abilities needed, and specific programmatic needs.
 - Possession of appropriate credentials, major or minor, extracurricular skills and willingness to serve, employee preference and career goals, specified adjunct duty needs, and competence within a targeted program area shall be considered in request for voluntary transfer. Each advertisement of advancement vacancies will set time deadlines for submitting applications. The advertisement will spell out screening procedures and approximate dates. An interview may be held by a site administrator to assess whether applicants meet the above criteria. If more than one (1) applicant is fully qualified for the position, then the applicant with seniority in the District shall be selected.
 - 12.3.6 The District shall post all vacant bargaining unit positions; a vacant position is one within the unit for which a new employee may be hired.
 - 12.3.6.1 The District will notify all employees of transfer opportunities in the

summer via email and postings on the District website.

- 12.3.7 The employee shall submit a signed copy of the position announcement and current resume to the Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources and provide their current principal a copy of same.
- 12.3.8 Each applicant will be contacted by the principal of the school with the vacancy and make provisions for an interview. Within a reasonable time, that principal will notify the applicant of the status of the transfer.
- 12.3.9 The District Office will notify all applicants once the decision has been made and action taken by the Board.

12.4 Involuntary Transfers

- 12.4.1 Involuntary Transfers may be made for the following reasons: enrollment shifts or trends; program reduction or elimination; educational course or program requirements; disciplinary or school climate requirements, provided that the conduct requiring discipline has been documented to at least Level Two or that the investigated circumstances impacting school climate have been set out in writing by the administration; state or federal requirements.
- 12.4.2 With the exception of individuals being transferred under disciplinary or school climate requirements, it shall be the most junior member meeting the following criteria defined in 12.4.3 who shall be transferred. Seniority shall be determined District-wide rather than site-level.
- 12.4.3 Involuntary transfers by the District shall be based on the following criteria: credential authorization, state and federal mandates relative to the requirements of the position, and co-curricular needs limited to Levels 1, 2, and 3 (excluding assistant coaches) from the extra duty classification levels and, to the extent possible, Department Chairs.
 - 12.4.4 Involuntary transfers will not be made in an arbitrary, discriminatory, or capricious fashion.
 - 12.4.5 Except in unusual circumstances, individual teachers shall not be involuntarily transferred more than once in three years.
 - 12.4.6 Those to be involuntarily transferred may indicate a preference of assignments to the Superintendent.
 - 12.4.7 Those to be involuntarily transferred shall, upon written request, have written reason for the impending transfer from the Superintendent.
 - 12.4.8 In subsequent school years, priority consideration to return to a former worksite will be given to a request from an employee who was involuntarily transferred from said site in the past, provided the employee is properly qualified for said vacancy and the reasons for the transfer no longer exist, and the transfer is in compliance with Education Code § 35036.
 - 12.4.9 If a unit member who was transferred involuntarily due to enrollment shifts and/or decline, or boundary changes, the unit member shall be offered the first opportunity to return to the unit member's school if a subsequent vacancy develops in the department from which the employee had been involuntarily transferred.

- 12.4.10 Involuntary transfers shall not result in loss of contract salary, seniority, or fringe benefits.
- 12.4.11 In the event there is a unification, the District and Federation agree to meet and negotiate the ramifications of the action, including but not limited to involuntary transfer, layoff, Unit Share adjustments, priorities for assignment, and related topics. In any case, the District shall comply with the statutory processes required for unification.

ARTICLE 13. PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW PROGRAM

It is intended that this program will be funded by PAR money generated and will be no cost to the District's General Fund. It is further intended that funds received by the PAR programs will be 100% spent on this program.

- 13.1 There shall be a Peer Assistance and Review (PAR) Program (hereinafter referred to as "PAR") for all unit members who have permanent/tenured status and regular teaching assignments; those unit members excluded are nurses, speech and language therapists, psychologists, Library Media Teachers, Student Wellness Specialists, and Counselors. PAR shall consist of four (4) distinct components.
 - 13.1.1 Permanent Teacher Intervention Program Voluntary
 - 13.1.1.1 This component shall provide peer assistance and review to all teachers with permanent /tenured status in the District. Participation is voluntary.
 - 13.1.1.2 Permanent teachers desiring assistance in improving their teaching may apply for such assistance on a confidential basis. Participation in the voluntary program does not preclude placement in the mandatory program. Documentation will not be placed in the personnel file so long as participation continues on a voluntary basis.
 - 13.1.2 Permanent Teacher Intervention Program Mandatory
 - 13.1.2.1 This component shall provide intervention to permanent teachers who receive two (2) consecutive "unsatisfactory" observations. Participation in this component is mandatory. A permanent teacher who receives "unsatisfactory" observations will enter a ten-week Pre-Assistance Program per Article 9.7.1.
 - 13.1.2.1.1 An "unsatisfactory" observation will be based on Article 9.7.1.1 of this agreement. The observation shall reflect an overall "unsatisfactory performance as related to the adopted Standards for the Teaching Profession.
 - 13.1.2.2 The purpose of this Program is to assist and offer remediation to permanent teachers whose performance has been observed as "unsatisfactory" by the principal /designee. The prime focus of this Program is to provide assistance to renew quality teaching.
 - 13.1.2.2.1 This Program shall not deal with teacher's employment issues which may arise due to accusations of neglect of duty or misconduct.
 - 13.1.2.3 Assistance and remedial efforts shall be intense and multifaceted, and shall be preceded by a conference when the teacher receives the "unsatisfactory" evaluation. The conference shall involve the teacher being referred, the evaluator who evaluated the teacher, and the Consulting Teacher. If the referred teacher so desired, Federation shall also provide representation. At this conference, the reasons for the "unsatisfactory" evaluation will be presented. Then, an Individual Learning Plan to renew quality teaching will be developed by those present.

- 13.1.2.3.1 The course of assistance shall include one or more of the following:
 - a) Multiple classroom observations by the Consulting Teacher.
 - b) Opportunities for the permanent teacher to observe exemplary practice either by the Consulting Teacher or other exemplary teachers.
 - c) District provided professional development opportunities.
 - d) Assistance specific to the area which has been evaluated "unsatisfactory."
 - e) Assistance in areas deemed in need of assistance by the consulting or Evaluating Teacher during the period of assistance.
 - f) Conference attendance where material facilitates and fits into the Individual Learning Plan.
 - g) The parties understand that every possible subject matter competency may not be available with the District, and therefore it shall occasionally be necessary to secure additional assistance to fully address identified deficiencies. In such cases, the Consulting Teacher shall maintain prime responsibility for assuring the availability of appropriate resources.
- During the period of assistance, the permanent teacher's evaluation shall be the joint responsibility of the Evaluating Teacher and the principal or designee. It is the intent of the parties that this process serves as the sole evaluation process for the permanent teacher.
- 13.1.2.5 The assistance provided by the Consulting Teacher shall be closely monitored by the Panel.
- 13.1.2.6 Nothing in Article 13 precludes the principal or District from doing informal observations nor from notifying the teacher verbally and/or in writing regarding incidents or events related to the teacher's fulfillment of professional obligation.
 - 13.1.2.6.1 Should the principal or District deem it necessary to communicate with a teacher in this Program in a manner that related to progressive discipline, such as letter of warning, reprimand, etc., they shall copy the Consulting Teacher and the Panel.
 - 13.1.2.6.2 The Evaluating Teacher will share all written evaluations during a conference with the permanent teacher and Consulting Teacher. A cover copy of the written evaluation will be provided to the principal and the Panel.
- 13.1.2.7 The principal, or designee, will share all written evaluations during a conference with the permanent teacher and Consulting Teacher. A

cover copy of the written evaluation will be provided to the Evaluating Teacher and the Panel.

- 13.1.2.8 Permanent Teacher Due Process Rights
 - 13.1.2.8.1 The permanent teacher shall be entitled to review all reports generated by the Evaluating Teacher and/or principal, or designee, prior to their submission to the Panel and to have affixed thereto their comments. To effectuate this right, the Evaluating Teacher and/or principal, or designee, shall provide the permanent teacher with copies of such evaluation at least five (5) working days prior to any Panel meeting.
 - 13.1.2.8.2 The permanent teacher shall have a right to be represented by Federation in any meeting of the Panel and shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present their point of view concerning any report being made.
 - 13.1.2.8.3 The permanent teacher shall have the right to present reasons why a specific Consulting Teacher should be replaced with another Consulting Teacher, and to have those reasons considered by the Panel. The Panel shall have the final authority to substitute Consulting Teachers.
- 13.1.3 Consulting Teachers will provide assistance with the permanent teachers in the assistance program.
 - 13.1.3.1 The duties of the Consulting Teachers are to provide assistance and guidance to those teachers in the Assistance Program.
 - 13.1.3.2 Term of service is two (2) years. Applications will be received in March.
 - 13.1.3.2.1 Consulting Teachers shall have staggered terms.
 - 13.1.3.3 Consulting Teachers may reapply when their term has expired. The selection process is independent of prior selection process; Consulting Teachers have no advantage or disadvantage associated with prior service in the program.
 - 13.1.3.4 Qualifications for Consulting Teachers are (1) five (5) years of satisfactory teaching within the OUHSD; (2) fully credentialed in a desired subject area; (3) permanent teaching status; (4) demonstrated exemplary teaching; (5) observed teaching by at least one (1) PAR Panel member; (6) classroom teaching experience within the last 3 academic years in a desired subject area; and (7) final selection authority rests with the PAR Panel.
 - 13.1.3.4.1 A pool of Consulting Teachers will be selected by the Par Panel no later than September 15.
 - 13.1.3.4.2 Consulting Teachers are chosen by subject area specialization with at least one (1) person in position for each of these areas: English/Language Arts, ELD/Bilingual Education, Mathematics, Physical Education, Science, Social Science, Fine Arts, Performing Arts, Foreign Language, and

Vocational Arts. Selection is not based on the Consulting Teacher's campus assignment. The pool of Consulting Teachers exists to serve teachers District-wide.

- 13.1.3.4.2.1 Though selected, these individuals would not receive any compensation unless they were actually assigned to and working with an "assisted teacher" in the program.
- 13.1.3.4.2.2 Consulting Teachers will be paid an hourly rate equal to the current Home Teaching Rate for any time spent supporting PAR Assistance teachers when it is outside the instructional day.
- 13.1.3.4.3 If the PAR Panel is unable to select a complete pool of Consulting Teachers who each meet the criterion established in 13.1.5.4, then the Panel may employ an outside consultant for any position that is vacant.
 - 13.1.3.4.3.1 Should it be necessary to select an outside consultant, in those specific cases, Article 13.1.5.4 may be modified.
- 13.1.4 District-Wide Evaluating Teacher is a part-time position to be staffed by a credentialed teacher appointed by the principal, with preference given to current teachers, with released time, or substitutes, as needed.
 - 13.1.4.1 The Evaluating Teacher shall have the following duties:
 - 13.1.4.1.1 Evaluate quarterly permanent teachers that are on the Mandatory Assistance program. Written reports will be submitted to the PAR Panel, copies to be given to the evaluated teacher, the principal and Consulting Teacher of the Teacher being evaluated. The evaluations will be jointly shared by the Evaluating Teacher and the principal.
 - 13.1.4.1.2 The Evaluating Teacher shall be present at all PAR Panel meetings to discuss any evaluations requested by the Panel.
 - 13.1.4.2 Term of service will be two (2) years, contingent on a satisfactory evaluation by the PAR Panel. Applications and selection dates to be established by the PAR Panel.
 - 13.1.4.3 Evaluating Teacher may reapply for this position at the expiration of their term. The selection process is independent of prior selection process. Evaluating Teacher has no advantage or disadvantage associated with prior service in the program.
 - 13.1.4.4 Recommended qualifications for Evaluating Teacher are (1) five (5) years of satisfactory teaching within the OUHSD, (2) fully credentialed for 9-12 teaching, (3) permanent teaching status, (4) demonstrated exemplary teaching, (5) observed by at least one (1) PAR Panel member, (6) classroom teaching experience within the last 3 academic years, and (7) the final selection authority rests with the PAR Panel.
 - 13.1.4.4.1 If the PAR Panel is not able to select an Evaluating Teacher

within these provisions, the PAR Panel shall have the authority to select an Evaluating Teacher from Outside the Pool of existing OUHSD employees, guided by the recommended qualifications stated in Article 13.1.6.4.

13.1.4.4.2 The PAR Panel, as part of its annual statutory budget process shall establish salary and support expenses for Evaluating Teacher.

13.1.5 Peer Assistance and Review Panel

- 13.1.5.1 The Program shall be governed by the Panel composed of three (3) District members and four (4) Federation members. Decisions shall be made by consensus when possible. Should a vote be required, action must be taken on an affirmative vote of at least four (4) members.
 - 13.1.5.1.1 Federation members will be appointed by the Federation and shall consist of five (5) appointments, each from a different site, and only four (4) will serve on any individual case. The member whose site the teacher evaluation is being considered by the Panel will be excused from any decision on that teacher.
 - 13.1.5.1.2 Each Federation Panel member will get a stipend of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00) annually. Seven hundred and fifty dollars (\$750.00) will be paid in January and seven hundred and fifty dollars (\$750.00) will be paid in June.
 - 13.1.5.1.3 Panel members shall have two-year, staggered terms.
- 13.1.5.2 The Panel shall meet at least four (4) times per year to review the evaluations. An additional meeting will be required to select the Consulting Teachers and the Evaluating Teachers.
 - 13.1.5.2.1 Other meetings may be held as necessary.
- 13.1.5.3 The Panel shall develop the budget for the Program.
- 13.1.5.4 The Panel shall select the Consulting Teachers and Evaluating Teacher based upon criteria stated in Article 13. The selection of the Evaluating Teacher shall be by consensus.
- 13.1.5.5 The Panel shall evaluate annually the Consulting Teachers and Evaluating Teacher performance.
- 13.1.5.6 The Panel shall make re-hire recommendations for permanent teachers to the Governing Board.
- 13.1.5.7 The Panel shall monitor the progress of Permanent Teacher mandatory intervention, including making the decision on the success of such intervention and so recommending continued employment or not to the Governing Board.
 - 13.1.5.7.1 The Panel shall review all Individual Learning Plans.
 - 13.1.5.7.2 The Panel, after one (1) year of remediation shall report to the

permanent teacher, the principal and the Governing Board as follows:

- a) The Panel deems the permanent teacher "proficient" in the area(s) identified for improvement and shall be returned to the normal standard evaluation procedure.
- b) The Panel deems the permanent teacher "not proficient" in the area(s) identified for improvement, and does not consider that further assistance and mediation will be successful, the Panel Shall recommend termination. Any termination recommendation by the Panel shall be consistent with Article 13 and shall be accompanied with a statement of reasons in support of their conclusion.
- 13.1.5.7.3 Notwithstanding 13.1.5.7.2, above, and while the term of assistance shall normally be for one (1) year, the intervention may be reduced. If the Panel deems the permanent teacher "proficient" in the area(s) identified for improvement prior to one (1) year, the permanent teacher shall return to the normal standard evaluation procedure.
- 13.1.5.7.4 Notwithstanding 13.1.5.7.2, above, and while the term of assistance shall normally be for one (1) year, the intervention may be extended to a second year if the Panel believes progress is being made although the permanent teacher may not have returned to a "proficient" level of performance.
- 13.1.5.7.5 The deliberations of the Panel shall be closed and confidential, their decisions shall be based on the information provided by the Evaluating Teacher, the principal, and the teacher and/or Federation representative who is assigned.
- 13.1.5.7.6 The decision of the Panel shall be reported to the teacher, the Consulting and Evaluating Teacher, and the principal in a conference with the Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources. A Federation representative may attend if requested by the teacher.
- 13.1.5.8 The Panel shall select its own chair.
- 13.1.5.9 The Panel shall review annually the Peer Assistance and Review Program

13.1.6 Miscellaneous Provisions

- 13.1.6.1 It is understood and agreed that the Program shall terminate if for any reason there exists an inability for full funding thereof.
- 13.1.6.2 The District shall hold harmless the members of the Panel, the Evaluating Teacher, and the Consulting Teachers for any liability arising out of their participation in this Program.
- 13.1.6.3 CONFIDENTIALITY: All proceedings and materials related to the

- administration of this article shall be strictly confidential. Therefore, Panel members, Evaluating Teacher and Consulting Teachers may disclose such information only as necessary to administer this article.
- 13.1.6.4 Governing Board: Nothing herein shall preclude the Board from examining information which it is entitled by law to review in connection with the evaluation of and/or decision to retain in employment, probationary, or temporary certificated employees.
- 13.1.6.5 Nothing herein shall modify or affect the District's right to issue notices of unsatisfactory performance and/or unprofessional conduct pursuant to Education Code Section 44938 nor non-reelect teachers pursuant to Education Code Section 44929.21.
- 13.1.6.6 These Programs in no manner diminish the legal rights of the bargaining unit member.

ARTICLE 14. SUMMER SCHOOL SELECTION PROCEDURE

14.1 Summer School Selection Procedure. In the selection of summer school unit members, the point system listed below will be used in assignments. Applicants must possess the required credential for the position. The applicant for a summer school teaching position with the least total number of points will be given priority. A score will be given each teacher on each of the items listed below, factors 14.1.1 through 14.1.3. In those instances where more than one (1) applicant has identical point totals, preference will be given the applicant with the most seniority in time of employment in the District. Unit members selected for summer school will be notified of their selection by June 1.

		POINTS
14.1.1	Recency of Assignment Factor, previous year	
	The teacher taught summer school the previous year	5
14.1.2	Recency of Assignment Factor, two (2) years	
	The teacher taught summer school two (2) years ago	4
14.1.3	Recency of Assignment Factor, three (3) years	
	The teacher taught summer school three (3) years ago	3

- The following summer school classes shall be excluded from this criteria: Library Media Teacher/Supervisor, English 101, English 102, English 103, and Special Education or comparable classes of different titles for these classes. Notwithstanding the exclusions stated above, classes shall be equitably distributed as between teachers with similar qualification and expertise. Qualified unit members from within the District who apply for summer school will be hired in preference to outside candidates. In the event that more than one (1) qualified unit member applies to teach said classes, the final selection shall be made by applying criteria 14.1.1 through 14.1.3 above. All teachers who wish to be considered for courses requiring training will have access to that training in order to be eligible for such gainful employment.
 - 14.2.1 In order to maintain the quality of media services to students, first consideration will be given to current Library Media Teachers. If not available, secondary consideration will be given to qualified members with a Library Science credential.
 - 14.2.2 If there is no one who meets the qualifications described in 14.2.1, the position of Summer School Librarian will be subject to the point system and any members who are selected for Summer School Librarian will be required to attend, prior to the end of the school year, in-service training regarding the use of the District's current software program which will be conducted by the District's trainer and coordinated by the Staff Development Department.
 - 14.2.3 If no unit member applies for the position, the District administrator, principal, and a representative from the Federation with input from the site Library Media Teacher, shall select the best-qualified person based upon a consideration of the applicant's qualifications, as well as the knowledge and abilities to support the

academic program of the District and the library's instructional program. Any applicants from outside the District will be subject to the same in-service training described above.

- 14.3 The formula's criteria above will be applied when relevant to the hiring of non-teaching certificated unit members. Salaries for non-teaching certificated unit members will be paid at the same hourly rate as teachers.
- Except in extenuating circumstances, or except by notice on the part of the employee no less than two (2) weeks prior to the start of summer school, an employee who signs a summer school contract and fails to fulfill the contractual obligation will not be eligible for summer school service for that year and two (2) subsequent years. Contracts must be available to unit members by June 1.
 - 14.4.1 Extenuating circumstances may include, but not be limited to a family emergency, personal or family health concerns, or a change in the specific teaching assignment as indicated in summer school application agreed upon by the teacher and the District.
- Other than for circumstances that meet the criteria of Article 14.4.1, after three (3) absences teachers forfeit their right to teach Summer School the following summer.
- 14.6 Teachers who begin a summer school assignment, but due to a change in enrollment are involuntarily laid off from their assignment, will not have that service included when calculating points for subsequent summer assignments.

ARTICLE 15. EMPLOYEE SAFETY

- 15.1 It shall be the employee's responsibility to report to the principal any observed unsafe physical conditions in the buildings or on the school premises that the employee believes to have the potential to harm persons or property.
 - 15.1.1 The report should be done verbally as soon as the condition is recognized.
 - 15.1.2 The employee shall file a maintenance repair request with the employee's appropriate supervisor and will have access to the District's maintenance accounting system to file a written request. One (1) copy shall be retained by the employee and one (1) forwarded to Federation.
 - 15.1.3 Work/repair requested done as a result of the application of the criteria in 15.2 below shall be done within a reasonable period of time.
 - 15.1.4 A copy of the completed maintenance repair request shall be forwarded to Federation and to the employee who reported it within three (3) business days.
 - 15.1.5 Should no action be taken, the employee will receive a written summary of findings. Whenever the employee feels that the issue has been left unresolved after receiving such notification, the employee may make a written appeal to the District's Uniform Complaint Officer. The appeal will be reviewed by a panel of three (3) peers to be comprised of one (1) member selected by the Federation, one (1) selected by the District, and the District's Uniform Complaint Officer. The panel will review the summary of Findings presented by the Director of Risk Management and Safety and then make a recommendation on a course of action.
- 15.2 It shall be the employer's responsibility to investigate employee reports as described herein and assess the physical condition reported; take appropriate action and correct unsafe conditions; follow appropriate safety condition regulations as set forth by the California Occupational Safety and Health Act; then enact Board policy and administrative regulations of the District as per contract situation.
- 15.3 It shall be the obligation of each employee to work in a safe manner and not create hazards.
- 15.4 Any employee who is the victim of an assault, battery, physical, verbal or written threat in connection with District employment should:
 - 15.4.1 Verbally report the incident to the principal and/or immediate supervisor at the earliest possible time.
 - 15.4.2 Submit a written report of the incident to the principal and/or immediate supervisor at the earliest possible time.
- 15.5 It shall be the responsibility of the principal and/or the immediate supervisor to report the incident to the Superintendent's office and such other authorities as deemed appropriate by the administration or the impacted unit member with the least possible delay.
- 15.6 It shall be the responsibility of the District to provide, upon request by the involved employee(s), appropriate non-confidential information relating to an incident of assault and/or battery.

- The District agrees to allow for a reimbursement for personal equipment or clothing damaged or stolen to a maximum individual amount of one thousand (\$1,000.00) dollars. This amount will be reimbursed only if the employee has registered the personal equipment with the principal. To receive any reimbursement for stolen equipment, the employee must show that there was evidence that a police report was filed.
- When unit member vehicles are parked in District designated parking areas, the District will reimburse vehicle vandalism provided (1) that the unit member must report the vandalism immediately, so that a reasonable determination may be made that the vandalism occurred at that time in the designated parking space; and provided (2) that the unit member files and provides a copy of a police report to the District. The amount of the reimbursement to the unit member will be limited to the amount of the unit member's insurance deductible or one thousand (\$1,000.00) dollars whichever is less.
- 15.9 Except in disaster or emergency situations, the District shall not require an employee to work in a life endangering condition.
- 15.10 In the event that unhealthful conditions cause the dismissal of student and classified staff members, certificated personnel shall be dismissed from their duties, without loss of pay for the remainder of the day, after safe departure/delivery of students.
- In the event a unit member is required to meet with law enforcement agencies in handling issues raised in 15.4, the unit member shall be released from other duties to attend the meeting(s).
- 15.12 The parties recognize that teachers have the right to suspend students from their class in accordance with and based upon the conditions set forth in Education Code 48910. Teachers who suspend a student from their class in accordance with Education Code section 48910 shall immediately report the suspension to the principal of the school and send the pupil to the principal or the designee of the principal for appropriate action. As an alternative to teacher directed suspension, a teacher may refer a student to the site administrator for consideration of suspension from school or expulsion.

ARTICLE 16. SALARIES

- 16.1 Calculation of Unit Share Revenue. The following will commence with the 2022-2023 contract year:
 - 16.1.1 Formula. The following Unit Share calculation shall be employed to govern annual modifications to unit member compensation and benefits:
 - Step 1: The Unit Share LCFF subtotal shall be determined by adding the base grant of the District's LCFF and the grade span adjustment of the Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) for the current fiscal year. From the Unit Share LCFF subtotal subtract the current cost of Certificated non-management retiree health care costs. This is for the number of retired/non-management members from the Unit Share. Eligible retirees are those hired prior to June 30, 2004 who work 15 or more years for the District and retire at age 55 or older. The resulting total should then be multiplied by Sixty-nine point six percent (69.6%) to determine the Unit Share Revenue.

To determine the amount of base grant and grade span adjustment of the LCFF, the District will use the greater of the District's current year, prior year or the average of the three prior years' ADA.

The Unit Share Revenue shall be used to pay for "Unit Share Expenditures" as indicated in section 16.1.5.

- Step 2: Subtract all Unit Share Expenditures (Article 16.1.5) from the Unit Share Revenue; the remainder shall be the "Unit Share Remainder." which shall be either a "Unit Share Deficit" (if negative), or a "Unit Share Surplus" (if positive).
- Step 3: The Unit Share Remainder (Article 16.5) shall be divided by the cost of 1% of Unit Share salary to determine the percentage increase or decrease negotiable for the current school year to the salary schedule per article 16.5.
- 16.1.2 Following the release of the governor's January proposed budget, the District shall estimate the Unit Share Revenue based on the formula from 16.1.1 Step 1, using the previous year's CBEDs numbers. The estimated Unit Share Revenue shall be revised following the Governor's Budget May revision, the adoption of the state budget in June and again by the end of October. The final Unit Share computation shall be determined within two weeks following the finalization of October CBEDs.
 - 16.1.3 Each year, each party may request to consult with the other party concerning the estimated Unit Share Revenue for the following year per Appendix I.
 - 16.1.3.1 Should no agreement be reached on the negotiated Unit Share surplus or deficit by November 30, the parties agree to mutually request the appointment of a mediator. If no agreement on the Unit Share has been reached by February 15, the District may implement the formula without modification.
 - 16.1.4 Eligibility for Salary Schedule Adjustments. To be eligible for a Salary Schedule Adjustment, certificated employees must have been employed during the Fiscal

year for which the adjustment is being made. Certificated employees who worked less than a full year will receive a prorated adjustment based on the fraction of a full year for which they worked. Employees who were on sabbatical will receive one-half the adjustment amount if on a full-year sabbatical, and three-fourths the adjustment if on a one-semester sabbatical.

- 16.1.5 Unit Share Revenue shall be used to pay the full cost of salaries and fringe benefits of unit members as shown in Appendix H.
 - 16.1.5.1 District funds outside of the Unit Share shall be used to pay salaries, fringe benefits, and extra duty pay and stipends, for any positions not specifically identified as being paid for by the Unit Share in Appendix H and/or for stipends not listed in Appendix D.
 - 16.1.5.2 Four professional development days will be paid through LCFF Supplemental & Concentration Funds.
- Special Contributions during the life of this contract. Contributions as outlined in 16.2.1 and 16.2.2, will be paid to buy down the cost of health and welfare benefits.
 - 16.2.1 In 2022-2023, the Federation will contribute 2.3 million dollars from the Unit Share Reserve to reduce health and welfare costs for certificated members. In 2022-23, the District will contribute 1 million dollars to reduce health and welfare costs for all District employees.
 - 16.2.2 In the 2023-2024 and 2024-2025 School Years, the Federation will contribute 1.5 million dollars each year from the previous year's Unit Share Reserve to reduce the health and welfare costs for certificated members prior to the Unit Share calculation.

In the 2023-2024 and 2024-2025 School Years, the District will contribute 1 million dollars each year to reduce the health and welfare costs for all District employees prior to the Unit Share calculation.

- 16.3 Formula Monitoring.
 - 16.3.1 The District agrees to meet in consultation upon the Federation's request concerning the Unit Share Revenue for the current year.
 - 16.3.2 A stipend of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) from the Unit Share will be paid to three (3) unit members appointed by the Federation to assist in monitoring the formula. Five hundred dollars (\$500.00) of the stipend will be paid on December 10 and five hundred dollars (\$500.00) will be paid May 10.
- 16.4 Unit Share Expenditures. Each year after the dollar amount of the Unit Share Revenue has been determined, it shall be used as follows:
 - 16.4.1 To fund the base salary of all unit members included in section 16.1.5 who are identified as being paid from the Unit Share revenue per Appendix H.
 - 16.4.2 To fund the retirement plans and fringe benefit costs for all unit members identified in Article 16.1.5 who are identified as being paid from the Unit Share revenue per Appendix H.
 - 16.4.3 To fund step and column and anniversary increment increases that have occurred since the previous year for all unit members identified in Article 16.1.5 per Appendix H.

- 16.4.4 To fund increased benefit costs to maintain current benefit levels for all unit members identified in Article 16.1.5 per Appendix H.
- 16.4.5 To fund Extra Duty stipends identified in Appendix D.
- 16.4.6 To fund Extra Hourly pay for Driver's Education and Formula Monitoring, per Article 16.3.2.
- 16.4.7 To fund Extended and/or Catastrophic Leave as determined by the Federation.
- 16.5 Unit Share Remainder. If after subtracting the Unit Share expenses from the Unit Share Revenue there is a surplus remaining, the District and Federation shall negotiate what will be applied to the following:
 - 16.5.1 Fund an on-schedule salary schedule increase provided that:
 - 16.5.1.1 If the Ventura County Office of Education determines, consistent with AB 1200, that the salary increase will cause the District to receive a negative or qualified budget certification in either of the two years following the on-schedule salary increase, the District and Federation shall meet and confer over the impacts of such a determination, which may include negotiating an amount that will enable the District to receive a positive certification in both of the two years following the on-schedule salary increase.
 - 16.5.1.2 A Unit Share remainder that fails to meet the standard articulated in 16.5.1.1, shall trigger a negotiation of the effects of this windfall surplus between the Federation and the District, this can include negotiating an on-schedule salary increase that would meet the standard articulated in 16.5.1.1.
 - 16.5.2 Fund an improvement in the level of fringe benefits.
 - 16.5.3 Fund an improvement in site teacher/counselor staffing ratios. An ultimate goal for counselor staffing ratio, should adequate funding be available, will be 400 to 1.
 - 16.5.4 Any Unit Share Remainder may be placed in the Unit Share Reserve for future years as a source for one-time Unit Share Expenditures.
 - 16.5.5 The Unit Share Reserve shall maintain a minimum balance of 3% in years where the Unit Share generates a surplus.
- 16.6 The following staffing ratios will be in effect during the term of this agreement:
 - 16.6.1 Each comprehensive high school shall be staffed at an average ratio of 30 students to 1 teacher, inclusive of programmatic reductions listed in 16.6.10 and exclusive of programs funded outside the Unit Share based upon mutually agreed upon enrollment projections for the following year.
 - 16.6.1.1 For Unit Share calculations, each Alternative School of Choice High School shall be staffed at an average ratio of 24:1.
 - 16.6.2 When the average comprehensive high school site teacher-staffing ratio inclusive of programmatic reductions as listed in section 16.6.10 rises above 30 to 1, the District shall negotiate with the Federation, and show evidence of the overage before hiring additional Unit Share FTE to reduce the average to 30 to 1.

- 16.6.3 When the comprehensive high school site teacher-staffing ratio falls below 29 to 1, the District shall reduce the number of teachers necessary to increase the site teacher-staffing ratio above 29 to 1.
- 16.6.4 Special Education programs shall be staffed in accordance with the allocation of programs made by the Ventura County Special Education Local Planning Area (VC SELPA) and as per Education Code, except as defined in Article 8.7.
- 16.6.5 Teachers on special designated assignment, summer school and hourly-paid employees, including Site Based ISP and HHT, do not impact the above staffing ratios, and are paid for from a source outside of the Unit Share.
- 16.6.6 Any staffing increases throughout the year which affect the Unit Share will be referred to consultation for resolution.
- 16.6.7 Student ratios for counselors shall not be below 425 students per counselor or exceed a maximum of 475 students per counselor. Student ratios shall be calculated separately for each site.
- 16.6.8 If it becomes necessary for a reduction in force, positions will be eliminated in such a manner as to pose the least impact to students. The principle of continuing basic services to students as required by the Education Code shall guide the District selected layoff pattern. This provision shall override required staffing ratio provisions of this agreement for the duration of the time the reduction in force is necessary.
- 16.6.9 Calculation of ratios pursuant to this Article shall occur as per Appendix I of each year during consultation with the Federation for next year's staffing using mutually agreed upon historical enrollment data, historical CBEDS and P2 holding power, to determine initial site FTE projections. The District will provide accurate and up to date reports of enrollments to the Federation.
- 16.6.10 To determine the enrollment that generates FTE staffing for general education Unit Share positions, the District will make the following programmatic reductions:

Programmatic enrollment reductions as follows, and per Appendix H:

<u>Program</u>	Included	Reduction
SPED M/M RSP	71%	29%
SPED M/S Non Severe	50%	50%
SPED M/S	0%	100%

- 16.7 When and if the state ceases utilizing the Local Control Funding Formula or makes material changes to it, the parties shall meet to negotiate the effects of these changes.
- Hourly wages in Appendix E shall increase the same percentage as that applied to the regular unit salary schedule. Rates shall be rounded up to the nearest half-dollar amount.
 - 16.8.1 Extra Duty Pay referenced at Appendix D and Longevity Pay referenced at Appendices A, B, and C will increase by the percentage applied to the Appendix

A Salary Schedule.

- 16.9 Summer School Pay. Any percentage increase applied to the Certificated Salary Schedule will apply to the hourly rate for summer school. Home teaching hourly rate, ISP hourly rate, and extra duty stipends shall be increased by the amount which the schedule is increased.
- 16.10 Professional Salary Advancement. To provide guidance for professional growth of certificated staff, the District requires the following regarding the acceptance of course work for salary advancement.
 - 16.10.1 Salary advancement will be granted to employees for upper division or graduate courses selected by employees of the District, that meet one (1) of the following criteria:
 - 16.10.1.1 Course must be in the individual's major or minor or pertain to the individual's current contract assignment;
 - 16.10.1.2 Course must be professionally applicable;
 - 16.10.1.3 Course work taken to prepare for subject areas outside of a teacher's major or minor will be granted salary column approval upon said subject authorization on the teacher's credential.
 - 16.10.2 Courses for salary advancement must be submitted no later than October 15th to qualify for salary advancement in the current school year.
 - 16.10.3 Approval of courses taken will be the responsibility of the Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources.
 - 16.10.4 Any decision disapproving a proposed course may be referred to a Professional Salary Advancement Advisory Committee within 15 working days of the administrative decision, using the form provided. This committee shall consist of two (2) classroom teachers, two (2) administrators, and a fifth member chosen from District certificated personnel by the four (4) members; a chairperson shall be selected. The aforementioned committee shall be constituted, as needed, in order to address appeals filed by certificated teaching staff. Decisions of the committee members shall be by majority vote and shall be made within 15 working days.
 - 16.10.5 Any further appeal shall be to the Board of Trustees by either the employee or the administration.
 - 16.10.6 Before a class change can be made; official transcripts must be on file with the District Office for all units earned. Submission of official verification of course completion, prior to the October 15 date specified for advancement on the salary schedule, shall be the responsibility of the individual.
- 16.11 The following chart shows the compensation agreements for the term of this contract:

	2022-2023	2023-2024	<u>2024-2025</u>
On schedule	9.0%	TBD U/S	TBD U/S
On schedule from LRBG and deducted from Unit	2.25%	0	0

Share Expenses only for the term of this agreement (Other funding sources will be used for Adult Education)	12 hours of direct services to students outside the traditional work day; Defined Assignment list Timesheet to verify service. No carryover	2 Services-Based 6 hour Preview Days for students August 10, 2023 August 11, 2023 -or- 12 hours of direct services to students outside the traditional work day as per Article 18.2.1.	2 Services-Based 6 hour Preview Days August 8, 2024 August 9, 2024 -or- 12 hours of direct services to students outside the traditional work day as per Article 18.2.1.
Off Schedule from US Reserve	2.75%	TBD U/S	TBD U/S
H/W contribution from US Reserve	2.3 million	1.5 million	1.5 million
US Reserve	6% Hold Harmless by District 22-23 only	TBD U/S 3% minimum if surplus	TBD U/S 3% minimum if surplus
H/W District contribution	1M	1M	1M

ARTICLE 17. FRINGE BENEFITS

Preamble:

Except as provided in this Article 17, it is a requirement that all employees of the OUHSD, their spouses and their dependent-coverage eligible children enroll in Medicare when the employee has retired and when the employee, their spouse and their dependent-coverage eligible children are all Medicare eligible so that, in conjunction with a supplement health policy supplied, the employee, their spouse and their dependent-coverage eligible children will have health insurance coverage for the life of the retired employee.

It is the intent of this section to encourage all employees of the OUHSD to achieve eligibility for Medicare benefits so that when they are retired and have reached Medicare eligibility, in conjunction with a supplement health policy supplied and paid for by Unit Share, they and their dependents will have health insurance coverage for the life of the retired employee.

It is also the intent of this section to have the OUHSD supply and pay for health benefits for an employee hired prior to July 1, 2004 upon their retirement and their reaching Medicare eligibility, and to their eligible dependents for the life of the retiree when the retiree cannot achieve 40 Medicare quarters by the age of 55. Thus an employee aged 49 with 18 Medicare quarters, could, if the Medicare division took place within the next six (6) months, acquire at least 22 additional quarters by the age of 55, whereas an employee of the same age with 14 quarters could not acquire 40 quarters by age 55. The health plan supplied and paid for by the OUHSD to this group of employees will be at least equal to the plan supplied to active employees in the District.

It is also the intention of this section to guarantee health benefits supplied and paid for by the OUHSD to all retirees hired prior to July 1, 2004 between the ages of 55 and 65 and to their dependent-coverage eligible children during the life of the retirees. This health policy shall be the same as that supplied to employees then currently active in the OUHSD.

It is further understood that an employee to be eligible for any retiree health benefits must have worked a minimum of 15 years in the OUHSD and be 55 years of age.

For all active unit members:

- 17.1 The District shall provide a health insurance program through Coastal Schools Employee Benefit Organization (CSEBO) or successor organization.
 - 17.1.1 The Federation and the District shall have equal representation on the CSEBO (or successor organization) Executive Board. The Federation shall have the right to appoint a representative of their choosing.
 - 17.1.2 If available, the District shall include a Health Savings Account ("HSA") plan for each type of health plan offered to unit members (e.g., Kaiser, Anthem PPO, Anthem HMO). If an employee selects an HSA version of a plan, the employee will receive 40% of any savings achieved by their choosing the HSA version of the plan.
 - 17.1.3 Employees shall not be required to make a premium contribution toward any Kaiser benefit plans. For all non-Kaiser plans, the employee contribution toward benefit premiums shall not be increased for the duration of this contract.
- 17.2 The District shall provide and pay for a dental insurance program (the same program as is in effect at the time of ratification) through said Coastal Schools Employees Benefit Organization or successor organization.

- 17.3 The District shall provide and pay for a Vision Service Plan.
- 17.4 The District shall provide and pay for a mutually agreed upon life insurance program.
- 17.5 The District shall maintain the benefits described in sections 17.1 through 17.4 above, for the duration of this agreement, unless mutually agreed to revise coverage.
- Unless modified in subsequent negotiations for a successor agreement, upon the expiration of this Agreement the District shall only be obligated to continue contributing the premium amounts then in force for the fringe benefit coverages described in sections 17.1 through 17.5 above.
- 17.7 Medicare. Upon retirement, current employees hired prior to July 1, 2004 who have reached the age of 55 with 15 years of District service shall be covered at District expense with the then current District medical plan for active employees for the retiree and dependents for the lifetime of the retiree, except as restricted below.
 - 17.7.1 All employees 45 or younger, on December 1, 1992, and dependents eligible for District coverage, will receive the District's supplementary insurance upon retirement and having reached that age at which Medicare is generally granted to participants (currently age 65). However, it is not necessary for an individual to be eligible for Medicare to receive the District's supplementary package.
 - 17.7.2 Employees older than 45 on December 1, 1992, who could achieve a total of forty quarters toward Medicare eligibility by age 55 and dependents eligible for District coverage, will receive only the District's supplementary insurance upon retirement and having reached that age at which Medicare is generally granted to participants (currently age 65). However, it is not necessary for an individual to be eligible for Medicare to receive the District's supplementary package.
 - 17.7.3 The District supplementary plan when added to Part A and Part B of Medicare will provide coverage at least equivalent to the then existing health plan of the District. If a Medicare eligible employee or retiree, covered spouse, and dependent-coverage eligible children are all eligible for Medicare but do not elect Medicare Part A and Part B, they forfeit their rights to the Districts post-retirement medical coverage. The Medicare eligible employee or retiree must provide proof of Medicare coverage within 30 days of the employee and family member(s) becoming Medicare eligible. All retirees must pay their employee contribution to the District and, if the retiree has not paid for the employee contribution of medical benefits for over 60 days, the retiree will forfeit the continuation of rights for the retiree and their family member(s) to post-retirement medical benefits from the District. Upon filing paperwork with CalSTRS/CalPERS, Medicare eligible employee's contribution of post-retirement benefits.
 - 17.7.4 At hired prior to July 1, 2004, the District may at its option substitute Medicare Parts A and B and the District supplementary insurance plan for its own then existing District medical plan as long as this plan it at least equivalent to the plan provided to then active OUHSD unit members.
- 17.8 If the Retiree Medical Benefit funding entity is dissolved during the life of this contract, the surplus after the liabilities are paid will be assigned to all beneficiaries.
- 17.9 There shall be a joint Federation/District standing Medical Benefits Committee to monitor

and review Employee Insurance to maximize coverage and minimize cost. Federation shall appoint one (1) participant from each comprehensive school and the alternative programs. Federation shall also appoint a representative from the classified and paraeducator unit. The District shall appoint a maximum of five (5) participants who are current District employees. Representatives shall serve two-year, renewable terms. The chair of the committee shall rotate annually between Federation and the District. The committee shall be responsible for making recommendations to the District and Federation regarding health benefits and overseeing health benefits for active employees, analyzing medical, dental and vision programs. The representatives or alternatives from the District and Federation to CSEBO or a successor organization shall report to the committee and keep them informed on a regular basis.

- 17.10 The District and Federation agree to form a joint committee to develop a plan for a Bridge to Medicare for employees hired on July 1, 2004 or thereafter.
- 17.11 Subject to agreement of the health benefit providers, unit members hired after July 1, 2004 shall be afforded the ability to purchase medical benefits at their own cost through the District health benefit providers until such time as the unit member turns 65.

ARTICLE 18. WORKDAY AND WORK YEAR

18.1 Workday

- 18.1.1 The certificated school-based workday is to be structured and directed by the building principal. For the certificated non school-based positions of Instructional Specialist, Program Specialist, and Behavior Intervention Specialist, the workday will be structured by the administrator overseeing the position, and consist of 7 hours plus a duty free lunch.
 - 18.1.1.1 The certificated workday shall begin 30 minutes before the staff member's first assignment, or 30 minutes before the teacher's preparation/conference period if said period is the first of the day.
 - 18.1.1.2 The certificated workday shall end after the staff member's last professional assignment, or after the teacher's conference period, if said period is the last of the day, provided that the regularly scheduled duty and adjunct duty, if any, are properly completed.
 - 18.1.1.3 The Semester Prep Day at the end of the first semester shall be a meeting-free day on campus.
 - 18.1.1.4 All certificated unit members' workday shall include a duty-free lunch.
 - 18.1.1.5 Teacher Librarians or any unit member who works in the Library Media Center at lunch shall be compensated commensurate with the student contact rate.
- 18.1.2 The provisions of sections 18.1.1.2 above may only be extended when unit members are required to provide the safe entry and safe dismissal of students during a national disaster, student unrest, or school emergency.
- 18.1.3 In addition to the basic workday provisions described above, unit members shall be required to perform one (1) adjunct duty assignment. One (1) adjunct duty assignment can be a sequence of tasks adding up to approximately 12 allocated hours of duty in accordance with past practice. If adequate period substituting is available, those not wishing to perform a particular adjunct duty may satisfy the requirement by substituting for 12 teaching periods for semesters and 10 teaching periods for trimesters and 8 periods for quarters. The District shall make a good faith effort to distribute equitably the adjunct duty assignments among unit members at a given site and shall give priority consideration to employee preference for a particular duty.
 - 18.1.3.1 If requested, a Special Education teacher will have all adjunct duties forgiven for the duration of the contract. After the special education teacher has attended 12 hours in IEPS, any subsequent IEP meetings held prior to or after school hours, during their prep, or lunch shall be compensated at the Extra Duty Student Contact hourly rate provided in Appendix E, or compensatory time.
- 18.1.4 The District agrees to allow one (1) certificated representative at each high school to satisfy their adjunct duty assignment by service as a Federation representative, and a maximum of three (3) members elected to serve as certificated members on the School Site Council shall have that role as their adjunct duty.

- 18.1.5 The District shall make a good faith effort to schedule no more than two (2) meetings per month; one (1) faculty meeting and one (1) department meeting. The maximum length of each meeting is to be one (1) hour. These meetings are to start 10 minutes after the end of the school regular school day except for campuses that have voted to hold their meetings during collaboration time. The exception shall be WASC accreditation meetings held during the self-study process, beginning no earlier than one year prior to the accreditation visit. This will not limit participation at voluntary meetings, meetings that are fulfilling adjunct duties, or meetings for which stipends are paid.
 - 18.1.5.1 The District will allow time for Federation business during the first ten minutes or last ten minutes of the monthly faculty meeting.
 - 18.1.5.2 In addition to the meetings provided in Article 18.1.5, the District may schedule up to five (5) meetings per year, of no more than one hour, for teacher led professional learning to be held during established collaboration time. The content of the meetings shall be planned and scheduled by the site instructional leadership team. The meetings will not be directed by the District, Principal or designee.
 - 18.1.5.3 If the District requires unit members to use their preparation/conference period for testing purposes, they shall be compensated on an hour for hour basis by the member's selection of either comp time or pay at the student contact rate.

18.1.6 Attendance at IEP Meetings

- 18.1.6.1 A general education teacher and an administrator will be present for the complete IEP meeting of every OUHSD student as required members of the IEP team. The general education teacher is required to attend, regardless of whether that student is enrolled in their classes. In compliance with 34 C.V.R. 300.321 €(1) and E.E. 54341 (g), a general education teacher may be excused from this meeting, in whole or in part, under the following conditions:
 - 1) that both the parent of a child with the disability, in writing, and administrator consent after conferring with the teacher; and
 - 2) provided that the general education teacher submits in writing input into the development of the IEP; or
 - 3) if the IEP team determines that the attendance of the member is not necessary because the member's area of the curriculum or related services is not being modified or discussed in the meeting. Provided the District gives two business days' notice, any and all of the student's teachers not attending the IEP meeting will submit, prior to the IEP meeting, a copy of the student's current grades and assignments, comments on behavior, work, effort and participation of the student in class and recommendations for any accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids or services necessary for the student in their class that they wish the IEP team to consider.
- 18.1.6.2 When a general education teacher is required to attend an IEP meeting during their conference period, they may choose to be compensated either by an additional period of comp time or paid at

the traditional hourly substitute comp rate. When the IEP team meeting is prior to, or after school hours, any Unit Share member in attendance will be compensated at the hourly rate calculated at the student contact rate. All compensation costs are to be borne by the District's share of the Unit Share.

18.1.6.3 Where the parents of a special education student have not stated a preference, the District will make a good faith effort to equitably distribute the assignment of IEP participation within the guidelines of 71 Fed. Reg. 46.675 (2006) among the certificated staff.

Further, the District will make a good faith effort to notify a general education teacher of an IEP meeting in which their attendance is required not less than 24 hours in advance of the meetings. Likewise, the District will make a good faith effort to notify the general education teacher of a meeting cancellation within 24 hours prior.

When the general education teacher attends a meeting which is cancelled with five minutes notice or less before the schedule meeting, the teacher will be entitled to one hour of compensation corresponding to the time periods described above.

18.1.6.4 Every reasonable effort will be made to minimize the loss of teacher instructional time due to IEP attendance.

18.2 Work year

- 18.2.1 The work year will consist of 184 days which consist of 180 instructional days, plus two (2) semester prep days, two (2) staff development days, and, for teachers new to the District, three (3) additional paid days of service of not more than six (6) hours each.
 - 18.2.1.1 For the 22-23 School Year Certificated Staff will provide 12 hours of direct services to students to support learning recovery as authorized by the criteria of the Learning Recovery Block Grant. See Appendix J for possible activities.
 - 18.2.1.2 For the 23-24 School Year Certificated Staff will provide 6 hours of direct services to students to support learning recovery as authorized by the criteria of the Learning Recovery Block Grant on two designated preview days August 10, 2023 and August 11, 2023. Certificated Staff unable to attend these days will verify their absence with the Principal prior to these days and will provide 12 hours of direct services to students to support learning recovery as authorized by the criteria of the Learning Recovery Block Grant. See Appendix J for possible activities.
 - 18.2.1.3 For the 24-25 School Year Certificated Staff will provide 6 hours of direct services to students to support learning recovery as authorized by the criteria of the Learning Recovery Block Grant on two designated preview days August 8, 2024 and August 9, 2024. Certificated Staff unable to attend these days will verify their absence with the Principal prior to these days and will provide 12 hours of direct services to students to support learning recovery as authorized by the criteria of the Learning Recovery Block Grant. See Appendix J for possible activities.

- 18.2.2 Counselors employed prior to or for the school year 1987-88 will continue at their current salary levels and current workday. A counselor work year shall be nine days longer than the teacher work year and be reimbursed at the per diem rate. The Speech and Language Pathologists and Visually Impaired Specialists shall be placed at the closest step in Column IV to their present level of pay and shall work a teacher work year. Psychologists and Student Wellness Specialists will work 193 days and be placed on the Psychologists' and Student Wellness Specialist Salary schedule.
- 18.2.3 New school year calendars shall be developed by both the District and the Federation and shall be subject to approval by the OFTSE Executive Board and the Board of Trustees, as well as an approval vote by the full Federation membership.
- 18.3 Minutes of the School Day. The minutes of the comprehensive school day shall be an average of 368.
 - 18.3.1 Full-time regular classroom teachers will teach five (5) instructional periods in semesters or four (4) instructional periods in Trimesters, or three (3) instructional periods in quarters, and have one (1) preparation/conference period per day. Site administrators will make a good faith effort to insure that instructional time and testing assignments are equitable.
 - 18.3.2 Modifications to the daily bell schedule shall be developed jointly by the District and Federation members at each site and may be implemented only upon the recommendation of a vote of certificated unit members at the site in question on a single bell schedule. This vote shall be conducted in a single day provided that absentee ballots are made available. Modifications shall be ratified by a 2/3 majority of those voting (full-time or part-time, including those on sabbatical leave.) Voting will take place no more than twice per year per site and will be monitored by the District and Federation representatives.
- 18.4 Minimum Days. There will be a minimum of seven (7) and a maximum of 12 minimum days per year.
 - 18.4.1 Three (3) days for final exams per each semester, or two (2) days for final exams per each quarter/trimester.
 - 18.4.2 Two (2) days for Back-to-School Day and Open House/Eighth Grade Parent Night during which certificated staff are to attend related evening activities.
 - 18.4.2.1 Three (3) voluntary days for Continuation School certificated employees for New Student Orientation.
 - 18.4.3 Up to four (4) discretionary minimum days. The days and content of the meetings shall be planned and scheduled by the site instructional leadership team. Meeting content will not be directed by the District, principal, or designee. The meetings will conclude by the end of the traditional school day.
 - 18.4.4 A minimum day shall be defined as containing 240 minutes including passing periods, or whatever number of minutes that may be necessary to comply with state requirements.
 - 18.4.5 All sites will participate equally in the use of District designated minimum days as allowed by law.
 - 18.4.6 District designated Emergency (Minimum) Days are minimum days for students and certificated staff. District designated Emergency Days will replace Minimum

Days in the following order:

- 18.4.6.1 Any excess minutes built into the school year instructional minutes.
- 18.4.6.2 Four (4) discretionary minimum days;
- 18.4.6.3 Up to Three (3) days per each semester, or two (2) days per each quarter /trimester for final exams.
- 18.4.6.4 Two (2) days for Back to School and Open House/Eighth Grade Parent Night;
- 18.5 Scheduling. The District agrees to make a good faith effort to notify unit members of their tentative assignments for the upcoming term two (2) weeks prior to the close of the current term.

18.6 Compensatory time

- 18.6.1 Compensatory time will be given for period substituting at the rate of one (1) period of release time for each period taught.
- 18.6.2 No more than eight (8) days compensatory time may be earned in an academic year.
- 18.6.3 Compensatory time will be approved provided the employee gives a notice of at least one week. Approval might not be automatically granted for the day before Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, February Break, Spring Recess, and any calendared holiday weekend, depending on the needs of the site.
- 18.6.4 If a teacher is satisfying their adjunct duty requirements through period substituting, the teacher must have exhausted their twelve (12) hours of responsibility prior to earning compensatory time.
- 18.6.5 It is the intent of the compensatory time program to have all of the mandatory hours within a period used prior to granting compensatory time. However, it is recognized that in particular instances it might be impossible and principals may waive the intent when necessary.
- 18.6.6 Compensatory time may be taken as whole school days unless approved by the principal or designee, and normally should be taken no later than one school year after it is accumulated. Any unused comp time will be carried over for one school year.
- 18.6.7 A teacher may elect the option of compensatory time or compensation at the student contact rate.
- 18.6.8 Counselors and Student Wellness Specialists will be allowed to flex their scheduled work time to compensate for time spent working scheduled or specifically assigned evenings such as Parent nights; and Saturday assignments such as orientation and registration events. Use of flex time shall be mutually agreed to with the employee's direct supervisor.

ARTICLE 19. WORKING CONDITIONS

- 19.1 Teacher Librarians at each school site shall have the same start and end time as regular classroom unit members.
 - 19.1.1 Unit members who are chosen to work in the LMC at lunch will be required to attend in-service training with the site Library Media Teacher.
 - 19.1.2 Library Media Teachers shall hold appropriate library science credentials. All exceptions shall be mutually agreed to by the Federation and the District.
- 19.2 The District shall limit teacher preparations to no more than three (3) per day, provided there is no marked change in District enrollment or staffing allocation patterns, except upon mutual agreement between the teacher and the site administration.
- 19.3 The lunchtime supervision by counselors, psychologists, speech and language pathologists, LMT's and nurses shall be the equivalent of other unit members. Night and evening supervision for adjunct duties as opposed to job description responsibilities will be assigned in the same way for the same amount of time as for other unit members.
- 19.4 The above supervision restriction does not include situations where the principal believes that the safety or the security of the campus requires the temporary assignment of additional staff nor the limited use of counselors and psychologists for occasional campus supervision in the morning and afternoons.
- 19.5 It is understood that the above unit members will render alternative professional duties during the time frame where they formerly rendered supervision duties. Plans for the alternative lunchtime duties shall be mutually agreed upon with the principal.
- 19.6 Each principal with the assistance of a staff committee will present a plan to the complete staff on or before September 15 of each school year to reduce class interruptions.
- 19.7 Traveling Teachers
 - 19.7.1 Traveling teachers shall have their prep and lunch period scheduled next to each other. They will attend one (1) faculty meeting and one (1) department meeting a month and one (1) Open House and one (1) Back to School Night. Meetings to be at the majority assignment site. A reserved parking space shall be assigned. Traveling teachers will be compensated for mileage between the two school sites.
 - 19.7.2 The District will make all efforts to prevent teachers from teaching at more than one (1) school site. When this is not feasible, teachers shall be supported by making a good faith effort not to assign more than two (2) preparations, restricting required travel to a single year, requiring faculty meetings only at the majority assignment, and scheduling preparation and lunch periods back-to-back. Mileage expense will be paid according to District-practice.
 - 19.7.3 An employee who is authorized and directed in writing by the District to travel in their automobile on official District business shall be reimbursed for said travel at the rate established by the Board of Trustees, and in conformance with laws and regulations including but not limited to Home Hospital Teachers, Independent Study Teachers, and Teachers on Special Assignment.
- 19.8 Teachers who coach a team sport shall be limited to one (1) athletic period in that sport in either the Spring or Fall semester in any given school year.

- 19.9 Teachers will comply with the Education Code by submitting attendance once daily.
- 19.10 If the District wishes to adopt a new District-wide method for tracking grades, a committee made up of District personnel and unit members, appointed by the Federation, will be formed to review and recommend appropriate software for this adoption.
 - 19.10.1 Teachers on a reasonably current basis, shall input grades for coursework, homework, quizzes and tests into the District's online student information system grading program. Training shall be provided to any teacher needing assistance in utilizing the online system.
- 19.11 Job descriptions shall be developed and negotiated for all certificated unit members that are aligned with state and national standards.
- 19.12 In the event a school is closed due to an emergency the employees shall, typically, be reassigned on a temporary basis to another location. If a school is evacuated during the school day, employees shall suffer no loss of pay or accumulated leave for that day.
- 19.13 In accordance with California Code of Regulations Title V, all certificated members who prepare IEPs and/or 504s shall have adequate, quiet, and private work space for testing and conferences with parents, students, staff, and/or other outside agencies.
 - 19.13.1 Speech and language Pathologists shall have a work space of no less than 200 sq. feet.

ARTICLE 20. PROFESSIONAL DUES OR FEES AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- 20.1 The District and the Federation recognize the right of employees to form, join, and participate in lawful activities of employee organizations and the equal alternative right of employees to refuse to form, join, and participate in employee organizations. Neither party shall exert pressure on or discriminate against any employee for exercising nor not exercising the membership, participation or organizational activities rights guaranteed herein or for membership or non-membership in the Federation.
- 20.2 The District shall deduct from the pay of Federation members and pay to the Federation the normal and regular monthly Federation membership dues as voluntarily authorized electronically or in writing by the employee on the District form subject to the following conditions:
 - 20.2.1 Such deduction shall be made upon submission of the electronic or printed membership form to the District Payroll Department, duly completed and executed by the employee.
 - 20.2.2 The District shall not be obligated to implement any new Federation monthly dues deduction until the pay period commencing not less than 30 workdays after such submission.
 - 20.2.3 The District shall, on a monthly basis, draw its order upon the funds of the District in favor of the Federation for an amount equal to the total of the dues deduction made during the month and shall furnish the Federation a list of all employees affected, together with the amount deducted for each.
 - 20.2.4 The revocable written authorization shall remain in effect until expressly revoked in writing by the employee, pursuant to the terms of the written authorization.
 - 20.2.5 Employees wishing to cancel, revoke and/or submit their Federation membership or dues deduction authorization will be referred to the Federation. The only actions to be taken by the District if an employee approaches it regarding authorizing, changing or cancelling dues deductions will be to direct the employee to the Federation by notifying the Federation in writing of such issues.
 - 20.2.6 Upon appropriate written authorization from the employee, the District shall deduct from the salary of any employee and make appropriate remittance for Committee on Political Education (COPE), credit union, savings bonds, charitable donations, or any other plans or programs approved by the District.
 - 20.2.7 The Federation agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the District, its members, and each member of the management against any and all costs, losses, or damages because of civil or other action arising from the administration and implementation of these provisions. Any clerical errors will be corrected by the party making the error, with the provision that if any such dues are deducted from the pay of any employee and remitted to the Federation, and the employee does not owe same, the Federation shall refund the same to the employee and the District shall not be liable for any refund. The Federation agrees to furnish any information needed by the District to fulfill these provisions.

ARTICLE 21. GAINFUL EMPLOYMENT AND EXTRA DUTY ASSIGNMENTS

21.1 Additional Gainful Employment Clause

- 21.1.1 The District is willing to have a two-level interview process for head coaches. The first level would include Federation, community, and administrative participation to recommend the top three (3) candidates to the principal who shall make the final decision which may include the rejection of all three (3). The principal is to choose the best-qualified candidate. Best qualified is to be based upon a consideration of what is best for the academic and athletic program of the District. In-District candidates shall be interviewed.
- 21.1.2 In-District candidates who are not selected may either receive in writing the reasons for non-selection or request to meet with the principal to learn why they were not selected.
- 21.1.3 For other positions with the school for which unit members may earn additional income, the principal shall devise a process by which such positions are assigned equitably, inform the faculty of the process and advertise the position. The District will keep the position open for at least five (5) business days. If the need is critical and timely, and the Federation is informed of the decision made, exceptions may be made to the five day provision to temporarily appoint an interim person until the five day process can be completed.
 - 21.1.3.1 To maintain quality media services for students provided by the Library Media Center extended hours shall include any hours before or after the school day and/or during lunch. Certain qualifications are required in order to provide this quality service. Therefore, the Library Media Teacher shall be considered for this additional gainful employment. If declined, applicants who hold a Library Science credential shall be considered.
 - 21.1.3.2 In those instances where there is no one with the Library Science credential available, other unit members will be considered. The position will be advertised and interviews will be held on site. The unit member selected will be trained according to 19.1.2.
 - 21.1.3.3 In order to provide continuity in the library instructional program, teachers selected for lunch or extended hours shall serve a one-year term.

21.1.4 Additional Gainful Employment

Selection of hourly candidates shall be according to the following criteria:

- 1. All unit members who are properly credentialed for a position for which they apply shall be deemed qualified unless they do not meet criteria agreed upon by both the OUHSD and the Federation. Some hourly positions may be subject to in-service training. If a position is subject to in-service training the District shall offer the training concurrent to determining eligibility for selection for the position.
- 2. Properly credentialed members who apply for any hourly position included shall be ranked according to the following criteria:
 - a. six (6) points shall be awarded to the candidate if they have served in

- any position included in this section during the semester prior to the semester for which the position in question has been applied;
- b. five (5) points shall be awarded to the candidate if they have served in any position included in this section two (2) semesters prior to the semester for which the position in question has been applied;
- c. four (4) points shall be awarded to the candidate if they have served in any position included in this section three (3) semesters prior to the semester for which the position in question has been applied;
- d. three (3) points shall be awarded to the candidate if they have served in any position included in this section four (4) semesters prior to the semester for which the position in question has been applied;
- e. two (2) points shall be awarded to the candidate if they have served in any position included in this section five (5) semesters prior to the semester for which the position in question has been applied;
- f. one (1) point shall be awarded to the candidate if they have served in any position included in this section six (6) semesters prior to the semester for which the position in question has been applied.
- 3. The candidate with the *lowest* point total shall be awarded the position.
- 4. Unless agreed upon by the OUHSD and the Federation, positions shall be awarded on a semester basis.
- 5. In case two (2) or more qualified candidates shall have the same point totals, seniority in the OUHSD shall determine the successful candidate. The candidate with the greatest amount of service to the OUHSD shall be deemed the successful candidate.
- 6. In case of point ties after seniority has been applied, a coin flip or other random selection mechanism agreed upon by all affected candidates shall be employed.
- 7. If a candidate accepts a position and then fails to fulfill the duties of the position for the entire semester, the second ranked qualified candidate shall be offered the position.
- 8. Acceptance of a position or partial service in a position shall be deemed sufficient to earn that candidate the same number of points awarded had they served in that position the entire semester.
- 9. Points shall be awarded for positions included in this section beginning with the fall, 1995-96 semester.
- 10. An example follows for a position available during the fall semester.
 - a. Teacher A has served in a position during the previous fall semester and has served 11 years in the OUHSD. Teacher A has a total of five (5) points.
 - b. Teacher B has served in a position during the previous spring semester and has served 15 years in the OUHSD. Teacher B has a total of six (6) points.

- c. Teacher C has served in a position during both of the previous two (2) semesters and has served 29 years in the OUHSD. Teacher C has a total of 11 points.
- d. Teacher D has served in a position during the previous fall semester and has served 17 years in OUHSD. Teacher D has a total of five (5) points.
- e. Teacher A and D have the same number of points and are low point leaders among the teachers who applied for the position. However, Teacher D has more seniority than Teacher A. Therefore, Teacher D is awarded the position.
- f. If Teacher D should refuse the position, then Teacher A would be offered the position, and upon refusal, the next lowest point total teacher shall be offered the position.
- 11. A unit member may concurrently hold more than one (1) position included in this section only if there were no other qualified candidates who had applied for any of the positions awarded to said unit member.
- 12. Per Section 44919(b) of the Education Code, an in-District candidate for a coaching position who meets the minimum qualifications set out in the posting for the coaching position will be selected. This process does not require the appointment or the consideration of a coach who has already been removed from a coaching position with the District. The process does not prevent the employment of a teacher simultaneous with the teacher's selection for a coaching position. Head coaches of varsity sports are not responsible for hiring but are responsible for the provision of input for hiring decisions both for lower level coaching programs and their own teams. All final decisions on coaching are made by the school principal in consultation with the Director of Athletics.

The District and Federation share a commitment to excellence in the performance of extra duty assignments and this Article is intended to promote ethical and competent service in accordance with the District's policies, regulations (including BP/AR 6145.2), and directives by each coach, athletic director, and any other unit member assigned to extra duty work.

For the first two years after the initial appointment to an extra duty assignment, a unit member will serve on a probationary basis during which they may be released from the position at the end of the year upon written notice. After the probationary period, a unit member may be removed by the principal from an additional gainful employment position during the school year provided that the principal first provides to the unit member a written description of the performance deficiencies and provided an opportunity for improvement, except in cases involving serious or egregious conduct, poor judgment, or violation of the District's policies or regulations, where a unit member may be removed immediately. Gainful employment positions shall include coaches, and all extra-curricular paid assignments.

- 13. All head coaches and athletic directors may be evaluated by the principal or designee within one month of the completion of their season.
- 21.1.5 All vacant stipend positions for coaching shall be advertised to all unit members, via global email.

- 21.2.1 All extra-duty positions in Appendix D shall have a job description. These descriptions will include duties and responsibilities, number of students supervised, number of competitions/performances, and/or number of hours required to earn the appropriate stipend.
- 21.2.2 There shall be a five-level system for extra-duty pay. All certificated extra-duty employees within the District shall be paid a percentage (see Appendix D) of their "step" in Class I of the Certificated Salary Schedule. Percentages are as follows: Level 1 = 8.25%, Level 2 = 6.75%, Level 3 = 5.5%, Level 4 = 4.0%, Level 5 = 2.5%.
- 21.2.3 Each "step" on the Extra Duty Pay Schedule is equivalent to one (1) documented term of service in a specific area/sport. Extra duty service performed within the District shall count for advancement in "step"; however, experience in one area/sport shall not count toward advancement in another. All employees shall receive credit for past service within the District. No credit will be given for experience outside the District.
- 21.2.4 After eleven (11) years of service in the same area/sport, one hundred-fifty dollars (\$150.00) will be added to the certificated employee's unit member's extra duty stipend.
- 21.2.5 If rehired, certificated employees who have left extra duty assignments within the District shall be able to re-enter at one step above their previously attained step.
- 21.2.6 Head athletic coaches shall be paid three hundred (\$300.00) and District stipended varsity assistant coaches one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) for post-season CIF playoff competition. Any music program director or cheer team head coach who chaperones their program to perform at post-season CIF playoff competitions shall be entitled to this payment.
- 21.2.7 An athletic coach may not be paid for more than one (1) coaching position per season of sport. Unit members receiving Extra Duty Pay may only receive one (1) stipend per semester unless the position has been posted and no other qualified certificated unit member applied for the position.
- 21.2.8 All vacant athletic coaching positions shall be advertised at all District school sites.
- 21.2.9 The District will notify all employees of vacant coaching positions occurring during a vacation period (two (2) weeks prior to Winter, Spring, and two (2) weeks prior to and during Summer Break) via email and postings on the District website.
- 21.2.10 Unit members interested in a coaching position filled by a walk-on coach may submit a resume and letter of interest for the principal's consideration.
- 21.2.11 Semester Schedule: Effective 2022-2023 academic school year, a 1.0 FTE who teaches a sixth (6) class (1.2) on a semester calendar shall be compensated at a rate of one-fifth (1/5th) of their daily rate for the additional period.
 - 21.2.11.1 Trimester Schedule: Effective 2022-2023 academic school year, a 1.0 FTE who teaches a fifth (5) class (1.25) on a trimester calendar shall be compensated at a rate of one-fourth (1/4th) of their daily rate for the

additional period.

21.2.11.2 Quarter Schedule: Effective 2022-2023 academic school year, a 1.0 FTE who teaches a fourth (4) class (1.33) on a quarter calendar shall be compensated at a rate of one-third (1/3rd) of their daily rate for the additional period.

ARTICLE 22. ACADEMIC FREEDOM

The District accepts and values that teachers use individual creativity and diverse strategies to deliver Standards-Based Curriculum to its students. The District shall not use a unit member's personal or academic beliefs in any action against the unit member unless said personal or academic beliefs affect the unit member's job performance.

ARTICLE 23. EFFECTS OF LAYOFF

- 23.1 The provision of this article shall deal with reduction in force actions the District may initiate pursuant to Education Code § 44955 and 44955.5.
- 23.2 The Federation and the District agree that the collective bargaining agreement presently in effect shall so continue as presented in said agreement, including all articles and side letters.
- 23.3 The Federation and the District understand the legal provisions of the Education Code regarding reduction in force actions by the District and nothing contained herein shall be construed to impede any possible District implementation of said legal provisions, or the assignment of professional bargaining unit services related thereto; nor shall it be construed to remove the reduction in force protection of the Education Code for unit members.
- 23.4 The District and the Federation agree that all Education Code procedural requirements and provisions for layoff of unit members shall be observed if the District determines that reductions in force are necessary.
- For the purpose of prioritizing those employees who have received a layoff notice and who have been determined to have the same day of first service, the criteria for prioritization shall be determined by the District and shall be based upon the needs of the District and the students thereof.
- 23.6 Article 17 Fringe Benefits shall provide coverage through September 30 for those unit members who have worked a full school year and who are given layoff notice as a result of a reduction in force action by the Board on or before May 15 of the previous school year.
- 23.7 The District shall compensate any permanent (tenured) unit member who has been laid off in accordance with a reduction in force action at the unit member's daily rate of pay should the unit member be used in a substitute capacity for a full-time absent employee. These former unit members shall be called for substitute service prior to regular day-to-day substitutes and shall be called for substitute service for a period not to exceed 39 months from the date of termination in accordance with the provisions of Education Code Section 49956.
- The District shall compensate any probationary unit member who has been laid off in accordance with a reduction in force action at 75% of the unit member's daily rate of pay should the unit member be used in a substitute capacity for an absent full-time employee. These former unit members shall be called for substitute service after the former employees described in Section 23.7, above, but prior to regular day-to-day substitutes, for a period not to exceed 24 months from the date of termination in accordance with Education Code 44957.
- 23.9 A laid-off employee shall be eligible to purchase fringe benefit coverage in accordance with Federal and State law.
- 23.10 When an employment opportunity exists, the District shall be obligated to make a reasonable effort to contact the former employee:
 - 23.10.1 When an employment opportunity is for a day-to-day or short-term substitute position, "reasonable effort" shall mean a telephone call to the last known telephone number of the employee.
 - 23.10.2 When the employment opportunity is for one (1) semester or more, "reasonable effort" shall mean the sending of a registered letter of notification to the last known

address of the former employee.

- 23.11 Employees given a March 15 notice of intended non-reemployment shall be entitled to use three (3) days of available personal necessity leave for purposes of bona fide job interviews with other prospective employers.
- 23.12 The District and the Federation agree that any alleged violation of this Article shall be reviewable only under existing administrative hearing or legal procedures in lieu of the provisions of Article 7, Grievance and Arbitration Procedures.
- 23.13 Except as provided for in this Agreement, the District and the Federation each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter related to reduction in force actions, and the effects related thereto even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this agreement.

ARTICLE 24. CONCERTED ACTIVITIES

- 24.1 It is agreed and understood that there will be no strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or refusal or failure to fully and faithfully perform job functions and responsibilities, or other interference with the operations of the District by the Federation, or by any of the Federation's officers, agents, or members during the term of this Agreement, including compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activity.
- 24.2 The Federation recognizes the duty and obligation of its representatives to comply with the provisions of this Agreement and to make every effort toward inducting all employees to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or other interference with the operations of the District by employees who are represented by it, the Federation agrees in good faith to take all necessary steps to cause those employees to cease such action.
- 24.3 It is agreed and understood that any employee violating this Article may be subject to discipline up to and including termination by the District.
- 24.4 It is understood that in the event this Article is violated, the District shall be entitled to withdraw any rights, privileges or services provided for in this Agreement from any employee and/or the Federation, and to take any other emergency action as needed.
- 24.5 It is also agreed that there will be no lockout of employees during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 25. EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- 25.1 It is understood and agreed that the specific provisions contained in this Agreement shall prevail over present and past District practices, procedures and regulations, and over State laws to the extent permitted by State law and that except as expressly provided by specific provisions of this Agreement, all lawful practices, procedures and regulations are discretionary within the District.
- 25.2 The District and the Federation shall make a mutual effort to work together regarding implementation and interpretation of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 26. SAVINGS

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such provision will be deemed invalid, to the extent permitted by such court decision, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect. The District and the Federation agree that they will meet within 30 days of said court decision to bargain about the severed portion(s) of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 27. THIS ARTICLE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

ARTICLE 28. DEPARTMENT CHAIRPERSON AND SELECTION PROCESS

- 28.1 Department Chairperson Selection Process
 - 28.1.1 A department chairperson shall be biennially nominated in writing at the regular March department meeting or at any time following the regular February department meeting and before the regular March department meeting. A nontenured unit member cannot be appointed as Department Chair; they may only be elected.
 - 28.1.2 The election shall be at the regular March or April department meeting.
 - 28.1.3 Except as stipulated later in this section, the term of the department chair shall be two (2) years beginning July 1 --- June 30 of the following year.
 - 28.1.4 The vote to select the chairperson shall be weighted by the number of periods taught in that department by each employee who works in the department. Each person shall be allotted one (1) vote for each period they teach in the department. All regularly contracted unit members may vote providing they are compensated by the OUHSD at the time of the election and fulfill one (1) of the following criteria:
 - (a) are full-time or part-time employees
 - (b) are on Sabbatical Leave
 - (c) are using Sick Leave
 - 28.1.5 All candidates receiving a simple majority of the votes cast shall be declared winner. If there are more than two (2) candidates and no candidate receives a majority of the votes cast, then there shall be an immediate runoff between the two (2) candidates who receive the greatest number of votes.
 - 28.1.6 In a case in which the department cannot determine a clear winner between two (2) candidates, the two (2) candidates each shall serve one year of the two-year term. Order of service shall be determined by a coin toss with the candidate with the most seniority calling the toss. The winner of the toss will choose which year they wish to serve.
 - 28.1.7 The election may be held by roll call. However, any member of the department may submit a request in writing that a Federation official conduct a secret ballot election. In such a case, a Federation official (either the Federation site representative, or in a case in which the site representative is a member of the affected department, the Federation Executive Director) shall conduct a secret ballot election.
 - 28.1.8 Department chairpersons shall have a job description which lists responsibilities to include (1) supporting the teaching efforts of other department members; (2) recommending departmental budget items; (3) providing direct input to the master schedule for the department's class offerings in regular and summer session; (4) assisting the site administrator in coordinating and determining assignments of department members to specific classes; (5) assisting in the balancing of enrollment in department classes; (6) consulting with members regarding curricular objectives; (7) gathering and disseminating research on effective subject matter teaching practices; (8) consulting with the site administrator or designee on departmental issues; (9) maintaining a harmonious and productive working environment within the department; and (10) convening

and attending required meetings.

- 28.1.9 An annual evaluation of the department chairperson shall be in writing and completed by the principal or designee with the input of the department members no later than the end of the fall semester. The department chairperson, if they elect, may respond to the evaluation in writing.
- 28.1.10 The evaluation shall be based solely upon the job description and the goals set by the department chair in conjunction with the principal and the department.
- 28.1.11 A department chair may be removed from the position of department chair before the expiration of their tenure in the position by one (1) of the following procedures:
 - 28.1.11.1 The Principal may remove a department chair by the following procedure:
 - 28.1.11.1.1 A written evaluation by the Principal, or Principal's designee, stipulates specific deficiencies in a department chair's performance in this position. These deficiencies shall be of sufficient gravity to seriously affect the efficient functioning of the department.
 - 28.1.11.1.2 The Principal, or Principal's designee shall, meet with the department chair to discuss the alleged deficiencies. The Principal, or designee, must stipulate in writing specific measures to correct the alleged deficiencies in the performance of the department chair.
 - 28.1.11.1.3 If, after a reasonable time, the department chair does not correct these deficiencies, the Principal may remove the department chair.
 - 28.1.11.2 A department may remove a department chair by the following procedure:
 - 28.1.11.2.1 Any member of the department shall present the Federation site representative (or in the case that the Federation site representative is a member of the affected department, the Federation Executive Director) with a petition requesting a new election.
 - a) This petition must be signed by department members representing at least fifty percent of the possible votes of that department.
 - 28.1.11.2.2 The Federation representative shall keep the names on this petition in confidence.
 - 28.1.11.2.3 The Federation representative shall inform the department chair that such a petition exists and that the department chair, at the next department meeting, shall announce that an election for department chair shall be held at the following department meeting.
 - 28.1.11.2.4 At the request of any department member, the Federation representative shall attend the meeting at which the recall election is scheduled to be announced.

- 28.1.11.3 An election for a department chair to replace one removed pursuant to 28.1.12 or 28.1.12.1 shall be conducted at the regular department meeting following the meeting at which the removal of the department chair is made known to the affected department and shall follow the procedures stipulated in 28.1.4 through 28.1.8.
- 28.1.11.4 In a case in which no department member is willing to serve as a department chair, the Principal may appoint either a willing faculty member who is not a member of the department or a member of management as interim department chair.
- 28.1.11.5 In case of the removal of a department chair pursuant to 28.8.12 or 28.8.12.1 above, the new department chair shall serve only until the regular term of the removed department chair expires.
- 28.1.11.6 If the department chair resigns, is transferred or is otherwise unable to continue serving, nominations will be held at the next department meeting. An election shall be held at the earliest possible opportunity. The new department chair shall fill out the remainder of the existing term.
- 28.1.11.7 Department chairs may maintain the past practice of sharing department chair duties and pay without having to replicate duties provided that only one of the two is designated to attend all mandatory district and site meetings. Such a designation may be changed no more than once per year.

28.2 Compensation

28.2.1 For any department with less than six (6) sections, the department chair shall be paid at the non-student contact rate for attendance at meetings outside of the school day, including but not limited to: any curricular meetings related to the department, meetings of other department chairs, or site meetings which would normally include department chairs.

ARTICLE 29. SUPPORT OF AGREEMENT

The District and the Federation agree that it is to their mutual benefit to encourage the resolution of differences through the meet and negotiation process. Therefore, it is agreed that the District and the Federation will support this Agreement.

ARTICLE 30. CONSULTATION

- 30.1 The Oxnard Federation of Teachers and the Oxnard Union High School District agree that they will consult on the following topics but are not limited to these items:
 - 30.1.1 The distribution of special education students into regular program classrooms in order to achieve compliance with governmental agency mainstreaming requirements and to achieve reasonable parity among members of the affected departments.
 - 30.1.2 Material changes in school finance that may occur during the life of the agreement that affect the Oxnard Union High School District.
 - 30.1.3 Modifications of approved calendars will only be made by mutual agreement to comply with legal requirements or significant implementation concerns.
 - 30.1.4 The Federation reserves the right to consult with the District concerning the planning and implementation of in-service training affecting unit members.
 - 30.1.5 Hiring is a management right and the District reserves the right to design the hiring process. The District agrees to consult with Federation on the selection process by having Federation appoint a panel of unit members, including department chairs, willing to serve on selection committees. The District will select from this panel and will use department chairs for hiring in their departments if they are available. Federation agrees to take ethnicity into consideration in the appointment of the panel to allow the District to meet its affirmative action goals. Federation has the option of having representation on all preliminary interview committees formed by the District for hiring of certificated positions. It is the District's right to include other staff as it deems appropriate for inclusion on those committees where Federation panel members are used.
 - 30.1.6 Nothing herein may be considered a waiver of rights regarding the duty to bargain.

ARTICLE 31. COMPLETION OF MEET AND NEGOTIATIONS

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make requests and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that all the understandings and agreements arrived at between the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, subject to the reopeners stated below, the District and Federation, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

ARTICLE 32. TERM AND RENEGOTIATIONS

This agreement shall be applied as of July 1, 2022 and remain in full force and effect up to and including June 30, 2025; and thereafter shall continue in effect from year to year, unless and until one of the parties notifies the other in writing no later than June 30, 2025, of its request to modify, amend or terminate the Agreement.

ARTICLE 33. ADULT AND CONTINUING EDUCATION

- 33.1 Adult School employees shall be covered by Article 1. Agreement and Recognition, Article 2. Definitions (except as modified below), Article 3. Federation Rights, Article 4. District Rights, Article 5. Non-Discrimination, Article 6. Progressive Discipline, Article 7 Grievance and Arbitration, Article 15. Employee Safety, Article 20. Professional Dues or Fees and Payroll Deductions, Article 22. Academic Freedom, Article 23. Effects of Layoff except for 23.1, 23.7, 23.8, 23.11, and 23.13, Article 24. Concerted Activities, Article 25. Effect of Agreement, Article 26. Savings, Article 29. Support of Agreement, Article 30. Consultation with the addition of Adult School to the language, Article 31. Completion of Meet and Negotiations, and Article 32. Term and Renegotiations.
- District and Federation have agreed to the provisions of this Article in recognition of the special conditions involved in the Adult School. Adult School is conducted by a combination of full-time and part-time employees trained in the methods to meet the learning needs of the District's youth and adult population in the areas of essential skills, lifelong learning, and vocational and occupational training. While it is recognized that Adult School personnel may be concurrently employed in other District programs including but not limited to 9-12, it is the intention of the parties that the employment relationship described in this Article, and the rights that flow therefrom, are separate and distinct from the rights which may accrue to the individual from other employment in the District. If there is any conflict between the terms of this Article and the terms of other provisions of this Agreement as they apply to the Adult School, this article shall prevail.

33.3 Agreement and Recognition

- 33.3.1 All personnel in Adult School programs shall be employed under offers of employment. These offers shall specify the duration of the employment, and shall terminate on or before June 30 of the year in which they are issued. If the duration of the offer is to extend beyond June 30, a second offer shall be issued to cover the balance of the employment period.
- 33.3.2 The term for a person hired to complete the term(s) of employment of another person shall be for the duration of the original term(s). All offers of employment shall be terminable at any time prior to expiration, but only for lack of funds, elimination or reductions of the educational offering, insufficient enrollment or attendance, unsatisfactory performance, or any of the causes listed in Education Code §44930 et. seq.
- 33.3.3 Provision of Teachers' Names and Addresses to Federation
 - 33.3.3.1 The Adult School Administration shall provide the Federation with name and number of hours assigned to all newly hired teachers. Names and number of hours for current teachers shall be provided to Federation every August.

33.4 Definitions

- 33.4.1 Throughout this Article the term "unit member(s)" are defined as those persons who are assigned for six (6) or more hours per week and shall be included within the bargaining unit and eligible to utilize the grievance procedures of Article 6.
- For purposes of the grievance procedure, "day" shall be defined by the Adult School schedule. Sections 2.3, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 2.10 and 2.11 shall be applicable from Article 2 Definitions.

- 33.4.3 "Work hour" shall mean an hour for which a unit member receives an offer of employment to render service to the District.
- 33.4.4 "Hourly rate of pay" shall mean the unit member's' salary per hour as per the Adult School salary schedule.
- 33.4.5 "A class meeting" shall mean all of the hours for which the class is scheduled on a given day.
- 33.4.6 A "day" shall be defined by the Adult School calendar.
- 33.4.7 A "temporary employee" is an employee who is assigned less than 19.2 hours per week.
- 33.4.8 A "permanent employee" is an employee who is assigned and worked at least 19.2 hours per week for two (2) complete consecutive years.
- 33.4.9 A "probationary employee" is an employee who is assigned and working at least 19.2 hours per week, but has not completed two (2) complete consecutive years.
- 33.4.10 A "tenured employee" is the same as a permanent employee.
- 33.5 Class Size. Class size shall not exceed the room occupancy/seating requirements of applicable fire codes.
 - 33.5.1 Except as indicated by tenure laws or as indicated below, Adult School unit members shall be employed on an hourly, as needed basis. For employees working and entitled to fewer than 19.2 hours whose class(es) have enrollments of twenty (20) or more the class will be continued for the duration of the term so long as the attendance does not drop lower than fifteen (15). In the event that a class is to be closed, the Adult School Principal or his designee will personally inform the instructor of the decision to close the class and the date/time of the last class meeting.
 - 33.5.2 If the class is subsequently offered pursuant to the assignment pattern in 33.15.2 and taught by the same unit member, the class must have attendance of eighteen (18) or more to be continued for the duration of the term.
 - 33.5.3 Unit members with 19.2 or more hours, whose class does not meet the minimum attendance of fifteen (15), will be assigned within the scope of their credential to a position held by the least senior employee/unit member for the number of class hours cancelled. The displaced employee/unit member shall not have bumping rights
 - 33.5.4 Classes, which do not meet the minimum class size requirements described above, may be continued at the discretion of Adult School based upon the following criteria:
 - 33.5.4.1 The class is part of a "start-up" or "venture" program.
 - 33.5.4.2 The class is part of a high school diploma program for credit.
 - 33.5.4.3 The class is fee-based and financially self-supporting.
 - 33.5.4.4 The class is legally mandated.
 - 33.5.4.5 The class is longstanding and has traditionally met a specific community

need.

- 33.5.4.6 Other classes which do not meet the above criteria may be continued by mutual agreement of Federation and Adult School.
- 33.5.5 In laboratory classes such as ABE, ALC computer lab, Adult Learning Center, the overall monthly ratio of students-to-teachers shall be maintained at fifteen-to-one (15-1).

33.6 Evaluation Procedure

- 33.6.1 The District retains sole responsibility for the evaluation and assessment of performance of each Adult School unit member, subject only to the following procedural requirements: Should an Adult School unit member believe an evaluation to be derogatory, the unit member will be given an opportunity to comment thereon as provided for by law. Accordingly, no grievance arising under this Article shall challenge the substantive objectives, standards, or criteria determined by the District, nor shall the grievance contest the judgment of the evaluator; any grievance shall be limited to a claim that the following procedures have been violated.
- 33.6.2 Evaluation of the performance of Adult School unit members shall be made, as needed, at least once every semester for probationary personnel, and at least once every other year for unit members with permanent status. Should a teacher be employed after the mid-point of the first semester of a school year, evaluation for that semester shall be at the option of the principal.
- 33.6.3 Adult School unit members with permanent status may be evaluated yearly or more often, if the District or the evaluator deems it appropriate. Reasons for evaluating permanent personnel more often than the minimum required could include but would not be limited to situations such as a new assignment; unsatisfactory previous evaluations; the assignment of a new evaluator; or a need to improve the instructional program.
- 33.6.4 Adult School unit members must comply with the standards contained in the evaluation forms, which are contained in the Adult School Appendix.
- 33.6.5 Classroom observations may be, but shall not be required to be, arranged by the evaluator and the Adult School unit member in advance of an observation.
- 33.6.6 Previous to the completion of the summary evaluation form, at least one (1) observation and conference should be held. The Evaluation Report may be presented in writing. An Adult School unit member may request a conference to discuss its conclusions.
- 33.6.7 The evaluator shall not base their evaluation on the quality of an Adult School unit member's classroom instructional program on information that is not collected through a means reasonably calculated to achieve accuracy. Negative evaluation of performance shall not be predicated upon information or material of a derogatory nature which has been received by the evaluator from sources, such as other teachers, parents, and citizens, unless the facts have been verified by the evaluator, and discussed with the unit member.
- 33.6.8 As provided for by law, an Adult School unit member shall have the right to inspect materials in their personnel file, except ratings reports and records which, (1) were obtained prior to the employment of the person involved, (2) were prepared by identifiable examination committee members, or (3) were obtained in connection

with a promotional examination. The time taken for personnel file review shall be unpaid and outside of a unit member's regularly scheduled hours.

33.7 Leaves

- 33.7.1 All other leaves in Article 11 except for Sabbatical Leave shall be granted and implemented according to the procedures in Article 11.
- 33.7.2 Part-time service leave will be granted only for tenured employees who have established a number of hours. No employee, not already entitled to benefits, may contribute toward coverage as a result of unpaid, part-time leave.
- 33.7.3 Sick Leave shall be provided unit members on the basis of one (1) hour of Sick Leave for each 18 hours worked. Sick Leave credit earned in the Adult School shall be eligible for STRS as set out in 11.7.2.6.
- 33.7.4 Personal Necessity Leave shall only be taken in a minimum of three-hour allotments or whole class allotment.
- 33.7.5 On or before December 1 and June 1 of each year, the District shall notify, in writing, Adult School teachers of the total number of hours of accumulated Sick Leave.
- 33.7.6 Three (3) days, or the hourly equivalent, of Discretionary Personal Necessity Leave will be granted for those employees who have adequate Sick Leave.

33.8 Transfer and Reassignment

- 33.8.1 Transfer is defined as a change from one adult school site to another adult school site. Voluntary transfer is defined as a transfer made at the request of a unit member. Involuntary transfer is defined as a transfer made by Adult School.
- 33.8.2 Reassignment is defined as a change in assignment within an adult school site and shall not be made arbitrarily, discriminatorily or capriciously.
- 33.8.3 A site is defined as any separate facility where classes are conducted.
- 33.8.4 Requests for voluntary transfers shall be maintained in the office of the principal and the Superintendent for no less than one (1) year. Employment opportunity postings shall consist of a job description, time and place of employment, number of hours per week and wage per hour, and deadlines for submitting applications.
- 33.8.5 A response to advertised employment opportunities is to be submitted to the Adult School office.
- 33.8.6 The Adult School management shall notify the applicant of the status of the transfer, increase in hours, increase in hours due to expansion of any program, or other employment opportunities, including positions that are new or vacant.
- 33.8.7 Transfers by the District shall be based on the following criteria: preference of the employee; length and quality of employee service in the District; experience and teaching background; affirmative action goals and needs of the District; and preference of Adult School management.
- 33.8.8 Seniority shall be determined by Adult School-wide rather than site-level seniority.
- 33.8.9 If a unit member is transferred involuntarily due to enrollment shifts and/or decline, the unit member shall be offered the first opportunity to return to the unit member's

- previous site if a subsequent vacancy develops at that site from which the employee had been involuntarily transferred.
- 33.8.10 Those to be involuntarily transferred may indicate a preference of assignment to the Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources and Adult School management.
- 33.8.11 Those to be involuntarily transferred shall, upon written request, have a written reason for the impending transfer from Adult School management and the Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources.

33.9 Salaries

- 33.9.1 Adult School assignments are based upon enrollment and attendance of voluntary students. As attendance increases or decreases, so must staff assignments. Except as otherwise indicated in this Article, salary can be reduced as assignment is reduced.
 - 33.9.1.1 The hourly rate of pay shall be set forth in the Adult School Appendix. Advancement in pay due to experience shall be contingent upon the unit member having provided service (actively working) to the District as an Adult School teacher for not less than 24 weeks during the preceding year.
 - 33.9.1.2 The District agrees to establish a longevity pay program after the completion of 15, 18, 24, 27, 30 and 33-years. An Adult School teacher who works 32 hours will be entitled to longevity pay in accordance with the current Adult Education Teacher Salary Schedule.
 - 33.9.1.3 On and off schedule adjustments shall be consistent with the remainder of the District certificated unit.
- 33.9.2 The substitute rate shall be based on the lowest rate of pay on the schedule for all new substitutes. Any existing member shall be paid their current wage for substituting.
- 33.9.3 Staff development attendance not during regular teaching assignment employee to be compensated at regular certificated in-service established rate.
 - 33.9.3.1 At the election of the unit member, compensatory time can be given for attending meetings at the rate of one (1) hour of release time for each hour attended.
 - 33.9.3.2 No more than eight (8) days or the hourly equivalent of compensatory time may be earned in an academic year.
 - 33.9.3.3 Compensatory time will be approved provided the employee gives a notice of at least one week. Approval might not be automatically granted for the day before Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, February Break, Spring Recess, and any calendared holiday weekend, depending on the needs of the site.
 - 33.9.3.4 Compensatory time must be taken in whole class units or the hourly equivalent.
 - 33.9.3.5 A teacher may elect in advance the option of taking either compensatory time or compensation, at the regular certificated inservice established rate.

33.9.3.6 Compensatory time normally should be taken no later than the semester after it is accumulated. If that is not possible, whole class units or the hourly equivalent of accumulated compensatory time must be taken by the following semester.

33.10 Fringe Benefits

- 33.10.1 Each full-time unit member (32 hours) shall be entitled to participate in health and welfare benefits as contained below. Full-time unit members will be entitled to health and welfare benefits paid by the District at the rate then contributed for 9-12. Unit members who have worked for two (2) consecutive years, 24 up to 31 hours, shall be entitled to health and welfare benefits with 75% of the costs paid for by the District. After ten (10) years of service, there will be an increase to 80% of benefits paid for all those teachers assigned no fewer than 24 hours; for 25-28 hours 90% of benefits; for 28+hours 100% of benefits will be paid.
- 33.10.2 No unit member shall earn more than one (1) full benefit from any combination of regular day school employment and Adult School employment. Qualification for benefits cannot combine hours worked between regular day school employment and adult school employment.
- 33.10.3 All unit members receiving fringe benefits may continue to receive fringe benefits for that benefit year by contributing the differential percentage that their assignment is to full-time, i.e., if the unit member were assigned 32 hours and during the benefit year was reduced to 16 hours, then the unit member could retain benefits by contributing 50% of the costs. This right is conditioned upon continuing employment with Adult School. Unit members in benefit status who experience a reduction in hours will be maintained in benefit status at their current level for the school year.
- 33.10.4 Medical Retirement. The District agrees to grandperson the current full-time Adult School employees as of 1-22-99, so that they may individually achieve eligibility for the District's retirement benefit program. Each of the current full-time employees must qualify by working no fewer than 15 years. Adult School must pre-fund the cost of eligibility for the benefits funds and transfer those amounts to the District to be placed in a special reserve fund for health benefits. "Grandperson" is intended to mean those employees who are currently full-time as specified by side letter agreement. This agreement is not intended to include any existing or future employee other than those specifically set out in the side letter.
- 33.10.5 Nothing in the agreement to grandperson existing full-time Adult School employees is intended to provide a benefit greater than those provided to existing unit members.

33.11 Workday and Work Year

- 33.11.1 The workday is to be scheduled as per the Adult School calendar. The work year shall be established by the Adult School Administration after consultation with the Federation.
 - 33.11.1.1 Calendars shall be determined for the following school year no later than May 31.
 - 33.11.1.2 It is agreed that all calendars for all Adult School programs shall be negotiated by the District and the Federation. The Adult School year shall be a minimum of 175 days, excluding summer school.

- 33.11.1.2.1 The commencement and ending dates for Adult School calendars (traditional, year-round, and alternative programs) shall be agreed upon through consultation between Adult School Administration and Federation.
- 33.11.1.3 Adult School classes may remain open during winter and spring recess periods for holding scheduled classes maintained in factories, commercial enterprises or institutions.
- 33.11.1.4 Once a calendar has been adopted for Adult School programs, it cannot be unilaterally changed except in compliance with agreement.
- 33.11.2 The teacher work assignment shall end after the end of the class.
- 33.11.3 Teachers shall be compensated for any mandatory, required meetings outside the assigned work hours.
- 33.11.4 Mileage shall be paid when an employee is required to commute between two (2) sites, without an intervening time in the schedule of two (2) or more hours.
- 33.11.5 The full-time teacher work year shall consist of 35 weeks at thirty-two (32) hours.
- 33.11.6 Full-time employees and those employees working no fewer than 75% of the hours a full-time employee works shall have the option of electing a twelve-pay installment plan. The plan shall calculate the employee's annual entitlement and divide that amount into 12 equal payments. Should it appear that the employee will not actually earn the amount estimated; the employee agrees to allow the District to recalculate the annual earnings and make the necessary adjustments either up or down so that the employee will have the final paycheck adjusted to reflect actual earnings. Should it be determined that this method of payment is a violation of wage and salary laws, the option shall terminate. Employees paid less than their actual earnings within a pay period will not be eligible for interest. The annualized pay process is specifically provided as a voluntary option for the employee.
- 33.12 Scheduling. The District agrees to make a good faith effort to notify unit members of their assignments at the earliest possible opportunity. If feasible, the District shall notify teachers of their tentative teaching schedules 15 calendar days prior to the start of each semester.
 - 33.12.1 When the District determines to cancel a previously scheduled adult education class session, the site administrator will give the affected unit member a minimum of 12-hours notice. If the minimum notice is not given, the unit member shall be paid for the class that was cancelled.
- 33.13 Working Conditions. Student aides or other clerical persons shall be available four (4) nights per week for assisting faculty in clerical duties, copying, etc. provided that sufficient funds are available as reasonably determined by Adult School Administration.
- 33.14 Layoff or Reduction of Unit Members for Lack of Funds
 - 33.14.1 In the case of current Adult School funded personnel who are not to be renewed due to lack of work or lack of funds (when more teachers have assignment rights than course offerings), the following procedures shall apply:

- 33.14.1.1 The principal or designee shall first identify the affected course(s), including closely related courses in the same subject (i.e., English 1, 2, 3 and 4).
- 33.14.1.2 The seniority of all personnel teaching the course(s) shall be reviewed.
 - a. Seniority is measured by the number of consecutive, uninterrupted years of service. Time spent on approved unpaid leaves of absence does not count as time served but does not constitute an interruption of the "consecutive" service requirement.
 - b. To qualify for a year of seniority, the individual must have satisfactorily served at least 75% of the weeks for full-time service (24 weeks).
 - c. Service in both Adult School and categorical programs shall apply.
- 33.14.1.3 The employee qualified, according to the criteria of 33.15.1.2 with the least longevity, shall be released first unless the principal reasonably determines that the person has needed instructional skills or qualifications, not possessed by an employee with greater longevity. A seniority list shall be maintained by the Adult School administration, provided to impacted employees and Federation prior to layoff pursuant to this Article. Federation shall be kept informed on the requirements for layoff during regularly scheduled consultation meetings. It is intended that any unit member who is credentialed and competent to perform continuing services will be retained, over more junior employees, even if the continued service is outside of the current assignment.
 - a. The employee shall be provided notice of layoff no less than ten (10) calendar days prior to its effective date, and an opportunity to have a hearing on the matter before the Administrator of Personnel if a hearing is demanded within five (5) days of notice.
 - b. The hearing shall give the employees the right to present evidence and provide a defense.
 - c. The Assistant Superintendent-Human Resources shall make findings of fact and render the decision of the District. Should the employee be reinstated, they shall be entitled to back pay for the hours lost.
- 33.14.1.4 Non-tenured teachers; Reduction of hours for non-tenured teachers shall be conducted in a fair and equitable manner.

33.15 Staffing

33.15.1 Prior to the beginning of a term, the Adult School Administration shall prepare a list of courses to be offered at that site by program. After preparing that list, the Adult School Administration shall make their assignment to those programs from the eligibility list of staff members currently teaching at that site. These positions need not be posted.

- 33.15.1.1 It shall be the responsibility of the Adult School Administration to identify courses, which meet the needs of the various programs offered by Adult School.
- 33.15.1.2 The Adult School Administration shall maintain eligibility lists of qualified employees composed of those employees by credential, seniority, and past assignments. "Qualified" as used in this sub-section, shall mean that the applicant has taught the same course or closely related course in the same subject, possesses the requisite credential, and possesses the needed instructional skills or qualifications as stated on the job posting. The Adult School administration shall select from among the qualified applicants to fill each position.
- 33.15.2 The first priority for assignment shall be the filling of positions by tenured staff who are guaranteed a number of hours. The second priority for assignment shall be maximizing the assignment of those tenured employees who are qualified for benefits. The third priority for assignment shall be maintaining tenured positions to no fewer than 25% of the total certificated employees in September of each school year. The fourth priority for assignment shall be enhancing the hours of those staff who have been rated satisfactory in their evaluations. The fifth priority will be filling positions from the eligibility lists maintained by site administrators.
 - 33.15.2.1 No unit member shall be entitled to, nor may they gain a right to a continuing assignment of more than full-time.
- 33.15.3 All remaining new or vacant part-time positions or courses in Adult School funded programs shall be posted at the applicable time reporting site and each division thereof by June 1 and by January 5. The posting shall identify the subject(s), number of hours per week, class schedule and time(s), certification required, any special skills and qualifications, and the deadline for applications.
 - 33.15.3.1 These vacancies shall be filled by paper screening applications based upon the priorities in 33.15.2 and interviewing no fewer than the top four (4) candidates.
- 33.15.4 Remaining unfilled positions shall be posted at the District Office and at all Adult School Sites by June 15 and January 15. To apply for such positions a person must either qualify as provided above or possess other appropriate training and experience needed for the position, possess the requisite credential, and possess the instructional skills or qualifications as stated in the job posting. The Adult School Administration shall select from among the applicants.
- 33.15.5 Positions coming available after the beginning of the term may be filled at the discretion of the Adult School Administration.
- 33.15.6 Those to be involuntarily transferred may indicate a preference of assignments to the Adult School Administration.
- 33.15.7 Those to be involuntarily transferred shall, upon written request, have a written reason for the impending transfer from Adult School Administration.
- 33.15.8 Adult School agrees to make a good faith effort to consider part-time teachers' preference in making assignments. When possible, employees will be notified of their assignment 15 calendar days before the beginning of each semester.

Employees may indicate a preference for a change of assignment by notifying the Adult School Administration in writing 45 days before the beginning of the next semester.

- 33.15.9 Staffing Summer School. In programs that feature a year-round calendar, staffing shall continue as usual. The first priority in other than year-round programs shall be the filling of positions by those current full-time and part-time employees that are assigned to those programs during the regular year.
 - 33.15.9.1 Laboratory classes during the summer school operating with a reduced number of hours will have teaching assignments divided equitably.
 - 33.15.9.2 Effective July 1, 2003, prospectively, a unit member who teaches summer school will be credited with one (1) year on the salary schedule for every six (6) summers, 36 weeks taught. Credit will be applied toward the pay schedule and not toward seniority.

33.16 Release of Personnel for Unsatisfactory Performance

- 33.16.1 Current personnel in either Adult School or categorically funded positions do not have an implied right to employment beyond their assigned term except as required by the Education Code. However, if they are not to be renewed due to dissatisfaction with the quality of their services, they shall be evaluated in accordance with the requirements of this article.
 - 33.16.1.1 Unit members released for unsatisfactory performance must have been preceded by compliance with the evaluation provisions of this article.
 - 33.16.1.2 The rights of personnel with an assignment of less than six (6) hours per week are limited to final notice.
- 33.16.2 After complying with the evaluation process, repeated student/staff complaints which have been verified and discussed and/or a noticeable decrease in attendance are reasons for reduction in teaching hours.
- 33.16.3 Teachers are responsible for the accurate, complete and timely reporting of attendance.

33.17 Consultation Rights

Federation will have consultation rights with the Adult School Administration regarding safety issues, preparation time for appropriate circumstances, and unforeseen class cancellations.

SIGNATURES

Oxnard Federation of Teachers

Oxnard Union High School District	and School Employees
Deboral Sulgado Dr. Deboron Solgodo	Pulut Cult
Roger Adams	Tim Allison
Ted Lawrence	Julie Gole
Exaren Boyd	Ed Ransom
Mt 1B	Jalo hu
Matt LaBelle	LaVada White
R6n Briggs	Rob Edison
Richard Urias	

APPENDIX A. CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE



CERTIFICATED

TEACHER | SPEECH/LANGUAGE PATHOLOGIST | SCHOOL NURSE | TEACHER LIBRARIAN SALARY SCHEDULE

07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

STEP	CLASS I BA	CLASS II BA + 30 Upper Division Semester Units	CLASS III BA + 45 Upper Division Semester Units or MA	CLASS IV BA + MA including 60 Upper Division Semester Units
2 2 2 2	PRELIMINARY	CLEAR Credential	CLEAR Credential	CLEAR Credential
	Credential	Gen. Sec, Std Sec, or	Gen. Sec., Std. Sec., or	Gen. Sec., Std. Sec., or
	or	Single Subject	Single Subject	Single Subject
	Clear CTE Credential			
1	65,199.66	65,976.23	71,856.25	77,725.19
2	65,199.66	70,347.66	76,222.03	82,093.72
3	68,844.31	74,716.18	80,582.29	86,459.57
4	73,199.06	79,081.97	84,959.21	90,830.80
5*	77,578.66	83,450.58	89,316.77	95,199.41
6	81,939.06	87,816.37	93,688.06	99,554.19
7	86,150.05	92,179.36	98,062.17	103,922.70
8	90,361.04**	96,547.99	102,425.17	108,302.30
8 9	94,572.02**	100,916.57	106,793.71	112,651.52
10	98,783.02**	105,293.40	111,151.25	117,036.71
11	102,994.00**	109,653.67	115,522.61	121,397.01

DEGREES/UNITS CREDIT: Salary credit will be granted for degrees/units relevant to your assignment. Generally excluded

are degrees in administration (Business, Public).

All units referred to above are SEMESTER units. A QUARTER unit equals 2/3 of a SEMESTER unit.

PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE CREDIT: *Highest placement for newly hired employees. Placement Exception: newly hired

Speech/Language Pathologist and Visually Impaired teacher.

CLASS I STEP MOVEMENT: **Class I/Steps 8 through 11 are reserved for non-BA holders with a Clear CTE Credential only.

THE ABOVE FIGURES ARE BASED ON A 184-DAY WORKYEAR.

LONGEVITY: Increments shall be increased by the percentage of the salary adjustment in any given school year.

\$ 897.92	Upon completion of 15 years of service
1,786.64	Upon completion of 18 years of service
2,677.20	Upon completion of 21 years of service
3,569.60	Upon completion of 24 years of service
4,454.64	Upon completion of 27 years of service
5,348.88	Upon completion of 30 years of service
6,238.81	Upon completion of 33 years of service
7,128.83	Upon completion of 36 years of service

FRINGE BENEFITS: Medical, dental, life and vision coverage for employees & dependents.

Board Approved 11.25%: TBA

APPENDIX B. PSYCHOLOGIST SALARY SCHEDULE



PSYCHOLOGIST & STUDENT WELLNESS SPECIALIST SALARY SCHEDULE

07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6
\$114,104.46	\$117,707.58	\$121,052.52	\$124,913.88	\$128,517.01	\$129,690.94

THE ABOVE FIGURES ARE BASED ON A 193-DAY WORK YEAR

LONGEVITY

\$ 939.91	Upon completion of 15 years of service
1,870.17	Upon completion of 18 years of service
2,802.36	Upon completion of 21 years of service
3,734.55	Upon completion of 24 years of service
4,660.95	Upon completion of 27 years of service
5,598.39	Upon completion of 30 years of service
6,520.42	Upon completion of 33 years of service
7,463.42	Upon completion of 36 years of service

Longevity increments shall be increased by the percentage of the salary adjustment in any given school year.

Board Approved: TBD

APPENDIX C. COUNSELOR SALARY SCHEDULE



COUNSELOR

COMPREHENSIVE | SPECIAL PRORAMS | ADULT EDUCATION

SALARY SCHEDULE

07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

STEPS	CLASS I MA or Equivalent & PRELIMINARY Credential	CLASS II MA or Equivalent + 30 Upper Division Semester Units & CLEAR Credential	CLASS III MA or Equivalent + 45 Upper Division Semester Units & CLEAR Credential	CLASS IV MA or Equivalent including 60 Upper Division Semester Units & CLEAR Credential
11	68,356.01	69,168.47	75,332.99	81,486.04
2	68,356.01	73,751.40	79,910.05	86,065.96
3	72,176.35	78,331.26	84,481.31	90,643.02
4	76,742.36	82,908.36	89,069.95	95,129.14
5*	81,333.48	87,488.25	93,638.35	99,805.71
6	85,903.63	92,065.35	98,221.17	104,371.23
7	90,318.82	96,680.76	102,806.95	108,951.19
8		101,219.44	107,381.01	113,542.71
9		105,799.38	111,961.02	118,102.41
10		110,388.02	116,529,35	122,699.64
11		114,959.25	121,112.20	127,270.95

THE ABOVE FIGURES ARE BASED ON A 193-DAY WORK YEAR

PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE CREDIT

LONGEVITY

\$ 939.91	Upon completion of 15 years of service
1,870.17	Upon completion of 18 years of service
2,802.36	Upon completion of 21 years of service
3,734.55	Upon completion of 24 years of service
4,660.95	Upon completion of 27 years of service
5,598.39	Upon completion of 30 years of service
6,520.42	Upon completion of 33 years of service
7,463.42	Upon completion of 36 years of service

Longevity increments shall be increased by the percentage of the salary adjustment in any given school year.

Board Approved 11.25%: TBA

^{*}Highest placement for newly hired employees.

APPENDIX D. EXTRA DUTY PAY ASSIGNMENTS



Head Varsity Jr. Varsity

EXTRA DUTY PAY 07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

CLASSIFICATION LEVELS **BOYS ATHLETIC COACHING** GIRLS ATHLETIC COACHING BASEBALL Activities Director SOFTBALL 1 Athletics Director Head Varsity Head Varsity Jr. Varsity Jr. Varsity Concert Band 3 3 Freshman 3 Freshmar 3 Marching Band BASKETBALL BASKETBALL JAZZ ENSEMBLE Head Varsity Head Varsity Jr. Varsity Jr. Varsity 2 2 Marching Band Assistant 2 Frosh/Soph 3 Frosh/Soph 3 Winter Percussion REACH VOLLEYBALL REACH VOLLEYBALL Yearbook 2 2 2 Head Varsity Head Varsity CROSS COUNTRY CROSS COUNTRY Academic Decathlon 3 Head Varsity Band Auxiliary Head Varsity Assistant 3 Assistant Competitive Dance 3 3 FOOTBALL FLAG FOOTBALL Team Head Varsity Head Varsity Drama Assistant Varsity 2 Assistant Varsity 2 Drill Team 3 Head Jr. Varsity 2 CHEER Mock Trial 3 Assistant Jr. Varsity 3 Sideline Varsity Newspaper Head Frosh/Soph 2 Sideline Jr. Varsity 3 Competitive Stunt Varsity Assistant Frosh/Sop 3 Robotics Comp Team GOLE GOLE Science Fair Advisor 3 Head Varsity Head Varsity Vocal Music 3 SOCCER SOCCER Head Varsity Head Varsity AVID Coordinator*** Jr. Varsity Jr. Varsity Career Tech Student Org Advisor Freshman 3 Freshman 3 SWIMMING SWIMMING Forensios Head Varsity Head Varsity Geography Bowl Assistant Varsity 3 Assistant 3 Knowledge Bowl TENNIS TENNIS PBIS Coach*** Head Varsity Head Varsity School News TRACK & FIELD TRACK & FIELD Broadcast Advisor Head Varsity Head Varsity Tech Coach*** Assistant Varsity Assistant Varsity Head Jr. Varsity 2 Head Jr. Varsity 2 VOLLEYBALL VOLLEYBALL Head Varsity Head Varsity Jr. Varsity Jr. Varsity 3 Freshman 3 Freshman 3 WATER POLO WATER POLO Head Varsity Head Varsity Assistant Varsity 3 Assistant Varsity 3 WRESTLING WRESTLING

- . Head varsity coaches who are certificated employees of the District and are not assigned an advanced PE course in their sport as part of their regular
- assignment, shall have their coaching stipend increased by 50% if assigned 30 or more students & 30% if assigned less than 30 students Head Athletic Coaches shall be paid \$300 and Assistant Coaches \$150 for post-season CIF playoff competition. Any music program director or cheer team head coach who chaperones their program to perform at post-season CIF playoff competitions shall be entitled to this payment
- . Any Boys or Girls Track & Field or Boys or Girls Swim program with more than 100 enrolled athletes across all levels shall be given an additional Level 3 stipend for an additional assistant.
- At each level, coaches shall have a \$150 pay increase to the stipend at years 15, 20, 25, and 30.
- Mock Trial and Academic Decathlon Coaches shall be paid \$150 for advancing above County level.
 Positions in addition to those designated must be authorized by the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources. Extra Duty Pay must be from an outside source and will not come from Unit Share. The District shall give Unit Members first consideration, i.e., a good faith effort, for any off-schedule assignment position paid for by Unit Share, unless Member is not qualified.
- School News Broadcast Advisor must meet the requirement of three (3) broadcasts weekly to qualify for a stipend.

Head Varsity

Jr. Varsity

*** These positions will be paid for through LCFF Supplemental Concentration funds to the extent possible.

PAY STEP	BASE SALARY CLASS I	LEVEL 1 8.25%	LEVEL 2 6.75%	LEVEL 3 5.5%	LEVEL 4 4.0%	LEVEL 5 2.5%
1	65,199.66	5,378.97	4,400.98	3,585.98	2,607.99	1,629.99
2	65,199.66	5,378.97	4,400.98	3,585.98	2,607.99	1,629.99
3	68,844.31	5,679.66	4,646.99	3,786.44	2,753.77	1,721.11
4	73,199.06	6,038.92	4,940.94	4,025.95	2,927,96	1,829.98
5	77,578.66	6,400.24	5,236.56	4,266.83	3,103.15	1,939.47
6	81,939.06	6,759.97	5,530.89	4,506.65	3,277.56	2,048.48
7	86,150.05	7,107.38	5,815.13	4,738.25	3,446.00	2,153.75
8	90,361.04	7,454.79	6,099.37	4,969.86	3,614.44	2,259.03
9	94,572.02	7,802.19	6,383.61	5,201.46	3,782.88	2,364.30
10	98,783.02	8,149.60	6,667.85	5,433.07	3,951.32	2,469.58
11	102,994.00	8,497.01	6,952.10	5,664.67	4,119.76	2,574.85

- Head Coaches Receives Step 1 at the Appropriate Level (Article 21 Certificated Contract)
- Cheer coaches would only be eligible if team competes in CIF competitions.
- Refer to Extra Duty Classification Levels (Article 21.2.2 Certificated Contract)
 Walk on head coaches shall be placed on step 1 of the appropriate level of their sport and shall not advance in step. Board Approved: 05/25/22; Board Approved 11.25%: TBA

APPENDIX E. EXTRA HELP & HOURLY RATES



EXTRA HELP & HOURLY RATES 07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

CERTIFICATED STAFF HOURLY RATES	*
Extra Duty Student Contact	\$ 50.41 \$ 28.34 acher Per Period Rate)
contractor. CERTIFICATED STAFF STIPENDS	
BCLAD Authorization PAR Panel Site Content Lead* Webmaster*	\$ 1,500.00 \$ 500.00
DEPARTMENT CHAIR STIPENDS (Must have 6 sections to a	qualify for a stipend)
Guidance DC (Condor, FHS, OMCHS RCHS) Guidance DCs Department Chair [Department with 6-9 sections] Department Chair [Department with 10 to 24 Sections] Department Chair [Department with 25 to 49 Sections] Department Chair [50 or more sections]	\$3,193.58 \$1,517.39 \$2,395.78 \$3,193.58
ADVANCED DEGREE STIPENDS (From an accredited co	ollege or university)
Doctoral Earned Degree	
MILEAGE AND MEAL PEIARLIPSEMENT	re

MILEAGE AND MEAL REIMBURSEMENTS

- An employee who is authorized and directed in writing by the District to travel in their automobile on official
 District business shall be reimbursed for said travel at the rate established by the Board of Trustees.
- An employee who is authorized and directed in writing by the District to travel on official District business or who
 is required to have meals away from the District shall be reimbursed for said meals at the rate established by the
 Board of Trustees.

Board Approved: TBA

^{*}These positions will be paid for through LCFF Supplemental Concentration funds to the extent available.



JUNIOR RESERVE OFFICERS' TRAINING CORPS [JROTC] SALARY SCHEDULE 07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

<u>Step</u>	Salary
1	\$ 65,199.66
2	66,153.81
3	68,799.97
4	71,551.97
5	74,414.05
6	77,390.60
7	80,486.22
8	83,705.68
9	87,053.88
10	90,536.05
11	94,157.51
12	97,923.80
13	101,840.75
14	105,914.38
15	110,150.96
16	114,556.98
17	121,397.01

Initial placement on salary schedule will be determined by the salary step that is the same amount or slightly higher than the JROTC minimum instructor pay of the instructor.

THE ABOVE FIGURES ARE BASED ON A 184-DAY WORKYEAR

LONGEVITY

	LONGEVIII
\$ 897.92	Upon completion of 15 years of service
1,786.64	Upon completion of 18 years of service
2,677.20	Upon completion of 21 years of service
3,569.60	Upon completion of 24 years of service
4,454.64	Upon completion of 27 years of service
5,348.88	Upon completion of 30 years of service
6,238.81	Upon completion of 33 years of service
7,128.83	Upon completion of 36 years of service

Longevity increments shall be increased by the percentage of the salary adjustment in any given school year.

FRINGE BENEFITS

Medical, dental, life and vision coverage for employees & dependents.

Board Approved: TBA

APPENDIX G. ADULT EDUCATION TEACHER SALARY SCHEDULE



ADULT EDUCATION TEACHER SALARY SCHEDULE 07/01/22-06/30/23 SCHOOL YEAR

STEP	YEARS	CLASS I BA	CLASS II 45 Upper Division Semester Units or MA
10	1	\$ 53.27	\$ 55.94
1/2	2	53.27	55.94
	3	55.57	58.34
2	4	55.57	58.34
	5	55,57	58.34
	6	58.04	60.92
3	7	58.04	60.92
	8	58.04	60.92
	9	60.60	63.61
4	10	60.60	63.61
	11	60.60	63.61
5	12 or more years	63.03	66.23

SUBSTITUTE HOURLY RATE OF PAY

\$ 32.70 (Effective for work as of 01/01/23)

LONGEVITY

Adult School teachers will be paid at the following intervals upon completion of 15, 18, 24, 27, 30, 33 and 36 years.

Hours Worked	Amount
32 Hours	\$778.26
22 Hours and above but less than 32 hours	\$648.55
12 Hours and above but less than 22 hours	\$518.84
6 Hours and above but less than 12 hours	\$389.12

Board Approved: TBA

APPENDIX H. UNIT SHARE FTE

		Class Size	Caseload	Included in U/S	Excluded from U/S
16.6.1 16.6.2 16.6.3	GE FTE	30:1/38/175		yes	Above Ratio
16.6.7	Counselors		475:1	yes	Above Ratio
16.6.1.1	ALT Ed	24:1		yes	Above Ratio
8.7 16.6.4	SPED M/M		28:1	yes	
	SPED M/M AUT		12:1	yes	
	SPED M/S SDC		18:1	yes	
	SPED M/S SH		12:1	yes	
	SPED M/M ED		12:1	yes	
	SPED M/S AUT		10:1	yes	
	SPED A-PE	12:1			
16.6.7.1	SPED Psych			9	4
16.6.7.2	SPED SLP		55:1	9	4.6
	SPED Behavior Spc			0	2
	SPED DC Release			2	0
	SPED Program Spc			0	5
	Categorical Counselors			0	Title One - 7
	CTE Extra Teaching			0	9
	ES Program Specialists			0	3
	FROSH Counselors			0	4
	Intervention Counselors (9)			0	AB 86 - 9
	Instructional Spc (6)			0	6
	LIT Coach site (8)			0	8
	SLIFE ELD (2)			0	2
	Nurses (10)			4	6
	OFTSE Release (1)			1	0

		Class Size	Caseload	Included in U/S	Excluded from U/S
	Stu Wellness Spc (17)			0	17
	Teacher Librarians (7)			4	3
	Department Chair Stipends	yes			
	Unassigned Vacancies	yes			
	Potential Class Changes	yes			
16.1.5 16.4.1	Total Non/US FTE		97.6 LCAP 9 AB 86 7 T1		97.6 LCAP FTE 9 AB 86 FTE 7 Title 1 FTE

APPENDIX I. UNIT SHARE LIFE CYCLE

2023-2024 Unit Share	Date	Budget Estimate	CBEDS	ADA	Holding Power
CBEDS	October 31, 2022				
Governor's Budget Release	January 15, 2023				
Unit Share Estimate #1* *Initial Staffing Projection *Initial Enrollment Projection	April 15, 2023	FCMAT Calculator updated with GBR	October 2022 CBEDS	March 2023 P2 ADA* *Current year; Prior year; Three year rolling average	March 2023 Holding Power
Governor's Budget May Revise	May 15, 2023				
Unit Share Estimate #2* *First staffing adjustment *First enrollment adjustment	June 1, 2023	FCMAT Calculator updated with GMR	October 2022 CBEDS	March 2023 P2 ADA* *Current year; Prior year Three year rolling average	March 2023 Holding Power
State of California Adopted Budget	June 30, 2023				
Unit Share Estimate #3* *Second staffing adjustment *Second enrollment adjustment	August 1, 2023	FCMAT Calculator updated with CASAB	October 2022 CBEDS	March 2023 P2 ADA* *Current year; Prior year Three year rolling average	March 2023 Holding Power
State of California Budget Trailer Bill	TBD/TBA				
Final Unit Share *Final staffing adjustment *Final enrollment adjustment	October 31, 2023	FCMAT Calculator updated with CABTB	October 2022 CBEDS	March 2023 P2 ADA* Current year; Prior year Three year rolling average	March 2023 Holding Power

2024-2025 Unit Share	Date	Budget Estimate	CBEDS	ADA	Holding Power
CBEDS	October 31, 2023				
Governor's Budget Release	January 15, 2024				
Unit Share Estimate #1* *Initial Staffing Projection *Initial Enrollment Projection	April 15, 2024	FCMAT Calculator updated with GBR	October 2023 CBEDS	March 2024 P2 ADA* *Current year; Prior year; Three year rolling average	March 2024 Holding Power
Governor's Budget May Revise	May 15, 2024				
Unit Share Estimate #2* *First staffing adjustment *First enrollment adjustment	June 1, 2024	FCMAT Calculator updated with GMR	October 2023 CBEDS	March 2024 P2 ADA* *Current year; Prior year Three year rolling average	March 2024 Holding Power
State of California Adopted Budget	June 30, 2024				
Unit Share Estimate #3* *Second staffing adjustment *Second enrollment adjustment	August 1, 2024	FCMAT Calculator updated with CASAB	October 2023 CBEDS	March 2024 P2 ADA* *Current year; Prior year Three year rolling average	March 2024 Holding Power
State of California Budget Trailer Bill	September 1, 2024				
Final Unit Share *Final staffing adjustment *Final enrollment adjustment	October 31, 2024	FCMAT Calculator updated with CABTB	October 2023 CBEDS	March 2024 P2 ADA* Current year; Prior year Three year rolling average	March 2024 Holding Power

APPENDIX J. 12 HOUR SERVICE TO STUDENTS

Learning Recovery Block Grant - Allowable Activities

В	С	D	E
Saturday School	Wellness Activities	Oxnard Online Credit Recovery	IEP development & assessments
Tutoring – minimum number of students served; no empty rooms	Intramural Sports after school	Oxnard Online Acceleration	Grade 8 orientation and on-ramp activities
ELD student mentoring	Counseling Groups	Advanced Placement/IB 'Boot Camp'	FHS/CHS orientation days
Re-Teach Re-Learn Re-Take	1:1 Counseling	Inclusive Title Book Clubs	Lesson Study
At Promise student mentoring	Wellness Groups		FAFSA
Grade 9 Extended Day Programming			
	Saturday School Tutoring – minimum number of students served; no empty rooms ELD student mentoring Re-Teach Re-Learn Re-Take At Promise student mentoring Grade 9 Extended Day	Saturday School Wellness Activities Tutoring – minimum Intramural Sports served; no empty rooms ELD student mentoring Re-Teach Re-Learn Re-Take At Promise student mentoring Grade 9 Extended Day Wellness Activities Intramural Sports Groups Intramural Sports Forum after school Counseling Groups Wellness Groups	Saturday School Wellness Activities Oxnard Online Credit Recovery Intramural Sports Served; no empty rooms Counseling Groups Advanced Placement/IB 'Boot Camp' Re-Teach Re-Learn Re-Take At Promise student mentoring Wellness Groups Wellness Groups Grade 9 Extended Day

The above activities do not represent the entire scope of possible activities. Certificated unit members can work with their administrator on appropriate activities that would be acceptable under the Learning Recovery Block Grant requirements.